Weierstraß-Institut für Angewandte Analysis und Stochastik

Leibniz-Institut im Forschungsverbund Berlin e. V.

Preprint

ISSN 2198-5855

Fractional elliptic problems with critical growth in the whole of \mathbf{R}^n

Serena Dipierro,¹ María Medina,² Enrico Valdinoci³

submitted: June 16, 2015

¹ Maxwell Institute for Mathematical Sciences and School of Mathematics University of Edinburgh James Clerk Maxwell Building King's Buildings Edinburgh EH9 3JZ United Kingdom E-Mail: serena.dipierro@ed.ac.uk ² Departamento de Matematicas Universidad Autonoma de Madrid 28049, Madrid Spain E-Mail: maria.medina@uam.es

 ³ Weierstrass Institute Mohrenstr. 39
 10117 Berlin Germany
 E-Mail: Enrico.Valdinoci@wias-berlin.de

> No. 2118 Berlin 2015



2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 35A15, 35B40, 35D30, 35J20, 35R11, 49N60.

Key words and phrases. Fractional equation, critical problem, concentration-compactness principle, Mountain Pass Theorem.

The first author has been supported by EPSRC grant EP/K024566/1 "Monotonicity formula methods for nonlinear PDEs". The second author has been supported by projects MTM2010-18128 and MTM2013-40846-P, MINECO, Spain. The third author has been supported by ERC grant 277749 EPSILON "Elliptic Pde's and Symmetry of Interfaces and Layers for Odd Nonlinearities".

Edited by Weierstraß-Institut für Angewandte Analysis und Stochastik (WIAS) Leibniz-Institut im Forschungsverbund Berlin e. V. Mohrenstraße 39 10117 Berlin Germany

Fax:+493020372-303E-Mail:preprint@wias-berlin.deWorld Wide Web:http://www.wias-berlin.de/

Contents

Abstract	3
Chapter 1. Introduction	5
1.1. Fractional critical problems	5
1.2. An extended problem and statement of the main results	8
Chapter 2. Functional analytical setting	15
2.1. Weighted Sobolev embeddings	15
2.2. A Concentration-Compactness Principle	20
Chapter 3. Existence of a minimal solution and proof of Theorem 1.2.2	25
3.1. Some convergence results in view of Theorem 1.2.2	25
3.2. Palais-Smale condition for $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$	27
3.3. Proof of Theorem 1.2.2	46
Chapter 4. Regularity and positivity of the solution	49
4.1. A regularity result	49
4.2. A strong maximum principle and positivity of the solutions	53
Chapter 5. Existence of a mountain pass solution and proof of Theorem 1.2.4	55
5.1. Existence of a local minimum for $\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}$	55
5.2. Some preliminary lemmata towards the proof of Theorem 1.2.4	56
5.3. Some convergence results in view of Theorem 1.2.4	61
5.4. Palais-Smale condition for $\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}$	66
5.5. Bound on the minimax value	105
5.6. Proof of Theorem 1.2.4	117
Bibliography	119

Abstract

We study the following nonlinear and nonlocal elliptic equation in \mathbb{R}^n

 $(-\Delta)^s u = \varepsilon h u^q + u^p \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n,$

where $s \in (0, 1)$, n > 2s, $\varepsilon > 0$ is a small parameter, $p = \frac{n+2s}{n-2s}$, $q \in (0, 1)$, and $h \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The problem has a variational structure, and this allows us to find a positive solution by looking at critical points of a suitable energy functional. In particular, in this paper, we find a local minimum and a mountain pass solution of this functional. One of the crucial ingredient is a Concentration-Compactness principle.

Some difficulties arise from the nonlocal structure of the problem and from the fact that we deal with an equation in the whole of \mathbb{R}^n (and this causes lack of compactness of some embeddings). We overcome these difficulties by looking at an equivalent extended problem.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1. Fractional critical problems

A classical topic in nonlinear analysis is the study of the existence and multiplicity of solutions for nonlinear equations. Typically, the equations under consideration possess some kind of ellipticity, which translates into additional regularity and compactness properties at a functional level.

In this framework, an important distinction arises between "subcritical" problems and "critical" ones. Namely, in subcritical problems the exponent of the nonlinearity is smaller than the Sobolev exponent, and this gives that any reasonable bound on the Sobolev seminorm implies convergence in some L^p -spaces: for instance, minimizing sequences, or Palais-Smale sequences, usually possess naturally a uniform bound in the Sobolev seminorm, and this endows the subcritical problems with additional compactness properties that lead to existence results via purely functional analytic methods.

The situation of critical problems is different, since in this case the exponent of the nonlinearity coincides with the Sobolev exponent and therefore no additional L^p -convergence may be obtained only from bounds in Sobolev spaces. As a matter of fact, many critical problems do not possess any solution. Nevertheless, as discovered in [12], critical problems do possess solutions once suitable lower order perturbations are taken into account. Roughly speaking, these perturbations are capable to modify the geometry of the energy functional associated to the problem, avoiding the critical points to "drift towards infinity", at least at some appropriate energy level. Of course, to make such argument work, a careful analysis of the variational structure of the problem is in order, joint with an appropriate use of topological methods that detect the existence of the critical points of the functional via its geometric features.

Recently, a great attention has also been devoted to problems driven by nonlocal operators. In this case, the "classical" ellipticity (usually modeled by the Laplace operator) is replaced by a "long range, ferromagnetic interaction", which penalizes the oscillation of the function (roughly speaking, the function is seen as a state parameter, whose value at a given point of the space influences the values at all the other points, in order to avoid sharp fluctuations). The ellipticity condition in this cases reduces to the validity

1. INTRODUCTION

of some sort of maximum principle, and the prototype nonlocal operators studied in the literature are the fractional powers of the Laplacian.

In this paper we deal with the problem

(1.1.1)
$$(-\Delta)^s u = \varepsilon h u^q + u^p \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where $s \in (0, 1)$ and $(-\Delta)^s$ is the so-called fractional Laplacian, that is

(1.1.2)
$$(-\Delta)^{s} u(x) = c_{n,s} PV \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{u(x) - u(y)}{|x - y|^{n + 2s}} dy \text{ for } x \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

where $c_{n,s}$ is a suitable positive constant (see [21, 37] for the definition and the basic properties). Moreover, n > 2s, $\varepsilon > 0$ is a small parameter, 0 < q < 1, $p = \frac{n+2s}{n-2s}$ is the fractional critical Sobolev exponent, and hsatisfies

(1.1.3)
$$h \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

(1.1.4) and there exists a ball
$$B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$$
 such that $\inf_B h > 0$.

Notice that condition (1.1.3) implies that

(1.1.5)
$$h \in L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$$
 for any $r \in (1, +\infty)$.

In the classical case, that is when s = 1 and the fractional Laplacian boils down to the classical Laplacian, there is an intense literature regarding this type of problems, see [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 12, 17, 18, 20, 30, 31], and references therein. See also [26], where the concave term appears for the first time.

In a nonlocal setting, in [8] the authors deal with problem (1.1.1) in a bounded domain with Dirichlet boundary condition. Problems related to ours have also been studied in [33, 34, 36].

Furthermore, in [22], we find solutions to (1.1.1) by considering the equation as a perturbation of the problem with the fractional critical Sobolev exponent, that is

$$(-\Delta)^s u = u^{\frac{n+2s}{n-2s}} \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Indeed, it is known that the minimizers of the Sobolev embedding in \mathbb{R}^n are unique, up to translations and positive dilations, and non-degenerate (see [22] and references therein). In particular, in [22] we used perturbation methods and Lyapunov-Schmidt reduction to find solutions to (1.1.1) that bifurcate from these minimizers. The explicit form of the fractional Sobolev minimizers was found in [19] and it is given by

(1.1.6)
$$z(x) := \frac{c_{\star}}{\left(1 + |x|^2\right)^{\frac{n-2s}{2}}},$$

for a suitable $c_{\star} > 0$, depending on n and s.

In order to state our main results, we introduce some notation. We set

$$[u]_{\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} := c_{n,s} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n + 2s}} \, dx \, dy,$$

and we define the space $\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ as the completion of the space of smooth and rapidly decreasing functions (the so-called Schwartz space) with respect to the norm $[u]_{\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + ||u||_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$, where

$$2_s^* = \frac{2n}{n-2s}$$

is the fractional critical exponent. Notice that we can also define $\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ as the space of measurable functions $u: \mathbb{R}^{n} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that the norm $[u]_{\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} +$ $\|u\|_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$ is finite, thanks to a density result, see e.g. [23].

Given $f \in L^{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\beta := \frac{2n}{n+2s}$, we say that $u \in \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a (weak) solution to $(-\Delta)^s u = f$ in \mathbb{R}^n if

$$c_{n,s} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{\left(u(x) - u(y)\right) \left(\varphi(x) - \varphi(y)\right)}{|x - y|^{n + 2s}} \, dx \, dy = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f \, \varphi \, dx,$$

for any $\varphi \in \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Thus, we can state the following

THEOREM 1.1.1. Let 0 < q < 1. Suppose that h satisfies (1.1.3) and (1.1.4). Then there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ problem (1.1.1) has at least two nonnegative solutions. Furthermore, if $h \ge 0$ then the solutions are strictly positive.

This result can be seen as the nonlocal counterpart of Theorem 1.3 in [3]. To prove it we will take advantage of the variational structure of the problem. The idea is first to "localize" the problem, via the extension introduced in [16] and consider a functional in the extended variables. More precisely, this extended functional will be introduced in the forthcoming formula (1.2.10). It turns out that the existence of critical points of the "extended" functional implies the existence of critical points for the functional on the trace, that is related to problem (1.1.1). The functional in the original variables will be introduced in (1.2.2), see Section 1.2 for the precise framework.

The proof of Theorem 1.1.1 is divided in two parts. More precisely, in the first part we obtain the existence of the first solution, that turns out to be a minimum for the extended functional introduced in the forthcoming Section 1.2. Then in the second part we will find a mountain pass solution, by applying the Mountain Pass Theorem introduced in [7].

Notice that in [22] we have proved that if h changes sign then there exist two distinct solutions of (1.1.1) that bifurcate from a non trivial critical manifold. Here we also show that there exists a third solution that bifurcates from u = 0. This means that when h changes sign, problem (1.1.1) admits at least three different solutions.

Let us point out that, when h changes sign, the solution $u_{1,\varepsilon}$ found in [22] can possibly coincide with the mountain pass solution that we construct in this paper. One additional information produced by Theorem 1.1.1 is that

1. INTRODUCTION

this solution is of mountain pass type. It would be an interesting open problem to investigate on the Morse index of the solutions found.

So the main point is to show that the extended functional satisfies a compactness property. In particular, for the existence of the minimum, we will prove that a Palais-Smale condition holds true below a certain level, see Proposition 3.2.1. Then the existence of the minimum will be ensured by the fact that the critical level lies below this threshold.

In order to show the Palais-Smale condition we will use a version of the Concentration-Compactness Principle, see Section 2.2, and for this we will borrow some ideas from [28, 29]. Differently from [8], here we are dealing with a problem in the whole of \mathbb{R}^n , therefore, in order to apply the Concentration-Compactness Principle, we also need to show a tightness property (see Definition 2.2.1). Of course, fractional problems may, in principle, complicate the tightness issues, since the nonlocal interaction could produce (or send) additional mass from (or to) infinity.

As customary in many fractional problems, see [16], we will work in an extended space, which reduce the fractional operator to a local (but possibly singular and degenerate) one, confining the nonlocal feature to a boundary reaction problem. This functional simplification (in terms of nonlocality) creates additional difficulties coming from the fact that the extended functional is not homogeneous. Hence, we will have to deal with weighted Sobolev spaces, and so we have to prove some weighted embedding to obtain some convergences needed throughout the paper, see Section 2.1.

A further source of difficulty is that the exponent q in (1.1.1) is below 1, hence the associated energy is not convex and not smooth.

In the forthcoming Section 1.2 we present the variational setting of the problem, both in the original and in the extended variables, and we state the main results of this paper. In particular, we first introduce the material that we are going to use in order to construct the first solution, that is the minimum solution. Then, starting from this minimum, we introduce a translated functional, that we will exploit to obtain the existence of the mountain pass solution.

1.2. An extended problem and statement of the main results

In this section we introduce the variational setting of the problem, we present a related extended problem, and we state the main results of this paper.

Since we are looking for positive solutions, we will consider the following problem:

(1.2.1)
$$(-\Delta)^s u = \varepsilon h u_+^q + u_+^p \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Hence, we say that $u \in \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ is a (weak) solution to (1.2.1) if for every $v \in \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ we have

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{(u(x) - u(y))(v(x) - v(y))}{|x - y|^{n + 2s}} \, dx \, dy = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) u_+^q(x) v(x) \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u_+^p(x) \, dx +$$

It turns out that if u is a solution to (1.2.1), then it is nonnegative in \mathbb{R}^n (see the forthcoming Proposition 1.2.3, and also Section 4.2 for the discussion about the positivity of the solutions). Therefore, u is also a solution of (1.1.1).

Notice that problem 1.2.1 has a variational structure. Namely, solutions to (1.2.1) can be found as critical points of the functional $f_{\varepsilon} : \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

(1.2.2)
$$f_{\varepsilon}(u) := \frac{c_{n,s}}{2} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{|u(x) - u(y)|^2}{|x - y|^{n+2s}} \, dx \, dy \\ - \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \, u_+^{q+1}(x) \, dx - \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u_+^{p+1}(x) \, dx.$$

However, instead of working with this framework derived from Definition 1.1.2 of the Laplacian, we will consider the extended operator given by [16], that allows us to transform a nonlocal problem into a local one by adding one variable.

For this, we will denote by $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ := \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, +\infty)$. Also, for a point $X \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$, we will use the notation X = (x, y), with $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and y > 0.

Moreover, for $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r > 0, we will denote by $B_r(x)$ the ball in \mathbb{R}^n centered at x with radius r, i.e.

$$B_r(x) := \{ x' \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x - x'| < r \},\$$

and, for $X \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ and r > 0, $B^+_r(X)$ will be the ball in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ centered at X with radius r, that is

$$B_r^+(X) := \{ X' \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ : |X - X'| < r \}.$$

Now, given a function $u:\mathbb{R}^n\to\mathbb{R},$ we associate a function U defined in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ as

(1.2.3)
$$U(\cdot, z) = u * P_s(\cdot, z),$$
 where $P_s(x, z) := c_{n,s} \frac{z^{2s}}{(|x|^2 + z^2)^{(n+2s)/2}}.$

Here $c_{n,s}$ is a normalizing constant depending on n and s.

Set also a := 1 - 2s, and

(1.2.4)
$$[U]_a^* := \left(\kappa_s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX\right)^{1/2} ,$$

where κ_s is a normalization constant. We define the spaces

$$\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}) := \overline{C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})}^{[\cdot]_a^*},$$

1. INTRODUCTION

and

(1.2.5)
$$\dot{H}_{a}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}) := \{ U := \tilde{U}|_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} \text{ s.t. } \tilde{U} \in \dot{H}_{a}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}), \\ \tilde{U}(x,y) = \tilde{U}(x,-y) \text{ a.e. in } \mathbb{R}^{n} \times \mathbb{R} \},$$

endowed with the norm

$$[U]_a := \left(\kappa_s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX\right)^{1/2}.$$

From now on, for simplicity, we will neglect the dimensional constants $c_{n,s}$ and κ_s . It is known that finding a solution $u \in \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to a problem

$$(-\Delta)^s u = f(u) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n$$

is equivalent to find $U\in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ that solves the local problem

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div}(y^a \nabla U) = 0 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, \\ -\lim_{y \to 0^+} y^a \frac{\partial U}{\partial \nu} = f(u). \end{cases}$$

and that this extension is an isometry between $\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and $\dot{H}^{s}_{a}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$ (again up to constants), that is,

(1.2.6)
$$[U]_a = [u]_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)},$$

where we make the identification u(x) = U(x, 0), with U(x, 0) understood in the sense of traces (see e.g. [16] and [13]).

Also, we recall that the Sobolev embedding in $\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ gives that

$$S \|u\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \leq [u]_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2,$$

where S is the usual constant of the Sobolev embedding of $\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, see for instance Theorem 6.5 in [21]. As a consequence of this and (1.2.6) we have the following result.

PROPOSITION 1.2.1 (Trace inequality). Let $U \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Then,

(1.2.7)
$$S \|U(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \leq [U]_a^2$$

Therefore, we can reformulate problem (1.2.1) as

(1.2.8)
$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div}(y^a \nabla U) = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, \\ -\lim_{y \to 0^+} y^a \frac{\partial U}{\partial \nu} = \varepsilon h u^q_+ + u^p_+. \end{cases}$$

In particular, we will say that $U \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ is a (weak) solution of problem (1.2.8) if

(1.2.9)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U, \nabla \varphi \rangle \, dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\varepsilon h(x) U^q_+(x,0) + U^p_+(x,0) \right) \varphi(x,0) \, dx,$$

10

1.2. AN EXTENDED PROBLEM AND STATEMENT OF THE MAIN RESULTS 11

for every $\varphi \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Likewise, the associated energy functional to the problem (1.2.8) is

(1.2.10)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U) &:= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U|^{2} \, dX - \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{+}^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

Notice that for any $U, V \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ we have

(1.2.11)
$$\langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U), V \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} y^a \langle \nabla U, \nabla V \rangle \, dX \\ - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U^q_+(x,0) \, V(x,0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U^p_+(x,0) \, V(x,0) \, dx.$$

Hence, if U is a critical point of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$, then it is a weak solution of (1.2.8), according to (1.2.9). Therefore $u := U(\cdot, 0)$ is a solution to (1.2.1).

Moreover, if U is a minimum of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$, then u(x) := U(x, 0) is a minimum of f_{ε} , thanks to (1.2.6), and so u is a solution to problem (1.2.1).

In this setting, we can prove the existence of a first solution of problem (1.2.8), and consequently of problem (1.2.1).

THEOREM 1.2.2. Let 0 < q < 1 and suppose that h satisfies (1.1.3) and (1.1.4). Then, there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$ has a local minimum $U_{\varepsilon} \neq 0$, for any $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$. Moreover, $U_{\varepsilon} \to 0$ in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ when $\varepsilon \to 0$.

We now set $u_{\varepsilon} := U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, 0)$, where U_{ε} is the local minimum of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$ found in Theorem 1.2.2. Then, according to (1.2.6), u_{ε} is a local minimum for $\{\varepsilon,$ and so a solution to (1.2.1).

Notice that, again by (1.2.6),

$$[u_{\varepsilon}]_{\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = [U_{\varepsilon}]_{a} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$

In this sense, the solution u_{ε} obtained by minimizing the functional bifurcates from the solution u = 0.

Furthermore, u_{ε} is nonnegative, and thus u_{ε} is a true solution of (1.1.1). Indeed, we can prove the following:

PROPOSITION 1.2.3. Let $u \in \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ be a nontrivial solution of (1.2.1) and let U be its extension, according to (1.2.3). Then, $u \ge 0$ and U > 0.

PROOF. We set $u_{-}(x) := -\min\{u(x), 0\}$, namely u_{-} is the negative part of u, and we claim that

$$(1.2.12) u_{-} = 0.$$

For this, we multiply (1.2.1) by u_{-} and we integrate over \mathbb{R}^{n} : we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (-\Delta)^s u \, u_- \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\varepsilon h(x) u_+^q + u_+^p \right) u_- \, dx = 0.$$

1. INTRODUCTION

Hence, by an integration by parts we get

(1.2.13)
$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{(u(x) - u(y))(u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y))}{|x - y|^{n + 2s}} \, dx \, dy = 0.$$

Now, we observe that

(1.2.14)
$$(u(x) - u(y))(u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y)) \ge |u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y)|^{2}.$$

Indeed, if both $u(x) \ge 0$ and $u(y) \ge 0$ and if both $u(x) \le 0$ and $u(y) \le 0$ then the claim trivially follows. Therefore, we suppose that $u(x) \ge 0$ and $u(y) \le 0$ (the symmetric situation is analogous). In this case

$$(u(x) - u(y))(u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y)) = -(u(x) - u(y))u(y)$$

= $-u(x)u(y) + |u(y)|^{2} \ge |u(y)|^{2} = |u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y)|^{2},$

which implies (1.2.14).

From (1.2.13) and (1.2.14), we obtain that

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{|u_-(x)-u_-(y)|^2}{|x-y|^{n+2s}} \, dx \, dy \leqslant 0,$$

and this implies (1.2.12), since $u \in \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Hence $u \ge 0$. This implies that U > 0, being a convolution of u with a positive kernel.

We can also prove the existence of a second solution of problem (1.2.8), and consequently of problem (1.1.1).

THEOREM 1.2.4. Let 0 < q < 1 and suppose that h satisfies (1.1.3) and (1.1.4). Then, there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that $\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}$ has a mountain pass solution $\overline{U}_{\varepsilon} \neq 0$, for any $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$.

To prove the existence of a second solution of problem (1.2.8) we consider a translated functional. Namely, we let U_{ε} be the local minimum of the functional (1.2.10) (already found in Theorem 1.2.2), and we consider the functional $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}: \dot{H}_{a}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as

(1.2.15)
$$\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}(U) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G(x, U(x, 0)) \, dx,$$

where

$$G(x,U) := \int_0^U g(x,t) \, dt,$$

and

(1.2.16)
$$g(x,t) := \begin{cases} \varepsilon h(x)((U_{\varepsilon}+t)^q - U_{\varepsilon}^q) + (U_{\varepsilon}+t)^p - U_{\varepsilon}^p, & \text{if } t \ge 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } t < 0. \end{cases}$$

Explicitly,

(1.2.17)
$$G(x,U) = \frac{\varepsilon h(x)}{q+1} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + U_{+})^{q+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} \right) - \varepsilon h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q} U_{+} + \frac{1}{p+1} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + U_{+})^{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} \right) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p} U_{+}.$$

12

Moreover, for any $U, V \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, we have that

(1.2.18)
$$\langle \mathcal{I}'_{\varepsilon}(U), V \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U, \nabla V \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) \, V(x, 0) \, dx.$$

Notice that a critical point of (1.2.15) is a solution to the following problem

(1.2.19)
$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{div}(y^a \nabla U) = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, \\ -\lim_{y \to 0^+} y^a \frac{\partial U}{\partial \nu} = g(x, U(x, 0)) \end{cases}$$

One can prove that a solution U to this problem is positive, as stated in the forthcoming Lemma 1.2.5. Therefore, $\overline{U} := U_{\varepsilon} + U > 0$, thanks to Proposition 1.2.3. Also, \overline{U} will be the second solution of (1.2.9), and so $\overline{u} := \overline{U}(\cdot, 0)$ will be the second solution to (1.1.1).

LEMMA 1.2.5. Let $U \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, $U \neq 0$, be a solution to (1.2.19). Then U is positive.

PROOF. We first observe that, if U is a solution to (1.2.19), then $u := U(\cdot, 0)$ is a solution of

(1.2.20)
$$(-\Delta)^s u = g(x, u) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n$$

Now, we set $u_{-}(x) := -\min\{u(x), 0\}$, namely u_{-} is the negative part of u, and we claim that

$$(1.2.21) u_{-} = 0.$$

For this, we multiply (1.2.20) by u_{-} and we integrate over \mathbb{R}^{n} : we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (-\Delta)^s u \, u_- \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, u) \, u_- \, dx.$$

Recalling the definition of g in (1.2.16), we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, u) \, u_- \, dx = 0.$$

Hence, by an integration by parts we get

(1.2.22)
$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{(u(x) - u(y))(u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y))}{|x - y|^{n + 2s}} \, dx \, dy = 0.$$

Now, we observe that

(1.2.23)
$$(u(x) - u(y))(u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y)) \ge |u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y)|^{2}.$$

Indeed, if both $u(x) \ge 0$ and $u(y) \ge 0$ and if both $u(x) \le 0$ and $u(y) \le 0$ then the claim trivially follows. Therefore, we suppose that $u(x) \ge 0$ and $u(y) \le 0$ (the symmetric situation is analogous). In this case

$$(u(x) - u(y))(u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y)) = -(u(x) - u(y))u(y)$$

= $-u(x)u(y) + |u(y)|^{2} \ge |u(y)|^{2} = |u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y)|^{2},$

which implies (1.2.23).

From (1.2.22) and (1.2.23), we obtain that

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \frac{|u_{-}(x) - u_{-}(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n + 2s}} \, dx \, dy \leqslant 0,$$

and this implies (1.2.21), since $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Hence $u \ge 0$. This implies that U > 0, being a convolution of u with a positive kernel. \Box

The next sections will be devoted to the proof of Theorems 1.2.2 and 1.2.4.

More precisely, for this goal some preliminary material from functional analysis is needed. The main analytic tools are contained in Chapter 2. Namely, since we will work with an extended functional (that contains also terms with weighted Sobolev norms), we devote Section 2.1 to show some weighted Sobolev embeddings and Section 2.2 to prove a suitable Concentration-Compactness Principle.

The existence of a minimal solution is discussed in Chapter 3. In particular, in Section 3.1 we deal with some convergence results, that we need in the subsequent Section 3.2, where we show that under a given level the Palais-Smale condition holds true for the extended functional. Then, in Section 3.3 we complete the proof of Theorem 1.2.2.

In Chapter 4, we discuss some regularity and positivity issues about the solution that we constructed. More precisely, in Section 4.1 we show some regularity results, and in Section 4.2 we prove the positivity of the solutions to (1.1.1), making use of a strong maximum principle for weak solutions.

Then, in Chapter 5 we deal with the existence of the mountain pass solution. We first show, in Section 5.1, that the translated functional introduced in Section 1.2 has U = 0 as a local minimum (notice that this is a consequence of the fact that we are translating the original functional with respect to its local minimum).

Sections 5.2 and 5.3 are devoted to some preliminary results. We will exploit these basic lemmata in the subsequent Section 5.4, where we prove that the abovementioned translated functional satisfies a Palais-Smale condition.

In Section 5.5 we estimate the minimax value along a suitable path (roughly speaking, the linear path constructed along a suitably cut-off minimizer of the fractional Sobolev inequality). This estimate is needed to exploit the Mountain Pass Theorem via the convergence of the Palais-Smale sequences at appropriate energy levels. With this, in Section 5.6 we finish the proof of Theorem 1.2.4.

14

CHAPTER 2

Functional analytical setting

2.1. Weighted Sobolev embeddings

For any $r \in (1, +\infty)$, we denote by $L^r(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, y^a)$ the weighted Lebesgue space, endowed with the norm

$$\|U\|_{L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+},y^{a})} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |U|^{r} \, dX\right)^{1/r}$$

The following result shows that $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ is continuously embedded in $L^{2\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, y^a)$.

PROPOSITION 2.1.1 (Sobolev embedding). There exists a constant $\hat{S} > 0$ such that for all $U \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ it holds

(2.1.1)
$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |U|^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{1/2\gamma} \leqslant \hat{S} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX \right)^{1/2},$$

where $\gamma = 1 + \frac{2}{n-2s}$.

PROOF. Let us first prove the result for $U \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$. If $s \in (0, 1/2)$, inequality (2.1.1) is easily deduced from Theorem 1.3 of [14]. By a density argument, we obtain that inequality (2.1.1) holds for any function $U \in \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Indeed, if $U \in \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, then there exists a sequence of functions $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ such that U_k converges to some \tilde{U} in $\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ as $k \to \infty$, where $U = \tilde{U}$ in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ and \tilde{U} is even with respect to the (n+1)-th variable. Hence, for any k, we have

(2.1.2)
$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |U_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{1/2\gamma} \leqslant \hat{S} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX \right)^{1/2} \\ \leqslant \hat{S} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX \right)^{1/2}.$$

Moreover, given two functions of the approximating sequence, there holds

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |U_k - U_m|^{2\gamma} \, dX\right)^{1/2\gamma} \leqslant \hat{S} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} y^a |\nabla(U_k - U_m)|^2 \, dX\right)^{1/2} \to 0,$$

and thus, up to a subsequence,

$$U_k \to \tilde{U} \text{ in } L^{2\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, y^a),$$
$$U_k \to \tilde{U} \text{ a.e. in } \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+.$$

Hence, by Fatou's Lemma and (2.1.2) we get

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |U|^{2\gamma} dX\right)^{1/2\gamma} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\tilde{U}|^{2\gamma} dX\right)^{1/2\gamma}$$

$$\leq \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2\gamma} dX\right)^{1/2\gamma}$$

$$\leq \lim_{k \to +\infty} \hat{S} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} dX\right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq \lim_{k \to +\infty} \hat{S} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} |y|^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} dX\right)^{1/2}$$

$$= \hat{S} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} |y|^{a} |\nabla U|^{2} dX\right)^{1/2},$$

which shows that Proposition 2.1.1 holds true for any function $U \in \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, up to renaming \hat{S} .

On the other hand, the case $s = \frac{1}{2}$ corresponds to the classical Sobolev inequality, so we can now concentrate on the range $s \in (1/2, 1)$, that can be derived from Theorem 1.2 of [25] by arguing as follows.

Let us denote

$$w(X) := |y|^a.$$

Thus, it can be checked that

(2.1.4)
$$w \in A_q$$
 for every $q \in (2-2s,2]$,

where A_q denotes the class of Muckenhoupt weights of order q. Since in particular $w \in A_2$, by Theorem 1.2 of [25], we know that there exist positive constants C and δ such that for all balls $B_R \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, all $u \in C_0^{\infty}(B_R)$ and all γ satisfying $1 \leq \gamma \leq \frac{n+1}{n} + \delta$, one has (2.1.5)

$$\left(\frac{1}{w(B_R)}\int_{B_R}|U|^{2\gamma}w\,dX\right)^{1/2\gamma}\leqslant CR\left(\frac{1}{w(B_R)}\int_{B_R}|\nabla U|^2w\,dX\right)^{1/2}.$$

In particular, it yields

$$w(B_R) = \int_{B_R} |y|^a \, dX = \int_{|x|^2 + y^2 \leqslant R^2} |y|^a \, dx \, dy$$

=
$$\int_{|\eta|^2 + \xi^2 \leqslant 1} |\xi|^a R^{n+1+a} \, d\xi \, d\eta = CR^{a+n+1} = CR^{2-2s+n},$$

with C independent of R. Thus,

$$Rw(B_R)^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}-\frac{1}{2}} = CR^{1+\frac{(1-\gamma)(2-2s+n)}{2\gamma}}$$

and plugging this into (2.1.5) we get

$$\left(\int_{B_R} |U|^{2\gamma} w \, dX\right)^{1/2\gamma} \leqslant C R^{1 + \frac{(1-\gamma)(2-2s+n)}{2\gamma}} \left(\int_{B_R} |\nabla U|^2 w \, dX\right)^{1/2},$$

where C is a constant independent of R. In particular, if we set $\gamma = 1 + \frac{2}{n-2s}$, then

$$1 + \frac{(1-\gamma)(2-2s+n)}{2\gamma} = 0,$$

and the inequality holds for every ball with the same constant. It remains to check that this value of γ is under the hypotheses of Theorem 1.2 of [25], that is, $1 \leq \gamma \leq \frac{n+1}{n} + \delta$. Keeping track of δ in [25], this condition actually becomes

$$1 \leqslant \gamma \leqslant \frac{n+1}{n+1-\frac{2}{q}},$$

for every q < 2 such that $w \in A_q$. Thus, by (2.1.4), we can choose any $q \in (2-2s, 2)$. Since γ is clearly greater than 1, we have to prove the upper bound, that is,

$$1 + \frac{2}{n-2s} \leqslant \frac{n+1}{n+1-\frac{2}{q}},$$

but this is equivalent to ask

$$q\leqslant \frac{n-2s+2}{n+1}.$$

Since we can choose q as close as we want to 2 - 2s, this inequality will be true whenever

$$2 - 2s < \frac{n - 2s + 2}{n + 1},$$

which holds if and only if $s > \frac{1}{2}$. Summarizing, we have that

(2.1.6)
$$\left(\int_{B_R} |y|^a |U|^{2\gamma} \, dX\right)^{1/2\gamma} \leq C \left(\int_{B_R} |y|^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX\right)^{1/2},$$

where $\gamma = 1 + \frac{2}{n-2s}$ and C is a constant independent of the domain. Choosing R large enough, it yields

(2.1.7)
$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} |y|^a |U|^{2\gamma} \, dX\right)^{1/2\gamma} \leqslant C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} |y|^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX\right)^{1/2},$$

Consider now $U \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. We perform the same density argument as in the case $s \in (0, 1/2)$, with the only difference that instead of (2.1.3) we have

$$\begin{split} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |U|^{2\gamma} \, dX\right)^{1/2\gamma} &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\tilde{U}|^{2\gamma} \, dX\right)^{1/2\gamma} \\ &\leqslant \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |U_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX\right)^{1/2\gamma} \\ &\leqslant \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |y|^a |V_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX\right)^{1/2\gamma} \\ &\leqslant \lim_{k \to +\infty} \hat{S} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |y|^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX\right)^{1/2} \\ &= \hat{S} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX\right)^{1/2} \\ &= \hat{S} \left(2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX\right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

We also show a compactness result that we will need in the sequel. More precisely, we prove that $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ is locally compactly embedded in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, y^a)$. The precise statement goes as follows:

LEMMA 2.1.2. Let R > 0 and let \mathcal{J} be a subset of $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ such that

$$\sup_{U\in\mathcal{J}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX < +\infty.$$

Then \mathcal{J} is precompact in $L^2(B_R^+, y^a)$.

PROOF. We will prove that \mathcal{J} is totally bounded in $L^2(B_R^+, y^a)$, i.e. for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist M and $U_1, \ldots, U_M \in L^2(B_R^+, y^a)$ such that for any $U \in \mathcal{J}$ there exists $i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$ such that

$$(2.1.8) ||U_i - U||_{L^2(B^+_P, y^a)} \leqslant \varepsilon.$$

For this, we fix $\varepsilon > 0$, we set

(2.1.9)
$$A := \sup_{U \in \mathcal{J}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX < +\infty$$

and we let

(2.1.10)
$$\eta := \left[\frac{\varepsilon^2}{2\hat{S}^2 A} \left(\frac{a+1}{|B_R|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma}}\right]^{\frac{\gamma}{(\gamma-1)(a+1)}}$$

where γ and \hat{S} are the constants introduced in the statement of Proposition 2.1.1, and $|B_R|$ is the Lebesgue measure of the ball B_R in \mathbb{R}^n .

,

Now, notice that

Indeed, if $a \ge 0$ (that is $s \in (0, 1/2]$) then $y^a \ge \eta^a$, while if a < 0 (that is $s \in (1/2, 1)$) then we use that $y \le R$, and so $y^a \ge R^a$, thus proving (2.1.11). Analogously, one can prove that

Therefore, using (2.1.11), we have that, for any $U \in \mathcal{J}$,

$$A \ge \int_{B_R^+ \cap \{y \ge \eta\}} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX \ge \min\{\eta^a, R^a\} \int_{B_R^+ \cap \{y \ge \eta\}} |\nabla U|^2 \, dX.$$

Hence,

$$\int_{B_R^+ \cap \{y \ge \eta\}} |\nabla U|^2 \, dX < +\infty$$

for any $U \in \mathcal{J}$. So by the Rellich-Kondrachov theorem we have that \mathcal{J} is totally bounded in $L^2(B_R^+ \cap \{y \ge \eta\})$. Namely, there exist $\tilde{U}_1, \ldots, \tilde{U}_M \in$ $L^2(B_R^+ \cap \{y \ge \eta\})$ such that for any $U \in \mathcal{J}$ there exists $i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$ such that

(2.1.13)
$$\|U_i - U\|_{L^2(B_R^+ \cap \{y \ge \eta\})} \leq \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2 \max\{\eta^a, R^a\}}$$

Now for any $i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$ we set

$$U_i := \begin{cases} \tilde{U}_i & \text{if } y \ge \eta, \\ 0 & \text{if } y < \eta. \end{cases}$$

Notice that $U_i \in L^2(B_R^+, y^a)$ for any $i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$. Indeed, fixed $i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$, we have that

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_{R}^{+}} y^{a} |U_{i}|^{2} dX &= \int_{B_{R}^{+} \cap \{y < \eta\}} y^{a} |U_{i}|^{2} dX + \int_{B_{R}^{+} \cap \{y \ge \eta\}} y^{a} |U_{i}|^{2} dX \\ &= 0 + \int_{B_{R}^{+} \cap \{y \ge \eta\}} y^{a} |\tilde{U}_{i}|^{2} dX \\ &\leqslant \max\{\eta^{a}, R^{a}\} \int_{B_{R}^{+} \cap \{y \ge \eta\}} |U_{i}|^{2} dX < +\infty, \end{split}$$

thanks to (2.1.12) and the fact that $\tilde{U}_i \in L^2(B_R^+ \cap \{y \ge \eta\})$ for any $i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$.

It remains to show (2.1.8). For this, we first observe that (2.1.14)

$$||U_i - U||^2_{L^2(B^+_R, y^a)} = \int_{B^+_R \cap \{y < \eta\}} y^a |U|^2 \, dX + \int_{B^+_R \cap \{y \ge \eta\}} y^a |\tilde{U}_i - U|^2 \, dX.$$

Using the Hölder inequality with exponents γ and $\frac{\gamma}{\gamma-1}$ and Proposition 2.1.1 and recalling (2.1.9) and (2.1.10), we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_{R}^{+} \cap \{y < \eta\}} y^{a} |U|^{2} dX &= \int_{B_{R}^{+} \cap \{y < \eta\}} y^{\frac{a}{\gamma}} |U|^{2} y^{\frac{a(\gamma-1)}{\gamma}} dX \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{B_{R}^{+} \cap \{y < \eta\}} y^{a} |U|^{2\gamma} dX \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} \left(\int_{B_{R}^{+} \cap \{y < \eta\}} y^{a} dX \right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma}} \\ &\leqslant \hat{S}^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U|^{2} dX \left(\frac{|B_{R}|}{a+1} \right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma}} \eta^{\frac{(a+1)(\gamma-1)}{\gamma}} \\ &\leqslant \hat{S}^{2} A \left(\frac{|B_{R}|}{a+1} \right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma}} \eta^{\frac{(a+1)(\gamma-1)}{\gamma}} \\ &= \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{2}. \end{split}$$

Moreover, making use of (2.1.12) and (2.1.13), we have that

$$\int_{B_R^+ \cap \{y \ge \eta\}} y^a |\tilde{U}_i - U|^2 \, dX \le \max\{\eta^a, R^a\} \int_{B_R^+ \cap \{y \ge \eta\}} |\tilde{U}_i - U|^2 \, dX \le \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2}.$$

Plugging the last two formulas into (2.1.14), we get

$$||U_i - U||^2_{L^2(B^+_R, y^a)} \le \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2} = \varepsilon^2$$

which implies (2.1.8) and thus concludes the proof of Lemma 2.1.2.

2.2. A Concentration-Compactness Principle

In this section we show a Concentration-Compactness Principle, in the spirit of the original result proved by P. L. Lions in [28] and [29]. In particular, we want to adapt Lemma 2.3 of [29]. See also, [3, 32], where this principle was proved for different problems.

For this, we recall the following definitions:

DEFINITION 2.2.1. We say that a sequence $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is tight if for every $\eta > 0$ there exists $\rho > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX \leqslant \eta \quad \text{ for any } k.$$

DEFINITION 2.2.2. Let $\{\mu_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of measures on a topological space X. We say that μ_k converges to μ in X if and only if

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_X \varphi \, d\mu_k = \int_X \varphi \, d\mu,$$

for every $\varphi \in C_0(X)$.

This definition is standard, see for instance Definition 1.1.2 in [24]. In particular, we will consider measures on \mathbb{R}^n and \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ .

PROPOSITION 2.2.3 (Concentration-Compactness Principle). Let $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a bounded tight sequence in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, such that U_k converges weakly to U in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Let μ, ν be two nonnegative measures on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ and \mathbb{R}^n respectively and such that

(2.2.1)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 = \mu$$

and

(2.2.2)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} |U_k(x,0)|^{2^*_s} = \nu$$

in the sense of Definition 2.2.2.

Then, there exist an at most countable set J and three families $\{x_j\}_{j\in J} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\{\nu_j\}_{j\in J}$, $\{\mu_j\}_{j\in J}$, ν_j , $\mu_j \ge 0$ such that

(i)
$$\nu = |U(x,0)|^{2^*_s} + \sum_{j \in J} \nu_j \delta_{x_j},$$

(ii) $\mu \ge y^a |\nabla U|^2 + \sum_{j \in J} \mu_j \delta_{(x_j,0)},$
(iii) $\mu_j \ge S \nu_j^{2/2^*_s}$ for all $j \in J.$

PROOF. We first suppose that $U \equiv 0$. We claim that (2.2.3)

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\varphi(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \, d\nu\right)^{2/2^*_s} \leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \varphi^2 \, d\mu, \quad \text{for any } \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+),$$

for some C > 0. For this, let $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and $K := \operatorname{supp}(\varphi)$. By Proposition 1.2.1, we have that

(2.2.4)
$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(\varphi U_k)(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \, dx \right)^{2/2^*_s} \leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla(\varphi U_k)|^2 \, dX,$$

for a suitable positive constant C. By (2.2.2), we deduce

(2.2.5)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(\varphi U_k)(x,0)|^{2^*_s} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\varphi(x,0)|^{2^*_s} d\nu$$

On the other hand, the right hand side in (2.2.4) can be written as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla(\varphi U_k)|^2 dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \varphi^2 |\nabla U_k|^2 dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a U_k^2 |\nabla \varphi|^2 dX$$
(2.2.6)
$$+ 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \varphi U_k \langle \nabla \varphi, \nabla U_k \rangle dX.$$

Now we observe that

$$(2.2.7) [U_k]_a \leqslant C$$

for some C > 0 independent of k, and so, by Lemma 2.1.2, we have that, up to a subsequence,

(2.2.8)
$$U_k$$
 converges to $U = 0$ in $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, y^a)$ as $k \to +\infty$.

Therefore,

(2.2.9)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a U_k^2 |\nabla \varphi|^2 \, dX \leqslant C \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_K y^a U_k^2 \, dX = 0.$$

Also, by the Hölder inequality and (2.2.7),

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \varphi \, U_{k} \left\langle \nabla \varphi, \nabla U_{k} \right\rangle dX \right| \\ \leqslant & \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\varphi|^{2} \left| \nabla U_{k} \right|^{2} dX \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla \varphi|^{2} \left| U_{k} \right|^{2} dX \right)^{1/2} \\ \leqslant & C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k} |^{2} dX \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{K} y^{a} |U_{k} |^{2} dX \right)^{1/2} \\ \leqslant & C \left(\int_{K} y^{a} |U_{k} |^{2} dX \right)^{1/2}, \end{split}$$

where C may change from line to line. Hence, from (2.2.8) we have that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \varphi \, U_k \left\langle \nabla \varphi, \nabla U_k \right\rangle dX = 0.$$

Thus, plugging this and (2.2.9) into (2.2.6), and using (2.2.1), we obtain

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla(\varphi U_k)|^2 \, dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \varphi^2 \, d\mu.$$

Therefore, taking the limit in (2.2.4) as $k \to +\infty$, and using (2.2.5), we get

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\varphi(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \, d\nu\right)^{2/2^*_s} \leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \varphi^2 \, d\mu, \qquad \text{for all } \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+),$$

which shows (2.2.3) in the case $U \equiv 0$.

Let us consider now the case $U \neq 0$. First, we define a function $V_k := U_k - U$, and we observe that $V_k \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, and

(2.2.10)
$$V_k$$
 converges weakly to 0 in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ as $k \to +\infty$.

Also, we denote by

(2.2.11)
$$\tilde{\nu} := \lim_{k \to \infty} |V_k(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{\mu} := \lim_{k \to \infty} y^a |\nabla V_k|^2,$$

where both limits are understood in the sense of Definition 2.2.2. Then, we are in the previous case, and so we can apply (2.2.3), that is (2.2.12)

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\varphi(x,0)|^{2^*_s} d\tilde{\nu}\right)^{2/2^*_s} \leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \varphi^2 d\tilde{\mu}, \quad \text{for all } \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+).$$

Furthermore, by [11], we know that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(\varphi V_k)(x,0)|^{2^*_s} dx = \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(\varphi U_k)(x,0)|^{2^*_s} dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(\varphi U)(x,0)|^{2^*_s} dx,$$

that is, recalling (2.2.11),

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\varphi(x,0)|^{2^*_s} d\tilde{\nu} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\varphi(x,0)|^{2^*_s} d\nu - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(\varphi U)(x,0)|^{2^*_s} dx.$$

Therefore (2.2.13)

$$\nu = \tilde{\nu} + |U(x,0)|^{2^*_s}.$$

On the other hand,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \varphi^2 |\nabla U_k|^2 dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \varphi^2 |\nabla U|^2 dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \varphi^2 |\nabla V_k|^2 dX + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \varphi^2 \langle \nabla V_k, \nabla U \rangle dX.$$

Now we take the limit as $k \to +\infty$, we use (2.2.2), (2.2.11) and (2.2.10), and we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} \varphi^2 \, d\mu = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^a \varphi^2 |\nabla U|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} \varphi^2 \, d\tilde{\mu},$$

 ${\rm i.e.},$

(2.2.14)
$$\mu = \tilde{\mu} + y^a |\nabla U|^2$$

Now, since inequality (2.2.12) is satisfied, we can apply Lemma 1.2 in [28] to $\tilde{\nu}$ and $\tilde{\mu}$ (see also Lemma 2.3 in [29]). Therefore, there exist an at most countable set J and families $\{x_j\}_{j\in J} \in \mathbb{R}^n, \{\nu_j\}_{j\in J}, \{\mu_j\}_{j\in J}, \text{with } \nu_j \geq 0$ and $\mu_j > 0$, such that

$$\tilde{\nu} = \sum_{j \in J} \nu_j \delta_{x_j}$$
 and $\tilde{\mu} \ge \sum_{j \in J} \mu_j \delta_{(x_j,0)}$.

So the proof is finished, thanks to (2.2.13) and (2.2.14).

CHAPTER 3

Existence of a minimal solution and proof of Theorem 1.2.2

3.1. Some convergence results in view of Theorem 1.2.2

In this section we collect some results about the convergence of sequences of functions in suitable $L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$ spaces. We will exploit the following lemmata in the forthcoming Section 3.2, see in particular the proof of Proposition 3.2.1.

The first result that we prove is the following:

LEMMA 3.1.1. Let $v_k \in L^{2^*}(\mathbb{R}^n, [0, +\infty))$ be a sequence converging to some v in $L^{2^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then

(3.1.1)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |v_k^q(x) - v^q(x)|^{\frac{2^*_s}{q}} dx = 0$$

(3.1.2) and
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |v_k^p(x) - v^p(x)|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} dx = 0$$

PROOF. For any $t \ge -1$, let

$$f(t) := \frac{|(1+t)^q - 1|}{|t|^q}.$$

We have that $(1 + t)^q = 1 + qt + o(t)$ for t close to 0, and therefore

$$f(t) = \frac{|qt + o(t)|}{|t|^q} \to 0$$

as $t \to 0$. In addition, f(-1) = 1 and

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} f(t) = 1.$$

As a consequence, we can define

$$L := \sup_{t \ge -1} f(t)$$

and we have that $L \in [1, +\infty)$. Now we show that

$$(3.1.3) |a^q - b^q| \leqslant L|a - b|$$

for any $a, b \ge 0$. To prove this, we can suppose that $b \ne 0$, otherwise we are done, and we write $t := \frac{a}{b} - 1$. Then we have that

$$|a^{q} - b^{q}| = b^{q}|(1+t)^{q} - 1| \leq Lb^{q}|t|^{q} = L|a - b|^{q},$$

which proves (3.1.3).

26 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

As a consequence of this and of the convergence of v_k , we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |v_k^q(x) - v^q(x)|^{\frac{2s}{q}} \, dx \le L \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |v_k(x) - v(x)|^{2s} \, dx \to 0$$

as $k \to +\infty$, which establishes (3.1.1). Now we prove (3.1.2). For this, given $a \ge b \ge 0$, we notice that

$$a^{p} - b^{p} = p \int_{b}^{a} t^{p-1} dt \le p a^{p-1} (a-b) \le p(a+b)^{p-1} (a-b)$$

By possibly exchanging the roles of a and b, we conclude that, for any a, $b \ge 0$,

$$|a^p - b^p| \leqslant p(a+b)^{p-1}|a-b|$$

Accordingly, for any $a, b \ge 0$,

 $|a^{p}-b^{p}|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} \leqslant p^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}}(a+b)^{\frac{2n(p-1)}{n+2s}}|a-b|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} = p^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}}(a+b)^{\frac{8sn}{(n-2s)(n+2s)}}|a-b|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}}.$ We use this and the Hölder inequality with exponents $\frac{n+2s}{4s}$ and $\frac{n+2s}{n-2s}$ to deduce that

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| v_k^p(x) - v^p(x) \right|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} dx \\ \leqslant & p^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(v_k(x) + v(x) \right)^{\frac{8sn}{(n-2s)(n+2s)}} \left| v_k(x) - v(x) \right|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} dx \\ \leqslant & p^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(v_k(x) + v(x) \right)^{\frac{2n}{n-2s}} dx \right)^{\frac{4s}{n+2s}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| v_k(x) - v(x) \right|^{\frac{2n}{n-2s}} dx \right)^{\frac{n-2s}{n+2s}} \\ = & p^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} \| v_k + v \|_{L^{2s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\frac{8sn}{(n-2s)(n+2s)}} \| v_k - v \|_{L^{2s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}}. \end{split}$$

From the convergence of v_k , we have that $\|v_k + v\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \|v_k\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \|v\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ is bounded uniformly in k, while $\|v_k - v\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ in infinitesimal as $k \to +\infty$, therefore (3.1.2) now plainly follows.

Next result shows that we can deduce strong convergence in $L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ from the convergence in the sense of Definition 2.2.2.

LEMMA 3.1.2. Let $v_k \in L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n, [0, +\infty))$ be a sequence converging to some v a.e. in \mathbb{R}^n . Assume also that $v_k^{2^*_s}$ converges to $v^{2^*_s}$ in the measure sense given in Definition 2.2.2, i.e.

(3.1.4)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k^{2^*_s} \varphi \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v^{2^*_s} \varphi \, dx$$

for any $\varphi \in C_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

In addition, assume that for any $\eta > 0$ there exists $\rho > 0$ such that

(3.1.5)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_\rho} v_k^{2^*_s}(x) \, dx < \eta$$

Then, $v_k \to v$ in $L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n, [0, +\infty))$ as $k \to +\infty$.

PROOF. First of all, by Fatou's lemma,

(3.1.6)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k^{2^*_s} dx \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v^{2^*_s} dx$$

Now we fix $\eta > 0$ and we take $\rho = \rho(\eta)$ such that (3.1.5) holds true. Let $\varphi_{\rho} \in$ $C_0^{\infty}(B_{\rho+1}, [0, 1])$ such that $\varphi_{\rho} = 1$ in B_{ρ} . Then, by (3.1.5)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k^{2^*_s} \, dx < \int_{B_\rho} v_k^{2^*_s} \, dx + \eta \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k^{2^*_s} \varphi_\rho \, dx + \eta.$$

Hence, exploiting (3.1.4),

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k^{2^*_s} dx \leq \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k^{2^*_s} \varphi_\rho \, dx + \eta = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v^{2^*_s} \varphi_\rho \, dx + \eta.$$

Since $\varphi_{\rho} \leq 1$, this gives that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k^{2^*_s} dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v^{2^*_s} dx + \eta.$$

Since η can be taken arbitrarily small, we obtain that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k^{2^*_s} \, dx \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v^{2^*_s} \, dx.$$

This, together with (3.1.6), proves that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \|v_k\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{2^*_s} = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k^{2^*_s} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v^{2^*_s} \, dx = \|v\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{2^*_s}$$

This and the Brezis-Lieb lemma (see e.g. formula (1) in [11]) implies the desired result.

3.2. Palais-Smale condition for $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$

In this section we show that the functional $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$ introduced in (1.2.10) satisfies a Palais-Smale condition. The precise statement is contained in the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 3.2.1 (Palais-Smale condition). There exists $\bar{C}, c_1 > 0$, depending on h, q, n and s, such that the following statement holds true. Let $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\subset \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ be a sequence satisfying

(i) $\lim_{k \to +\infty} \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) = c_{\varepsilon}, with$

(3.2.1)
$$c_{\varepsilon} + c_1 \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + \bar{C} \varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}} < \frac{s}{n} S^{\frac{n}{2s}}$$

where $\gamma = 1 + \frac{2}{n-2s}$ and S is the Sobolev constant appearing in Proposition 1.2.1, (ii) $\lim_{k \to +\infty} \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k) = 0.$

Then there exists a subsequence, still denoted by $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$, which is strongly convergent in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ as $k \to +\infty$.

28 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

REMARK 3.2.2. The limit in ii) is intended in the following way

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \|\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+), \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+))} = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \sup_{\substack{V \in \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \\ [V]_a = 1}} \left| \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), V \rangle \right| = 0,$$

where $\mathcal{L}(\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+), \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+))$ consists of all the linear functional from $\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ in $\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

First we show that a sequence that satisfies the assumptions in Proposition 3.2.1 is bounded.

LEMMA 3.2.3. Let ε , $\kappa > 0$. Let $\{U_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ be a sequence satisfying

(3.2.2)
$$|\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k)| + \sup_{\substack{V \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \\ [V]_a = 1}} \left| \langle \mathcal{F}'_{\varepsilon}(U_k), V \rangle \right| \leqslant \kappa,$$

for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Then there exists M > 0 such that

$$(3.2.3) [U_k]_a \leqslant M$$

PROOF. If $[U_k]_a = 0$ we are done. So we can suppose that $[U_k]_a \neq 0$ and use (3.2.2) to obtain

$$\left|\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k})\right|\leqslant\kappa, \text{ and } \left|\langle\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{k}),U_{k}/[U_{k}]_{a}\rangle\right|\leqslant\kappa.$$

Therefore, we have that

(3.2.4)
$$\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) - \frac{1}{p+1} \langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), U_k \rangle \leqslant \kappa \ (1 + [U_k]_a)$$

On the other hand, by the Hölder inequality and Proposition 1.2.1, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) &- \frac{1}{p+1} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{k}), U_{k} \rangle \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} dX - \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) (U_{k})_{+}^{q+1}(x, 0) dx \\ &\geqslant \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) [U_{k}]_{a}^{2} - \varepsilon C \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \|h\|_{L^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} [U_{k}]_{a}^{q+1}. \end{aligned}$$

From this and (3.2.4) we conclude that $[U_k]_a$ must be bounded (recall also (1.1.5) and that q + 1 < 2). So we obtain the desired result.

In order to prove that $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$ satisfies the Palais-Smale condition, we need to show that the sequence of functions satisfying the hypotheses of Proposition 3.2.1 is tight, according to Definition 2.2.1.

First we make the following preliminary observation:

LEMMA 3.2.4. Let $m := \frac{p+1}{p-q}$. Then there exists a constant $\bar{C} = \bar{C}(n, s, p, q, ||h||_{L^m(\mathbb{R}^n)}) > 0$ such that, for any $\alpha > 0$,

$$\frac{s}{n}\alpha^{p+1} - \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2}\right) \|h\|_{L^m(\mathbb{R}^n)} \alpha^{q+1} \ge -\bar{C}\varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}}.$$

PROOF. Let us define the function $f:(0,+\infty)\to\mathbb{R}$ as

$$f(\alpha) := c_1 \alpha^{p+1} - \varepsilon c_2 \alpha^{q+1}, \quad c_1 := \frac{s}{n}, \quad c_2 := \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2}\right) \|h\|_{L^m(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Differentiating, we obtain that

$$f'(\alpha) = \alpha^q ((p+1)c_1 \alpha^{p-q} - \varepsilon(q+1)c_2),$$

and thus, f has a local minimum at the point

$$\overline{\alpha} := c_3 \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{p-q}}, \quad c_3 = c_3(n, s, p, q, \|h\|_{L^m(\mathbb{R}^n)}) := \left(\frac{c_2(q+1)}{c_1(p+1)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-q}}.$$

Evaluating f at $\overline{\alpha}$, we obtain that the minimum value that f will reach is

$$f(\overline{\alpha}) = c_4 \varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}}$$

with c_4 a constant depending on n, s, p, q and $||h||_{L^m(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. Therefore, there exists $\overline{C} = \overline{C}(n, s, p, q, ||h||_{L^m(\mathbb{R}^n)}) > 0$ such that

$$f(\alpha) \ge f(\overline{\alpha}) \ge -\overline{C}\varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}},$$

for any $\alpha > 0$, and this concludes the proof.

The tightness of the sequence in Proposition 3.2.1 is contained in the following lemma:

LEMMA 3.2.5 (Tightness). Let $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\subset \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ be a sequence satisfying the hypotheses of Proposition 3.2.1.

Then for all $\eta > 0$ there exists $\rho > 0$ such that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ it holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_\rho} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_\rho \cap \{y=0\}\}} (U_k)^{2^*_s}_+(x,0) \, dx < \eta.$$

In particular, the sequence $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is tight.

PROOF. First we notice that (3.2.2) holds in this case, due to conditions (i) and (ii) in Proposition 3.2.1. Hence, Lemma 3.2.3 gives that the sequence $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, that is $[U_k]_a \leq M$. Thus,

(3.2.5)
$$U_k \to U \quad \text{in } \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \quad \text{as } k \to +\infty$$

and $U_k \to U \quad \text{a.e. in } \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \quad \text{as } k \to +\infty$.

Now, we proceed by contradiction. Suppose that there exists $\eta_0 > 0$ such that for all $\rho > 0$ there exists $k = k(\rho) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

(3.2.6)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_\rho} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_\rho \cap \{y=0\}\}} (U_k)^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx \ge \eta_0.$$

30 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

We observe that

$$(3.2.7) k \to +\infty as \ \rho \to +\infty.$$

Indeed, let us take a sequence $\{\rho_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ such that $\rho_i \to +\infty$ as $i \to +\infty$, and suppose that $k_i := k(\rho_i)$ given by (3.2.6) is a bounded sequence. That is, the set $F := \{k_i : i \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is a finite set of integers.

Hence, there exists an integer k^* so that we can extract a subsequence $\{k_{i_j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ satisfying $k_{i_j} = k^*$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore,

(3.2.8)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho_{i_j}}} y^a |\nabla U_{k^\star}|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_{\rho_{i_j}} \cap \{y=0\}\}} (U_{k^\star})^{2^*_s}_+(x,0) \, dx \ge \eta_0,$$

for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

But on the other hand, since U_{k^*} belongs to $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ (and so $U_{k^*}(\cdot, 0) \in L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ thanks to Proposition 1.2.1), for j large enough there holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho_{i_j}}} y^a |\nabla U_{k^\star}|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_{\rho_{i_j}} \cap \{y=0\}\}} (U_{k^\star})^{2^*_s}_+(x,0) \, dx \leqslant \frac{\eta_0}{2},$$

which is a contradiction with (3.2.8). This shows (3.2.7).

Now, since U given in (3.2.5) belongs to $\in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, by Propositions 2.1.1 and 1.2.1, we have that, for a fixed $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $r_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r_{\varepsilon}}} y^a |\nabla U|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r_{\varepsilon}}} y^a |U|^{2\gamma} \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_{r_{\varepsilon}} \cap \{y=0\}\}} |U(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \, dx < \varepsilon$$

Notice that

(3.2.9)
$$r_{\varepsilon} \to +\infty \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$

Moreover, by (3.2.3) and again by Propositions 2.1.1 and 1.2.1, we obtain that there exists $\tilde{M} > 0$ such that

(3.2.10)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |U_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |U_k(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \, dx \leqslant \tilde{M}.$$

Now let $j_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ be the integer part of $\frac{\tilde{M}}{\varepsilon}$. Notice that j_{ε} tends to $+\infty$ as ε tends to 0. We also set

$$I_l := \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ : r+l \leq |(x, y)| \leq r + (l+1) \}, \ l = 0, 1, \cdots, j_{\varepsilon}.$$

Thus, from (3.2.10) we get

$$(j_{\varepsilon}+1)\varepsilon \geq \frac{M}{\varepsilon}\varepsilon \geq \sum_{l=0}^{j_{\varepsilon}} \left(\int_{I_{l}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} dX + \int_{I_{l}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2\gamma} dX + \int_{I_{l} \cap \{y=0\}} |U_{k}(x,0)|^{2^{*}_{s}} dx \right)$$

This implies that there exists $\bar{l} \in \{0, 1, \cdots, j_{\varepsilon}\}$ such that, up to a subsequence,

$$(3.2.11) \quad \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^a |U_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX + \int_{I_{\bar{l}} \cap \{y=0\}} |U_k(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \, dx \leqslant \varepsilon.$$

Now we take a cut-off function $\chi\in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+,[0,1]),$ such that

(3.2.12)
$$\chi(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & |(x,y)| \leq r+\bar{l} \\ 0, & |(x,y)| \geq r+(\bar{l}+1), \end{cases}$$

and

$$(3.2.13) \qquad \qquad |\nabla \chi| \leqslant 2.$$

We also define

(3.2.14)
$$V_k := \chi U_k$$
 and $W_k := (1 - \chi) U_k$.

We estimate

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{k}) - \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_{k}), V_{k} \rangle| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{k}, \nabla V_{k} \rangle \, dX - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) (U_{k})^{q}_{+}(x, 0) \, V_{k}(x, 0) \, dx \right. \\ &\left. - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})^{p}_{+}(x, 0) \, V_{k}(x, 0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla V_{k}, \nabla V_{k} \rangle \, dX \\ &\left. + \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) (V_{k})^{q+1}_{+}(x, 0) \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})^{p+1}_{+}(x, 0) \, dx \right|. \end{aligned}$$

First, we observe that

$$(3.2.16) \qquad \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{k}, \nabla V_{k} \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla V_{k}, \nabla V_{k} \rangle \, dX \right|$$
$$(3.2.16) \qquad \leqslant \int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} |\chi| |1 - \chi| \, dX + \int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}| |\nabla \chi| \, dX$$
$$+ 2 \int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} |U_{k}| |\nabla U_{k}| |\nabla \chi| |\chi| \, dX + \int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2} |\nabla \chi|^{2} \, dX$$
$$=: A_{1} + A_{2} + A_{3} + A_{4}.$$

By (3.2.11), we have that $A_1 \leq C\varepsilon$, for some C > 0. Furthermore, by the Hölder inequality, (3.2.13) and (3.2.11), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} A_2 &\leqslant 2 \int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |\nabla U_k| |U_k| \, dX \leqslant 2 \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |U_k|^2 \, dX \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant 2\varepsilon^{1/2} \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |U_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{1/2\gamma} \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{(a-\frac{a}{\gamma})m} \, dX \right)^{1/2m}, \end{aligned}$$

32 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

where $m = \frac{n+2-2s}{2}$. Since $\left(a - \frac{a}{\gamma}\right)m = a = (1-2s) > -1$, we have that the second integral is finite, and therefore, for $\varepsilon < 1$,

$$A_2 \leqslant \tilde{C} \varepsilon^{1/2} \left(\int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^a |U_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{1/2\gamma} \leqslant C \varepsilon^{1/2} \varepsilon^{1/2\gamma} \leqslant C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma},$$

where (3.2.11) was used once again. In the same way, we get that $A_3 \leq C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma}$. Finally, by (3.2.11),

$$A_4 \leqslant C \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |U_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{1/\gamma} \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{(a-\frac{a}{\gamma})m} \, dX \right)^{1/m} \leqslant C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma}.$$

Using these informations in (3.2.16), we obtain that

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla V_k \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla V_k, \nabla V_k \rangle \, dX\right| \leqslant C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma},$$

up to renaming the constant C.

On the other hand, since $p + 1 = 2_s^*$, by (3.2.14) and (3.2.11),

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_k)_+^p(x,0) \, V_k(x,0) - (V_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \right| &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |1 - \chi^p| |\chi| |U_k(x,0)|^{p+1} \, dx \\ &\leqslant C \int_{I_7 \cap \{y=0\}} |U_k(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \, dx \leqslant C\varepsilon \end{aligned}$$

In the same way, applying the Hölder inequality, one obtains

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_k)_+^q(x,0) \, V_k(x,0) - (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \right) dx \right|$$

$$\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)| \, |1 - \chi^q| |\chi| |U_k(x,0)|^{q+1} \, dx$$

$$\leqslant C \, \|h\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \, \int_{I_{\overline{l}} \cap \{y=0\}} |U_k(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \, dx \leqslant C\varepsilon.$$

All in all, plugging these observations in (3.2.15), we obtain that

(3.2.17)
$$|\langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k) - \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), V_k \rangle| \leqslant C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma}$$

Likewise, one can see that

(3.2.18)
$$|\langle \mathcal{F}'_{\varepsilon}(U_k) - \mathcal{F}'_{\varepsilon}(W_k), W_k \rangle| \leqslant C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma}.$$

Now we claim that

(3.2.19)
$$|\langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), V_k \rangle| \leqslant C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1),$$

where $o_k(1)$ denotes (here and in the rest of this paper) a quantity that tends to 0 as k tends to $+\infty$. For this, we first observe that

$$(3.2.20) [V_k]_a \leqslant C,$$

for some C > 0. Indeed, recalling (3.2.14) and using (3.2.12) and (3.2.13), we have

$$\begin{split} [V_k]_a^2 &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla V_k|^2 \, dX \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla \chi|^2 |U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \, \chi^2 |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \, \chi \, U_k \, \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla \chi \rangle \, dX \\ &\leqslant 4 \int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |U_k|^2 \, dX + [U_k]_a^2 + C \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |U_k|^2 \, dX \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant C \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |U_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{1/\gamma} + [U_k]_a^2 + C \left[U_k \right]_a \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^a |U_k|^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{1/2\gamma}, \end{split}$$

where the Hölder inequality was used in the last two lines. Hence, from Proposition 2.1.1 and (3.2.3), we obtain (3.2.20).

Now, we notice that

$$|\langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), V_k \rangle| \leq |\langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k) - \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), V_k \rangle| + |\langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), V_k \rangle| \leq C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + |\langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), V_k \rangle|,$$

thanks to (3.2.17). Thus, from (3.2.20) and assumption (ii) in Proposition 3.2.1 we get the desired claim in (3.2.19).

Analogously (but making use of (3.2.18)), one can see that

(3.2.21)
$$|\langle \mathcal{F}'_{\varepsilon}(W_k), W_k \rangle| \leqslant C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1)$$

From now on, we divide the proof in three main steps: we first show lower bounds for $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k)$ and $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_k)$ (see Step 1 and Step 2, respectively), then in Step 3 we obtain a lower bound for $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k)$, which will give a contradiction with the hypotheses on $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$, and so the conclusion of Lemma 3.2.5.

Step 1: Lower bound for $\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k)$. By (3.2.19) we obtain that

(3.2.22)
$$\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k) \ge \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), V_k \rangle - \frac{1}{2} C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1).$$

Using the Hölder inequality, it yields

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_{k}) &- \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_{k}), V_{k} \rangle = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \| (V_{k})_{+}(\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p+1} \\ &- \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) (V_{k})_{+}^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &\geqslant \frac{s}{n} \| (V_{k})_{+}(\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p+1} - \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2}\right) \| h \|_{L^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \| (V_{k})_{+}(\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q+1}, \end{aligned}$$

with $m = \frac{p+1}{p-q}$ (recall (1.1.5)). Therefore, from Lemma 3.2.4 (applied here with $\alpha := \|(V_k)_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$) we deduce that

$$\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{F}'_{\varepsilon}(V_k), V_k \rangle \ge -\bar{C} \, \varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}}.$$

34 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

Going back to (3.2.22), this implies that

(3.2.23)
$$\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k) \ge -c_0 \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} - \bar{C} \varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}} + o_k(1).$$

Step 2: Lower bound for $\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_k)$. First of all, by the definition of W_k in (3.2.14), Proposition 1.2.1 and (3.2.3), we have that

(3.2.24)
$$\begin{aligned} \left| \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(W_{k})_{+}^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx \right| &\leq \varepsilon \, \|h\|_{L^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|(W_{k})_{+}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q+1} \\ &\leq \varepsilon \, C \, \|h\|_{L^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|(U_{k})_{+}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q+1} \\ &\leq \varepsilon \, C \, \|h\|_{L^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|U_{k}\|_{a}^{q+1} \leq C\varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, from (3.2.18) we get

$$(3.2.25) \qquad \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla W_k|^2 \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_k)^{p+1}_+(x,0) \, dx \right|$$
$$\leqslant \left| \langle \mathfrak{F}'_{\varepsilon}(W_k), W_k \rangle \right| + \left| \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (W_k)^{q+1}_+(x,0) \, dx \right|$$
$$\leqslant C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1),$$

where (3.2.21) was also used in the last passage. Moreover, notice that $W_k = U_k$ in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B_{r+\bar{l}+1}$ (recall (3.2.12) and (3.2.14)). Hence, using (3.2.6) with $\rho := r + \bar{l} + 1$, we get

$$(3.2.26) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r+\bar{l}+1}} y^a |\nabla W_k|^2 dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_{r+\bar{l}+1} \cap \{y=0\}\}} (W_k)^{2^*_s}_+(x,0) dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r+\bar{l}+1}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_{r+\bar{l}+1} \cap \{y=0\}\}} (U_k)^{2^*_s}_+(x,0) dx \ge \eta_0,$$

for $k = k(\rho)$. We observe that k tends to $+\infty$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$, thanks to (3.2.7) and (3.2.9).

From (3.2.26) we obtain that either

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_{r+\bar{l}+1} \cap \{y=0\}\}} (W_k)_+^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx \ge \frac{\eta_0}{2}$$

or

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r+\bar{l}+1}} y^a |\nabla W_k|^2 \, dX \ge \frac{\eta_0}{2}.$$

In the first case, we get that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_k)_+^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx(x,0) \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_{r+\bar{l}+1} \cap \{y=0\}\}} (W_k)_+^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx(x,0) \ge \frac{\eta_0}{2}.$$
In the second case, taking ε small (and so k large enough), by (3.2.25) we obtain that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_k)^{p+1}_+(x,0) \, dx \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla W_k|^2 \, dX - C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma} - o_k(1)$$
$$\ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r+\bar{l}+1}} y^a |\nabla W_k|^2 \, dX - C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma} - o_k(1)$$
$$> \frac{\eta_0}{4}.$$

Hence, in both the cases we have that

(3.2.27)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx > \frac{\eta_0}{4}.$$

Now we define $\psi_k := \alpha_k W_k$, with

$$\alpha_k^{p-1} := \frac{[W_k]_a^2}{\|(W_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}}$$

Notice that from (3.2.21) we have that

$$\begin{split} [W_k]_a^2 &\leqslant \|(W_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} + \left|\varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x)(W_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx\right| + C \, \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1) \\ &\leqslant \|(W_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} + C \, \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1) \end{split}$$

where (3.2.24) was used in the last line. Hence, thanks to (3.2.27), we get that

(3.2.28)
$$\alpha_k^{p-1} \leqslant 1 + C\varepsilon^{1/2\gamma} + o_k(1)$$

Also, we notice that for this value of α_k , we have the following:

$$[\psi_k]_a^2 = \alpha_k^2 [W_k]_a^2 = \alpha_k^{p+1} \| (W_k)_+ (\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} = \| (\psi_k)_+ (\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}.$$

Thus, by (1.2.6) and Proposition 1.2.1, we obtain

$$S \leqslant \frac{[\psi_k(\cdot,0)]_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2}{\|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2} = \frac{[\psi_k]_a^2}{\|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2}$$
$$= \frac{\|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}}{\|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2} = \|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\frac{4s}{n-2s}}.$$

In the last equality we have used the fact that $p + 1 = 2_s^*$. Consequently,

$$\|(W_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} = \frac{\|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}}{\alpha_k^{p+1}} \ge S^{n/2s} \frac{1}{\alpha_k^{p+1}}.$$

This together with (3.2.28) give that

$$S^{n/2s} \leqslant (1 + C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1))^{\frac{p+1}{p-1}} \| (W_k)_+ (\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}$$

$$\leqslant \| (W_k)_+ (\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} + C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1).$$

36 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

Also, we observe that

$$\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} = \frac{s}{n}.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_k) &- \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(W_k), W_k \rangle &= \frac{s}{n} \| (W_k)_+ (\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} \\ &- \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (W_k)_+^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &\geqslant \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - C \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1). \end{aligned}$$

Finally, using also (3.2.21), we get

(3.2.29)
$$\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_k) \ge \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma} + o_k(1).$$

Step 3: Lower bound for $\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k)$. We first observe that, thanks to (3.2.14), we can write

(3.2.30)
$$U_k = (1 - \chi)U_k + \chi U_k = W_k + V_k.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) &= \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_{k}) + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_{k}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla V_{k}, \nabla W_{k} \rangle \, dX \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})^{p+1}_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(V_{k})^{q+1}_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (W_{k})^{p+1}_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(W_{k})^{q+1}_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})^{p+1}_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(U_{k})^{q+1}_{+}(x,0) \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla V_k, \nabla W_k \rangle \, dX$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_k - \nabla V_k, \nabla V_k \rangle \, dX + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_k - \nabla W_k, \nabla W_k \rangle \, dX.$

Recall also that, according to (1.2.11),

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k) - \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), V_k \rangle \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} y^a \langle \nabla U_k - \nabla V_k, \nabla V_k \rangle \, dX \\ &\quad -\varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (U_k)_+^q(x, 0) \, V_k(x, 0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k(x, 0))_+^p \, V_k(x, 0) \, dx \\ &\quad +\varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{p+1}(x, 0) \, dx, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k) - \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(W_k), W_k \rangle \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} y^a \langle \nabla U_k - \nabla W_k, \nabla W_k \rangle \, dX \\ &\quad -\varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (U_k)_+^q(x, 0) \, W_k(x, 0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)_+^p(x, 0) \, W_k(x, 0) \, dx \\ &\quad +\varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (W_k)_+^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_k)_+^{p+1}(x, 0) \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, plugging the three formulas above into (3.2.31) we get

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) &= \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_{k}) + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_{k}) + \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{k}) - \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_{k}), V_{k} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{k}) - \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{k}), W_{k} \rangle \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x, 0) \, dx + \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(V_{k})_{+}^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (W_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x, 0) \, dx + \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(W_{k})_{+}^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x, 0) \, dx - \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(U_{k})_{+}^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(U_{k})_{+}^{q}(x, 0) \, V_{k}(x, 0) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p}(x, 0) \, V_{k}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(V_{k})_{+}^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(U_{k})_{+}^{q}(x, 0) \, W_{k}(x, 0) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p}(x, 0) \, W_{k}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(W_{k})_{+}^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (W_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x, 0) \, dx. \end{split}$$

Notice that all the integrals with ε in front are bounded. Therefore, using this and (3.2.17) and (3.2.18) we obtain that

$$(3.2.32)$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) \geq \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_{k}) + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_{k})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx + \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (W_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx$$

$$- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p}(x,0) \, V_{k}(x,0) \, dx$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p}(x,0) \, W_{k}(x,0) \, dx$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (W_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx - C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma},$$

for some positive C. We observe that, thanks to (3.2.30),

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)_+^p(x,0) V_k(x,0) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)_+^p(x,0) W_k(x,0) dx$$

= $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)_+^p(x,0) (V_k(x,0) + W_k(x,0)) dx$
= $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) dx.$

Therefore, (3.2.32) becomes

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) & \geqslant \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_{k}) + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_{k}) \\ & + \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx + \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (W_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ & - \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ & + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (W_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0)^{p+1} \, dx - C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma} \\ & = \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_{k}) + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_{k}) \\ & + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) - (V_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) - (W_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx - C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma} \\ & = \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_{k}) + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_{k}) \\ & + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \left(1 - \chi^{p+1}(x,0) - (1 - \chi(x,0))^{p+1}\right) \, dx - C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma}, \end{split}$$

where (3.2.14) was used in the last line. Since p + 1 > 2 and

$$1 - \chi^{p+1}(x,0) - (1 - \chi(x,0))^{p+1} \ge 0 \quad \text{for any } x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

this implies that

$$\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) \ge \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k) + \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(W_k) - C\varepsilon^{1/\gamma}.$$

This, (3.2.23) and (3.2.29) imply that

$$\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) \geq \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - c_1 \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} - \bar{C} \varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}} + o_k(1).$$

Hence, taking the limit as $k \to +\infty$ we obtain that

$$c_{\varepsilon} = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) \geqslant \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - c_1 \varepsilon^{1/\gamma} - \bar{C} \varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}},$$

which is a contradiction with assumption (i) of Proposition 3.2.1. This concludes the proof of Lemma 3.2.5.

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 3.2.1. By Lemma 3.2.5, we know that $\{U_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a tight sequence. Moreover, from Lemma 3.2.3 we have that $[U_k]_a \leq$ M, for M > 0. Hence, also $\{(U_k)_+\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a bounded tight sequence in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Therefore, there exists $\overline{U} \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ such that

$$(U_k)_+ \rightharpoonup \overline{U} \qquad \text{in } \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$$

Also, we observe that Theorem 1.1.4 in [24] implies that there exist two measures on \mathbb{R}^n and \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ , ν and μ respectively, such that $(U_k)^{2^*_s}_+(x,0)$ converges to ν and $y^a |\nabla(U_k)_+|^2$ converges to μ as $k \to +\infty$, according to Definition 2.2.2.

Hence, we can apply Proposition 2.2.3 and we obtain that (3.2.33)

$$(U_k)^{2^*}_+(\cdot,0)$$
 converges to $\nu = \overline{U}^{2^*}_s(\cdot,0) + \sum_{j \in J} \nu_j \delta_{x_j}$ as $k \to +\infty$, with $\nu_j \ge 0$,

(3.2.34)

 $|y^a|\nabla(U_k)_+|^2$ converges to $\mu \ge y^a |\nabla \overline{U}|^2 + \sum_{j \in J} \mu_j \delta_{(x_j,0)}$ as $k \to +\infty$, with $\mu_j \ge 0$, and

(3.2.35)
$$\mu_j \ge S\nu_j^{2/2_s^*} \text{ for all } j \in J,$$

where J is an at most countable set.

We want to prove that $\mu_j = \nu_j = 0$ for any $j \in J$. For this, we suppose by contradiction that there exists $j \in J$ such that $\mu_j \neq 0$. We denote $X_i := (x_i, 0)$. Moreover, we fix $\delta > 0$ and we consider a cut-off function $\phi_{\delta} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, [0, 1]),$ defined as

$$\phi_{\delta}(X) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } X \in B^+_{\delta/2}(X_j), \\ 0, & \text{if } X \in (B^+_{\delta}(X_j))^c, \end{cases}$$

with $|\nabla \phi_{\delta}| \leq \frac{C}{\delta}$. We claim that there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$(3.2.36) \qquad \qquad [\phi_{\delta} (U_k)_+]_a \leqslant C_k$$

40 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

Indeed, we compute

$$\begin{split} \left[\phi_{\delta}\left(U_{k}\right)_{+}\right]_{a}^{2} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla(\phi_{\delta}(U_{k})_{+})|^{2} dX \\ &= \int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} |\nabla\phi_{\delta}|^{2} (U_{k})_{+}^{2} dX + \int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} \phi_{\delta}^{2} |\nabla(U_{k})_{+}|^{2} dX \\ &\quad + 2 \int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} \phi_{\delta}\left(U_{k}\right)_{+} \langle \nabla\phi_{\delta}, \nabla(U_{k})_{+} \rangle dX \\ &\leqslant \frac{C^{2}}{\delta^{2}} \int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2} dX + \int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} dX \\ &\quad + \frac{2C}{\delta} \int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} |U_{k}| |\nabla U_{k}| dX \\ &\leqslant C \left(\int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2\gamma} dX \right)^{1/\gamma} + \int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} dX \\ &\quad + C \left(\int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2\gamma} dX \right)^{1/2\gamma} \left(\int_{B^{+}_{\delta}(X_{j})} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} dX \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant C M^{2}, \end{split}$$

up to renaming C, where we have used Proposition 2.1.1 and Lemma 3.2.3 in the last step. This shows (3.2.36).

Hence, from (1.2.11), (3.2.36) and (ii) in Proposition 3.2.1 we deduce that

$$(3.2.37)$$

$$0 = \lim_{k \to \infty} \langle \mathcal{F}'_{\varepsilon}(U_k), \phi_{\delta}(U_k)_+ \rangle$$

$$= \lim_{k \to \infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla(\phi_{\delta}(U_k)_+) \rangle dX - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \phi_{\delta}(x, 0) \langle U_k \rangle_+^{q+1}(x, 0) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi_{\delta}(x, 0) \langle U_k \rangle_+^{p+1}(x, 0) dx \right)$$

$$= \lim_{k \to \infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla(U_k)_+|^2 \phi_{\delta} dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(U_k)_+, \nabla \phi_{\delta} \rangle \langle U_k \rangle_+ dX - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \phi_{\delta}(x, 0) \langle U_k \rangle_+^{q+1}(x, 0) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi_{\delta}(x, 0) \langle U_k \rangle_+^{p+1}(x, 0) dx \right).$$

Now we recall that $p + 1 = 2_s^*$, and so, using (3.2.33) and (3.2.34), we have that

(3.2.38)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi_{\delta}(x,0) (U_k)^{p+1}_+(x,0) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, d\nu$$

(3.2.39) and
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla(U_k)_+|^2 \phi_\delta \, dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \phi_\delta \, d\mu.$$

Also, we observe that $\operatorname{supp}(\phi_{\delta}) \subseteq B^+_{\delta}(X_j)$. Moreover $[(U_k)_+(\cdot, 0)]_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)} =$ $[(U_k)_+]_a \leq M$, thanks to (1.2.6) and Lemma 3.2.3. Finally, the Hölder inequality and Proposition 1.2.1 imply that $||(U_k)_+(\cdot,0)||_{L^2(B^+_{\delta}(x_j))} \leq C$, for a suitable positive constant C. Hence, we can apply Theorem 7.1 in [21] and we obtain that

(3.2.40)

 $(U_k)_+(\cdot,0)$ converges to $\overline{U}(\cdot,0)$ strongly in $L^r(B^+_{\delta}(x_j))$ as $k \to +\infty$, for any $r \in [1,2]$.

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x)\phi_{\delta}(x,0)(U_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0)\,dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x)\phi_{\delta}(x,0)\overline{U}^{q+1}(x,0)\,dx \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{B_{\delta}^+(X_j)\cap\{y=0\}} h(x)\,\phi_{\delta}(x,0)((U_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) - \overline{U}^{q+1}(x,0))\,dx \right| \\ &\leq \|h\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \left| \int_{B_{\delta}^+(X_j)\cap\{y=0\}} ((U_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) - \overline{U}^{q+1}(x,0))\,dx \right|, \end{aligned}$$

which together with (3.2.40) implies that (3.2.41)

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x)\phi_{\delta}(x,0)(U_k)^{q+1}_+(x,0)\,dx = \int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j) \cap \{y=0\}} h(x)\phi_{\delta}(x,0)\,\overline{U}^{q+1}(x,0)\,dx.$$

Finally, taking the limit as $\delta \to 0$ we get

(3.2.42)
$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \phi_{\delta}(x,0) (U_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx$$
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{B_{\delta}^+(X_j) \cap \{y=0\}} h(x) \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, \overline{U}^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx = 0$$

Also, by the Hölder inequality and Lemma 3.2.3 we obtain that (3.2.43)

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(U_k)_+, \nabla\phi_\delta \rangle(U_k)_+ dX \right| &= \left| \int_{B^+_\delta(X_j)} y^a \langle \nabla(U_k)_+, \nabla\phi_\delta \rangle(U_k)_+ dX \right| \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{B^+_\delta(X_j)} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 dX \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{B^+_\delta(X_j)} y^a (U_k)^2_+ |\nabla\phi_\delta|^2 dX \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant M \left(\int_{B^+_\delta(X_j)} y^a (U_k)^2_+ |\nabla\phi_\delta|^2 dX \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Notice that, since $\{(U_k)_+\}$ is a bounded sequence in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, using Lemma 2.1.2, we have

(3.2.44)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} (U_{k})^{2}_{+} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2} dX = \int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} \overline{U}^{2} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2} dX.$$

42 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

Moreover, by the Hölder inequality, (3.2.45)

$$\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} \overline{U}^{2} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2} dX \leq \left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} \overline{U}^{2\gamma} dX \right)^{1/\gamma} \left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2\gamma'} dX \right)^{1/\gamma'},$$

where

(3.2.46) $\gamma' = \frac{n-2s+2}{2}.$

Thus, taking into account that $|\nabla \phi_{\delta}| \leq \frac{C}{\delta}$, we have

$$\left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2\gamma'} dX \right)^{1/\gamma'} \leqslant \frac{C^{2}}{\delta^{2}} \left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} dX \right)^{1/\gamma'} \\ \leqslant \frac{C^{2}}{\delta^{2}} \delta^{\frac{n+1+a}{\gamma'}}.$$

We recall (3.2.46) and that a = 1 - 2s, and we obtain that

$$\frac{n+1+a}{\gamma'} - 2 = 0,$$

and so

$$\left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2\gamma'} \, dX\right)^{1/\gamma'} \leqslant C^{2}.$$

This and (3.2.45) give that

$$\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} \overline{U}^{2} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2} dX \leqslant C^{2} \left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} \overline{U}^{2\gamma} dX \right)^{1/\gamma},$$

Hence

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j)} y^a \overline{U}^2 |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^2 \, dX \leqslant C^2 \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(\int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j)} y^a \overline{U}^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{1/\gamma} = 0.$$

From this and (3.2.44) we obtain (3.2.47)

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{B_{\delta}^+(X_j)} y^a (U_k)_+^2 |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^2 \, dX = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{B_{\delta}^+(X_j)} y^a \overline{U}^2 |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^2 \, dX = 0.$$

Using (3.2.38), (3.2.39), (3.2.42) and (3.2.47) in (3.2.37), we obtain that

$$(3.2.48) \qquad 0 = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{k \to \infty} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), \phi_{\delta}(U_k)_+ \rangle \\ = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \phi_{\delta} \, d\mu - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, d\nu \right) \\ = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(\int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j)} \phi_{\delta} \, d\mu - \int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j) \cap \{y=0\}} \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, d\nu \right) \\ \ge \mu_j - \nu_j,$$

thanks to (3.2.33) and (3.2.34). Therefore, recalling (3.2.35), we obtain that

$$\nu_j \geqslant \mu_j \geqslant S \, \nu_j^{2/2^*_s}.$$

Hence, either $\nu_j = \mu_j = 0$ or $\nu_j^{1-2/2^*} \ge S$. Since we are assuming that $\mu_j \ne 0$, the first possibility cannot occur, and so, from the second one, we have that

Now, from Lemma 3.2.3 we know that $[(U_k)_+(\cdot, 0)]_a \leq M$. Moreover we observe that $q + 1 < 2 < 2_s^*$. Hence Proposition 1.2.1 and the compact embedding in Theorem 7.1 in [21] imply that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(U_k)_+(\cdot,0) - \overline{U}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} &\leq 2M \\ \text{and} \quad (U_k)_+(\cdot,0) \to \overline{U}(\cdot,0) \text{ in } L^{q+1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n) \text{ as } k \to +\infty. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, recalling (1.1.5) and (1.1.3), and using the Hölder inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_k)_+(x,0) - \overline{U}(x,0) \right)^{q+1} dx \right| \\ &\leqslant \int_{B_R} |h(x)| \left| (U_k)_+(x,0) - \overline{U}(x,0) \right|^{q+1} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_R} |h(x)| \left| (U_k)_+(x,0) - \overline{U}(x,0) \right|^{q+1} dx \\ &\leqslant \|h\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \| ((U_k)_+ - \overline{U})(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{q+1}(B_R)} + \|h\|_{L^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_R)} \| ((U_k)_+ - \overline{U})(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{2^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \\ &\leqslant C \| ((U_k)_+ - \overline{U})(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{q+1}(B_R)} + (2M)^{q+1} \|h\|_{L^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_R)}, \end{split}$$

where α satisfies $\frac{1}{\alpha} = 1 - \frac{q+1}{2_s^*}$. Hence, letting first $k \to +\infty$ and then $R \to +\infty$, we conclude that

(3.2.50)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (U_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \overline{U}^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx.$$

On the other hand, let $\{\varphi_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}} \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be a sequence such that $0 \leq \varphi_m \leq 1$ and $\lim_{m\to\infty} \varphi_m(x) = 1$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Thus, by (3.2.33), we have that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)^{p+1}_+(x,0) \, dx \ge \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)^{p+1}_+(x,0)\varphi_m \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_m \, d\nu.$$

Furthermore, by Fatou's lemma and (3.2.49),

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_m \, d\nu \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \, d\nu \ge S^{n/2s} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{U}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx.$$

44 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

So, using the last two formulas we get

(3.2.51)
$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx = \lim_{m \to +\infty} \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx$$
$$\geqslant \lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_m \, d\nu$$
$$\geqslant S^{n/2s} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{U}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx.$$

Now, since $[U_k]_a \leq M$ (thanks to Lemma 3.2.3), from (ii) in Proposition 3.2.1 we have that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), U_k \rangle = 0,$$

and so, by hypothesis (i) we get

(3.2.52)
$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \left(\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), U_k \rangle \right) = c_{\varepsilon}.$$

On the other hand,

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \left(\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{F}'_{\varepsilon}(U_k), U_k \rangle \right)$$

=
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)^{p+1}_+(x, 0) \, dx - \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (U_k)^{q+1}_+(x, 0) \, dx \right).$$

We notice that

W

$$\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} = \frac{s}{n},$$

and so from (3.2.50) and (3.2.51) we obtain that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \left(\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), U_k \rangle \right)$$

$$\geq \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} + \frac{s}{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{U}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx - \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \overline{U}^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx$$

$$\geq \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} + \frac{s}{n} \| \overline{U}(\cdot,0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} - \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \| h \|_{L^m(\mathbb{R}^n)} \| \overline{U}(\cdot,0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{q+1}$$

$$\geq \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - \bar{C} \varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}},$$

where we have applied Lemma 3.2.4 with $\alpha := \|\overline{U}(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ in the last line. This and (3.2.52) imply that

$$c_{\varepsilon} \geqslant \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - \bar{C} \varepsilon^{\frac{p+1}{p-q}},$$

which gives a contradiction with (3.2.1).

Therefore, necessarily $\mu_j = \nu_j = 0$. Repeating this argument for every $j \in J$, we obtain that $\mu_j = \nu_j = 0$ for any $j \in J$. Hence, by (3.2.33),

(3.2.53)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)_+^{2^*_s}(x,0)\varphi \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{U}^{2^*_s}(x,0)\varphi \, dx,$$

for any $\varphi \in C_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Then the desired result will follow. Indeed, we use Lemmata 3.1.1 and 3.1.2, with $v_k(x) := (U_k)_+(x,0)$ and $v(x) := \overline{U}(x,0)$. More precisely, condition (3.1.4) is guaranteed by (3.2.53), while condition (3.1.5) follows from Lemma 3.2.5. This says that we can use Lemma 3.1.2 and obtain that $(U_k)_+(\cdot,0) \to \overline{U}(\cdot,0)$ in $L^{2^*}(\mathbb{R}^n, [0, +\infty))$. With this, the assumptions of Lemma 3.1.1 are satisfied, which in turn gives that

and
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(U_k)^q_+(x,0) - \overline{U}^q(x,0)|^{\frac{2s}{q}} dx = 0$$
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(U_k)^p_+(x,0) - \overline{U}^p(x,0)|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} dx = 0.$$

Therefore, we can fix $\delta \in (0, 1)$, to be taken arbitrarily small in the sequel, and say that

(3.2.54)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(U_k)^q_+(x,0) - (U_m)^q_+(x,0)|^{\frac{2s}{q}} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(U_k)^p_+(x,0) - (U_m)^p_+(x,0)|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} dx \leq \delta$$

for any k, m large enough, say larger than some $k_{\star}(\delta)$.

Let us now take $\Phi \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ with

(3.2.55)
$$[\Phi]_a = 1.$$

By assumption (ii) in Proposition 3.2.1 we know that for large k (again, say, up to renaming quantities, that $k \ge k_{\star}(\delta)$),

$$|\langle \mathcal{F}'_{\varepsilon}(U_k), \Phi \rangle| \leq \delta.$$

This and (1.2.11) say that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_k(X), \nabla \Phi(X) \rangle \, dX - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left(U_k \right)^q_+(x,0) \phi(x) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)^p_+(x,0) \phi(x) \, dx \right| \leq \delta,$$

where $\phi(x) := \Phi(x, 0)$. In particular, for $k, m \ge k_{\star}(\delta)$,

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(U_k(X) - U_m(X)), \nabla\Phi(X) \rangle \, dX - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_k)^q_+(x,0) - (U_m)^q_+(x,0) \right) \phi(x) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_k)^p_+(x,0) - (U_m)^p_+(x,0) \right) \phi(x) \, dx \right| \leq 2\delta$$

46 3. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMAL SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2

So, using the Hölder inequality with exponents $\frac{2n}{n+2s-q(n-2s)} \frac{2_s^*}{q} = \frac{2n}{q(n-2s)}$ and $2_s^* = \frac{2n}{n-2s}$, and with exponents $\frac{2_s^*}{p} = \frac{2n}{n+2s}$ and 2_s^* , we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}^{n+1}} y^{a} \langle \nabla(U_{k}(X) - U_{m}(X)), \nabla\Phi(X) \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{k})_{+}^{q}(x,0) - (U_{m})_{+}^{q}(x,0) \right) \phi(x) \, dx \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{k})_{+}^{p}(x,0) - (U_{m})_{+}^{p}(x,0) \right) \phi(x) \, dx \right| + 2\delta \end{aligned} \\ &\leq \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |h(x)|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s-q(n-2s)}} \, dx \right]^{\frac{n+2s-q(n-2s)}{2n}} \\ &\cdot \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(U_{k})_{+}^{q}(x,0) - (U_{m})_{+}^{q}(x,0)|^{\frac{2s}{q}} \, dx \right]^{\frac{q(n-2s)}{2n}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\phi(x)|^{2s} \, dx \right]^{\frac{1}{2s}} \\ &+ \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| (U_{k})_{+}^{p}(x,0) - (U_{m})_{+}^{p}(x,0) \right|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} \, dx \right]^{\frac{n+2s}{2n}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\phi(x)|^{2s} \, dx \right]^{\frac{1}{2s}} + 2\delta. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, by (1.1.5) and (3.2.54),

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla (U_{k}(X) - U_{m}(X)), \nabla \Phi(X) \rangle \, dX \right| \leq C \, \delta^{\frac{q(n-2s)}{2n}} \, \|\phi\|_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + C \, \delta^{\frac{n+2s}{2n}} \, \|\phi\|_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + 2\delta,$$

for some C > 0. Now, by (1.2.7) and (3.2.55), we have that $\|\phi\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq S^{-1/2}[\Phi]_a = S^{-1/2}$, therefore, up to renaming constants,

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(U_k(X) - U_m(X)), \nabla \Phi(X) \rangle \, dX \right| \leq C \delta^{\gamma}$$

for some $C, \gamma > 0$, as long as $k, m \ge k_{\star}(\delta)$. Since this inequality is valid for any Φ satisfying (3.2.55), we have proved that

$$[U_k - U_m]_a \leqslant C\delta^{\gamma},$$

that says that U_k is a Cauchy sequence in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, and then the desired result follows.

3.3. Proof of Theorem 1.2.2

With all this, we are in the position to prove Theorem 1.2.2.

PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.2. We recall that (1.1.5) holds true. Thus, applying the Hölder inequality and Proposition 1.2.1, for $U \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U) & \geqslant \quad \frac{1}{2} [U]_{a}^{2} - c_{1} \| U_{+}(\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p+1} - c_{2}\varepsilon \| h \|_{L^{m}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \| U_{+}(\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q+1} \\ & \geqslant \quad \frac{1}{2} [U]_{a}^{2} - \tilde{c}_{1} [U]_{a}^{p+1} - \varepsilon \tilde{c}_{2} [U]_{a}^{q+1}. \end{aligned}$$

We consider the function

$$\phi(t) = \frac{1}{2}t^2 - \tilde{c}_1 t^{p+1} - \varepsilon \tilde{c}_2 t^{q+1}, \qquad t \ge 0.$$

Since q+1 < 2 < p+1, we have that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ we can find $\rho = \rho(\varepsilon) > 0$ satisfying $\phi(\rho) = 0$ and $\phi(t) < 0$ for any $t \in (0, \rho)$. As a matter of fact, ρ is the first zero of the function ϕ .

Furthermore, it is not difficult to see that

(3.3.1)
$$\rho(\varepsilon) \to 0 \quad \text{as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$

Thus, there exist $c_0 > 0$ and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$,

(3.3.2)
$$\begin{cases} \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U) \ge -c_0 & \text{if } [U]_a < \rho(\varepsilon_0), \\ \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U) > 0 & \text{if } [U]_a = \rho(\varepsilon_0). \end{cases}$$

Now we take $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+), \varphi \ge 0, [\varphi]_a = 1$, and such that $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi(\cdot, 0)) \subset B$, where B is given in condition (1.1.4). Hence, for any t > 0,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(t\varphi) &= \frac{1}{2}t^2 - \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1}t^{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x)\varphi^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx - \frac{t^{p+1}}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{2}t^2 - \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1}t^{q+1} \inf_B h \int_B \varphi^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx - \frac{t^{p+1}}{p+1} \int_B \varphi^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

This inequality and condition (1.1.4) give that, for any $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ (possibly taking ε_0 smaller) there exists $t_0 < \rho(\varepsilon_0)$ such that, for any $t < t_0$, we have

$$\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(t\varphi) < 0$$

This implies that

$$i_{\varepsilon} := \inf_{U \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+), [U]_a < \rho(\varepsilon_0)} \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U) < 0.$$

This and (3.3.2) give that, for $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$,

$$-\infty < -c_0 \leqslant i_{\varepsilon} < 0$$

Now we take a minimizing sequence $\{U_k\}$ and we observe that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} i_{\varepsilon} \leqslant 0 < \frac{s}{n} S^{\frac{n}{2s}}.$$

Hence, condition (3.2.1) is satisfied with $c_{\varepsilon} := i_{\varepsilon}$, and so we can apply Proposition 3.2.1 and we conclude that i_{ε} is attained at some minimum U_{ε} .

Finally, since $[U_{\varepsilon}]_a \leq \rho(\varepsilon_0)$, (3.3.1) implies that U_{ε} converges to 0 in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ as ε tends to 0. This concludes the proof of Theorem 1.2.2. \Box

CHAPTER 4

Regularity and positivity of the solution

4.1. A regularity result

In this section we show a regularity result that allows us to say that a nonnegative solution to (1.1.1) is bounded.

PROPOSITION 4.1.1. Let $u \in \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ be a nonnegative solution to the problem

$$(-\Delta)^s u = f(x, u)$$
 in \mathbb{R}^n

and assume that $|f(x,t)| \leq C(1+|t|^p)$, for some $1 \leq p \leq 2_s^* - 1$ and C > 0. Then $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

PROOF. Let $\beta \ge 1$ and T > 0, and let us define

$$\varphi(t) = \begin{cases} 0, \text{ if } t \leq 0, \\ t^{\beta}, \text{ if } 0 < t < T, \\ \beta T^{\beta - 1}(t - T) + T^{\beta}, \text{ if } t \geq T. \end{cases}$$

Since φ is convex and Lipschitz,

(4.1.1)
$$\varphi(u) \in \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

and

(4.1.2)
$$(-\Delta)^s \varphi(u) \leqslant \varphi'(u) (-\Delta)^s u$$

in the weak sense.

We recall that (1.2.6) and Proposition 1.2.1 imply that, for any $u \in \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$,

$$||u||_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq S^{-2}[u]_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Moreover, by Proposition 3.6 in [21] we have that

$$[u]_{\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

Hence, from (4.1.1), an integration by parts and (4.1.2) we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi(u)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 &\leqslant S^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} \varphi(u)|^2 \, dx \\ &= S^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(u) (-\Delta)^s \varphi(u) \, dx \leqslant S^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(u) \, \varphi'(u) (-\Delta)^s u \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, from the assumption on u and f we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi(u)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 &\leqslant S^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(u) \,\varphi'(u)(1+u^{2^*_s-1}) \,dx \\ &= S^{-1} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(u) \,\varphi'(u) \,dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(u) \,\varphi'(u) \,u^{2^*_s-1} \,dx \right) \,. \end{aligned}$$

Using that $\varphi(u)\varphi'(u) \leqslant \beta u^{2\beta-1}$ and $u\varphi'(u) \leqslant \beta \varphi(u)$, we have

(4.1.3)
$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\varphi(u))^{2^*_s}\right)^{2/2^*_s} \leq C\beta \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2\beta-1} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\varphi(u))^2 u^{2^*_s-2} dx\right),$$

where C is a positive constant that does not depend on β . Notice that the last integral is well defined for every T in the definition of φ . Indeed,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\varphi(u))^2 u^{2^*_s - 2} \, dx = \int_{\{u \leqslant T\}} (\varphi(u))^2 u^{2^*_s - 2} \, dx + \int_{\{u > T\}} (\varphi(u))^2 u^{2^*_s - 2} \, dx$$
$$\leqslant T^{2\beta - 2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s} \, dx + C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s} \, dx < +\infty,$$

where we have used that $\beta > 1$ and that $\varphi(u)$ is linear when $u \ge T$. We choose now β in (4.1.3) such that $2\beta - 1 = 2^*_s$, and we name it β_1 , that is,

(4.1.4)
$$\beta_1 := \frac{2^*_s + 1}{2}$$

Let R > 0 to be fixed later. Attending to the last integral in (4.1.3) and applying the Hölder's inequality with exponents $r := 2_s^*/2$ and $r' := 2_s^*/(2_s^* - 2)$,

$$\begin{aligned} &(4.1.5) \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\varphi(u))^2 u^{2^*_s - 2} \, dx = \int_{\{u \leqslant R\}} (\varphi(u))^2 u^{2^*_s - 2} \, dx + \int_{\{u > R\}} (\varphi(u))^2 u^{2^*_s - 2} \, dx \\ &\leqslant \int_{\{u \leqslant R\}} \frac{(\varphi(u))^2}{u} R^{2^*_s - 1} \, dx + \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\varphi(u))^{2^*_s} \, dx\right)^{2/2^*_s} \left(\int_{\{u > R\}} u^{2^*_s} \, dx\right)^{\frac{2^*_s - 2}{2^*_s}} \end{aligned}$$

By the Monotone Convergence Theorem, we can choose ${\cal R}$ large enough so that

$$\left(\int_{\{u>R\}} u^{2^*_s} \, dx\right)^{\frac{2^*_s-2}{2^*_s}} \leqslant \frac{1}{2C\beta_1},$$

where C is the constant appearing in (4.1.3). Therefore, we can absorb the last term in (4.1.5) by the left hand side of (4.1.3) to get

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\varphi(u))^{2^*_s} \, dx\right)^{2/2^*_s} \leqslant 2C\beta_1 \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s} \, dx + R^{2^*_s - 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{(\varphi(u))^2}{u} \, dx\right),$$

where (4.1.4) is also used. Now we use that $\varphi(u) \leq u^{\beta_1}$ and (4.1.4) once again in the right hand side and we take $T \to \infty$: we obtain

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s \beta_1} \, dx\right)^{2/2^*_s} \leqslant 2C\beta_1 \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s} \, dx + R^{2^*_s - 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s} \, dx\right) < +\infty,$$

and therefore

(4.1.6)
$$u \in L^{2^*_s \beta_1}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Let us suppose now $\beta > \beta_1$. Thus, using that $\varphi(u) \leq u^{\beta}$ in the right hand side of (4.1.3) and letting $T \to \infty$ we get

(4.1.7)
$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s\beta} dx\right)^{2/2^*_s} \leq C\beta \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2\beta-1} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2\beta+2^*_s-2} dx\right).$$

Furthermore, we can write

$$u^{2\beta-1} = u^a u^b,$$

with $a := \frac{2_s^*(2_s^*-1)}{2(\beta-1)}$ and $b := 2\beta - 1 - a$. Notice that, since $\beta > \beta_1$, then $0 < a, b < 2_s^*$. Hence, applying Young's inequality with exponents

$$r := 2_s^*/a$$
 and $r' := 2_s^*/(2_s^* - a),$

there holds

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2\beta-1} \, dx &\leq \frac{a}{2^*_s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s} \, dx + \frac{2^*_s - a}{2^*_s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{\frac{2^*_s b}{2^*_s - a}} \, dx \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s} \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2\beta + 2^*_s - 2} \, dx \\ &\leq C \left(1 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2\beta + 2^*_s - 2} \, dx \right), \end{split}$$

with C > 0 independent of β . Plugging this into (4.1.7),

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s\beta} \, dx\right)^{2/2^*_s} \leqslant C\beta \left(1 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2\beta + 2^*_s - 2} \, dx\right),$$

with C changing from line to line, but remaining independent of β . Therefore, (4.1.8)

$$\left(1+\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s\beta} \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2^*_s(\beta-1)}} \leqslant (C\beta)^{\frac{1}{2(\beta-1)}} \left(1+\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2\beta+2^*_s-2} \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2(\beta-1)}},$$

that is (2.6) in [8, Proposition 2.2]. From now on, we follow exactly their iterative argument. That is, we define β_{m+1} , $m \ge 1$, so that

$$2\beta_{m+1} + 2_s^* - 2 = 2_s^*\beta_m.$$

Thus,

$$\beta_{m+1} - 1 = \left(\frac{2_s^*}{2}\right)^m (\beta_1 - 1),$$

and replacing in (4.1.8) it yields

$$\left(1+\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s\beta_{m+1}} \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2^*_s(\beta_{m+1}-1)}} \leqslant (C\beta_{m+1})^{\frac{1}{2(\beta_{m+1}-1)}} \left(1+\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s\beta_m} \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2^*_s(\beta_m-1)}}.$$
 Defining $C_{m+1} := C\beta_{m+1}$ and

$$A_m := \left(1 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^{2^*_s \beta_m} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2^*_s (\beta_m - 1)}},$$

we conclude that there exists a constant $C_0 > 0$ independent of m, such that

$$A_{m+1} \leqslant \prod_{k=2}^{m+1} C_k^{\frac{1}{2(\beta_k-1)}} A_1 \leqslant C_0 A_1.$$

Thus,

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leqslant C_0 A_1 < +\infty,$$

thanks to (4.1.6). This finishes the proof of Proposition 4.1.1.

COROLLARY 4.1.2. Let $u \in \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ be a solution of (1.2.1) and let U be its extension, according to (1.2.3).

Then $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $U \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

PROOF. First we observe that $u \ge 0$, thanks to Proposition 1.2.3. Moreover, since u is a solution to (1.1.1), it solves

$$(-\Delta)^s u = f(x, u)$$
 in \mathbb{R}^n ,

where $f(x,t) := \varepsilon h(x)t_{+}^{q} + t_{+}^{p}$. It is easy to check that f satisfies the hypotheses of Proposition 4.1.1. Hence the boundedness of u simply follows from Proposition 4.1.1.

Let us now show the L^{∞} estimate for U. According to (1.2.3), for any $(x, z) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$,

$$U(x,z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u(x-y) P_s(y,z) \, dy.$$

Therefore,

$$|U(x,z)| \leq ||u||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} P_s(y,z) \, dy = ||u||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)},$$

for any $(x, z) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$, which implies the L^{∞} -bound for U, and concludes the proof of the corollary.

Finally, we can prove that a solution to (1.2.1) is continuous, as stated in the following:

COROLLARY 4.1.3. Let $u \in \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ be a solution of (1.2.1) and let U be its extension, according to (1.2.3).

Then $u \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, for any $\alpha \in (0, \min\{2s, 1\})$, and $U \in C(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

PROOF. The regularity of u follows from Corollary 4.1.2 and Proposition 5 in [**35**], being u a solution to (1.2.1). The continuity of U follows from Lemma 4.4 in [**15**].

4.2. A strong maximum principle and positivity of the solutions

In this section we deal with the problem of the positivity of the solutions to (1.2.1). We have shown in Proposition 1.2.3 that a solution of (1.2.1) is nonnegative. Here we prove that if $h \ge 0$ then the solution is strictly positive.

Following is the strong maximum principle for weak solutions needed for our purposes:

PROPOSITION 4.2.1. Let u be a bounded, continuous function, with $u \ge 0$ in \mathbb{R}^n and $(-\Delta)^s u \ge 0$ in the weak sense in Ω . If there exists $x_{\star} \in \Omega$ such that $u(x_{\star}) = 0$, then u vanishes identically in \mathbb{R}^n .

PROOF. Let R > 0 such that $B_R(x_*) \subset \Omega$. For any $r \in (0, R)$, we consider the solution of

(4.2.1)
$$\begin{cases} (-\Delta)^s v_r = 0 & \text{in } B_r(x_\star), \\ v_r = u & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_r(x_\star) \end{cases}$$

Notice that v_r may be obtained by direct minimization and v_r is continuous in the whole of \mathbb{R}^n (see e.g. Theorem 2 in [35]). Moreover, if $w_r := v_r - u$, we have that $(-\Delta)^s w_r \leq 0$ in the weak sense in $B_r(x_*)$, and w_r vanishes outside $B_r(x_*)$. Accordingly, by the weak maximum principle for weak solutions (see e.g. Lemma 6 in [35]), we have that $w_r \leq 0$ in the whole of \mathbb{R}^n , which gives that $v_r \leq u$. In particular,

$$(4.2.2) v_r(x_\star) \leqslant u(x_\star) = 0.$$

The weak maximum principle for weak solutions and the fact that $v_r = u \ge 0$ outside $B_r(x_*)$ also imply that $v_r \ge 0$ in \mathbb{R}^n . This and (4.2.2) say that

(4.2.3)
$$\min_{\mathbb{D}^n} v_r = v_r(x_\star) = 0.$$

In addition, v_r is also a solution of (4.2.1) in the viscosity sense (see e.g. Theorem 1 in [**35**]), hence it is smooth in the interior of $B_r(x_*)$, and we can compute $(-\Delta)^s v_r(x_*)$ and obtain from (4.2.3) that

$$0 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{v_r(x_\star + y) + v_r(x_\star - y) - 2v_r(x_\star)}{|y|^{n+2s}} \, dy \ge 0.$$

This implies that v_r is constant in \mathbb{R}^n , that is $v_r(x) = v_r(x_\star) = 0$ for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. In particular $0 = v_r(x) = u(x)$ for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_r(x_\star)$. By taking r arbitrarily small, we obtain that u(x) = 0 for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{x_\star\}$, and the desired result plainly follows.

Thanks to Proposition 4.2.1 we now show the positivity of solutions of (1.2.1).

4. REGULARITY AND POSITIVITY OF THE SOLUTION

COROLLARY 4.2.2. Let $u \in \dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, $u \neq 0$, be a solution of (1.2.1). Suppose also that $h \ge 0$. Then, u > 0.

PROOF. First we observe that $u \in C^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, for some $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, thanks to Corollaries 4.1.2 and 4.1.3. Also, by Proposition 1.2.3 we have that $u \ge 0$. Moreover, since u is a solution to (1.2.1) with $h \ge 0$, then u satisfies

$$(-\Delta)^s u \ge 0$$
 in \mathbb{R}^n .

This means that the hypotheses of Proposition 4.2.1 are satisfied, and so if u is equal to zero at some point then u must be identically zero in \mathbb{R}^n . This contradicts the fact that $u \neq 0$, and thus implies the desired result. \Box

CHAPTER 5

Existence of a mountain pass solution and proof of Theorem 1.2.4

5.1. Existence of a local minimum for $\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}$

In this section we show that U = 0 is a local minimum for $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$.

PROPOSITION 5.1.1. Let U_{ε} be a local positive minimum of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$ in $\dot{H}_{a}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$. Then U = 0 is a local minimum of $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$ in $\dot{H}_{a}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$.

PROOF. Let U_{ε} be a local minimum of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$ in $\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Then, there exists $\eta > 0$ such that

(5.1.1)
$$\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}+U) \ge \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}), \text{ if } u \in \dot{H}^{s}_{a}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}) \text{ s.t. } [U]_{a} \le \eta.$$

Moreover, since U_{ε} is a positive critical point of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$, we have that, for every $V \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$,

(5.1.2)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_{\varepsilon}, \nabla V \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}(x,0)^p V(x,0) \, dx \\ - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}(x,0)^q V(x,0) \, dx = 0.$$

Now, we take $U\in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ such that

$$(5.1.3) [U]_a \leqslant \eta.$$

From (1.2.15) and (1.2.17), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U|^{2} dX \\ &- \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + U_{+})^{q+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} \right) dx + \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q} U_{+} dx \\ &- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + U_{+})^{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} \right) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p} U_{+} dx. \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, recalling the definition of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$ in (1.2.10), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}+U_{+})-\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{+}|^{2} dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{\varepsilon}, \nabla U_{+} \rangle dX \\ &\quad -\frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon}+U_{+})^{q+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} \right) dx \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon}+U_{+})^{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} \right) dx \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{+}|^{2} dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{\varepsilon}, \nabla U_{+} \rangle dX \\ &\quad -\frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon}+U_{+})^{q+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} \right) dx \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon}+U_{+})^{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} \right) dx, \end{aligned}$$

where in the last equality we have used the fact that both U_{ε} and $U_{\varepsilon}+U_{+}$ are positive. Hence, the last two formulas give that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{-}|^{2} dX + \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon} + U_{+}) - \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}) \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{\varepsilon}, \nabla U_{+} \rangle \, dX \\ &+ \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q} U_{+} \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p} U_{+} \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

Using (5.1.2) with $V := U_+$, we obtain

$$\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U_-|^2 \, dX + \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon} + U_+) - \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}).$$

Moreover, we observe that $[U_+]_a \leq \eta$, thanks to (5.1.3). Hence, from (5.1.1) we deduce that

$$\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U) \geq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{-}|^{2} \, dX \geq 0 = \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(0).$$

This shows the desired result.

5.2. Some preliminary lemmata towards the proof of Theorem 1.2.4

In this section we show some preliminary lemmata, that we will use in the sequel to prove that a Palais-Smale sequence is bounded.

We start with a basic inequality.

5.2. SOME PRELIMINARY LEMMATA TOWARDS THE PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.457

LEMMA 5.2.1. For every $\delta > 0$ there exists $M_{\delta} > 0$ such that the following inequality holds true for every α , $\beta \ge 0$ and m > 0: (5.2.1)

$$(\alpha + \beta)^{m+1} - \alpha^{m+1} - (m+1)\alpha^m\beta - \beta((\alpha + \beta)^m - \alpha^m) \leqslant \delta\beta^{m+1} + M_\delta\alpha^{m+1}.$$

PROOF. First of all, we observe that the left hand side of (5.2.1) vanishes when $\alpha = 0$, therefore we can suppose that

$$(5.2.2) \qquad \qquad \alpha \neq 0$$

For any $\tau \ge 0$, let

$$f(\tau) := (1+\tau)^{m+1} - 1 - (m+1)\tau - \tau ((1+\tau)^m - 1).$$

We observe that

$$\lim_{\tau \to +\infty} \frac{f(\tau)}{\tau^{m+1}} = 0$$

therefore there exists $\tau_{\delta} > 0$ such that $\frac{f(\tau)}{\tau^{m+1}} \leq \delta$ for any $\tau \geq \tau_{\delta}$. Let also

$$M_{\delta} := \max_{\tau \in [0, \tau_{\delta}]} f(\tau).$$

Then, by looking separately at the cases $\tau \in [0, \tau_{\delta}]$ and $\tau \in [\tau_{\delta}, +\infty)$, we see that

$$f(\tau) \leqslant \delta \tau^{m+1} + M_{\delta}.$$

As a consequence, recalling (5.2.2) and taking $\tau := \beta/\alpha$,

$$\begin{aligned} (\alpha + \beta)^{m+1} - \alpha^{m+1} - (m+1)\alpha^{m}\beta - \beta ((\alpha + \beta)^{m} - \alpha^{m}) \\ &= \alpha^{m+1} \Big[(1+\tau)^{m+1} - 1 - (m+1)\tau - \tau ((1+\tau)^{m} - 1) \Big] \\ &= \alpha^{m+1} f(\tau) \\ &\leqslant \alpha^{m+1} (\delta \tau^{m+1} + M_{\delta}) \\ &= \delta \beta^{m+1} + M_{\delta} \alpha^{m+1}. \end{aligned}$$

We recall (1.2.16) and (1.2.17), and we have the following estimates.

COROLLARY 5.2.2. For any $U \in H^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and any $\delta \in (0,1)$, we have that (5.2.3)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G(x, U(x, 0)) - \frac{1}{p+1} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \leq C(\varepsilon + \delta) \|U_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{2^*_s} + C_{\delta, \varepsilon}$$

for suitable C, $C_{\delta, \varepsilon} > 0$. Moreover,

(5.2.4)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \ge \frac{\|U_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{2^*_s}}{8} - C_{\varepsilon},$$

for a suitable $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$.

PROOF. By (1.2.16) and (1.2.17), we can write $g = g_1 + g_2$ and $G = G_1 + G_2$, where

$$g_{1}(x,t) := \varepsilon h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) + t_{+})^{q} - U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) \right),$$

$$g_{2}(x,t) := (U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) + t_{+})^{p} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0),$$

$$G_{1}(x,t) := \frac{\varepsilon h(x)}{q+1} \left((U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) + t_{+})^{q+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) - \varepsilon h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) t_{+}$$

and

$$G_{2}(x,t) := \frac{1}{p+1} \left((U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) + t_{+})^{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) t_{+}.$$

We observe that for any $\tau \ge 0$,

$$(1+\tau)^{q} - 1 = q \int_{0}^{\tau} (1+\theta)^{q-1} d\theta \leqslant q \int_{0}^{\tau} \theta^{q-1} d\theta = \tau^{q}$$

and $(1+\tau)^{q+1} - 1 = (q+1) \int_{0}^{\tau} (1+\theta)^{q} d\theta \leqslant (q+1)(1+\tau)^{q} \tau$,

since
$$q \in (0, 1)$$
. Therefore, taking $\tau := t_+/U_{\varepsilon}$,

$$(U_{\varepsilon}+t_{+})^{q}-U_{\varepsilon}^{q}=U_{\varepsilon}^{q}((1+\tau)^{q}-1)\leqslant U_{\varepsilon}^{q}\tau^{q}=t_{+}^{q}$$

and

$$(U_{\varepsilon} + t_{+})^{q+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} = U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} ((1+\tau)^{q+1} - 1)$$

 $\leq (q+1)U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} (1+\tau)^{q} \tau = (q+1)(U_{\varepsilon} + t_{+})^{q} t_{+}.$

As a consequence,

$$\begin{split} |g_1| \leqslant \varepsilon |h| t_+^q \\ \text{and} \qquad |G_1| \leqslant \varepsilon |h| (U_{\varepsilon} + t_+)^q t_+ + \varepsilon |h| U_{\varepsilon}^q t_+ \leqslant 2\varepsilon |h| (U_{\varepsilon} + t_+)^q t_+. \end{split}$$

Thus we obtain

$$|G_1(x,t)| + |g_1(x,t)t| \leq 2\varepsilon |h| (U_{\varepsilon} + t_+)^q t_+ + \varepsilon |h| t_+^{q+1} \leq 3\varepsilon |h| (U_{\varepsilon} + t_+)^q t_+.$$

Since U_{ε} is bounded (recall Corollary 4.1.2), we obtain that

(5.2.5)
$$|G_1(x,t)| + |g_1(x,t)t| \leq C\varepsilon |h| (1+t_+^{q+1}),$$

for some C > 0. By considering the cases $t_+ \in [0,1]$ and $t_+ \in [1, +\infty)$, we see that

$$t_{+}^{q+1} \leqslant t_{+}^{p+1} + 1,$$

since q < p. This and (5.2.5) give that

(5.2.6)
$$|G_1(x,t)| + |g_1(x,t)t| \leq C\varepsilon |h| (1+t_+^{p+1}),$$

up to changing the constants. Now we fix $\delta \in (0, 1)$. Using (5.2.1) with $\alpha := U_{\varepsilon}$, $\beta := t_{+}$ and m := p, we have that

$$G_{2}(x,t) - \frac{1}{p+1}g_{2}(x,t)t$$

$$= \frac{1}{p+1}((U_{\varepsilon} + t_{+})^{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}t_{+} - (U_{\varepsilon} + t_{+})^{p} + U_{\varepsilon}^{p}$$

$$= \frac{1}{p+1}((\alpha + \beta)^{m+1} - \alpha^{m+1} - (m+1)\alpha^{m}\beta - \beta((\alpha + \beta)^{m} - \alpha^{m})))$$

$$\leqslant \frac{1}{p+1}(\delta\beta^{m+1} + M_{\delta}\alpha^{m+1})$$

$$\leqslant \delta t_{+}^{p+1} + M_{\delta}U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}.$$

This, together with (5.2.6), implies that

$$G(x,t) - \frac{1}{p+1}g(x,t)t$$

$$= G_1(x,t) - \frac{1}{p+1}g_1(x,t)t + G_2(x,t) - \frac{1}{p+1}g_2(x,t)t$$

$$\leqslant C\varepsilon |h| (1+t_{+}^{p+1}) + \delta t_{+}^{p+1} + M_{\delta}U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}$$

$$\leqslant C(\varepsilon + \delta)t_{+}^{p+1} + C|h| + M_{\delta}U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}.$$

As a consequence, and recalling that $p + 1 = 2_s^*$, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} G(x, U(x, 0)) - \frac{1}{p+1} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \leq C(\varepsilon + \delta) \|U_{+}(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2^{*}_{s}} + C_{\delta, \varepsilon}$$

for some C, $C_{\delta,\varepsilon} > 0$. This proves (5.2.3) and we now focus on the proof of (5.2.4). To this goal, for any $\tau \ge 0$, we set $\ell(\tau) := \frac{\tau^p}{2} - (1+\tau)^p + 1$. We observe that $\ell(0) = 0$ and

$$\lim_{\tau \to +\infty} \ell(\tau) = -\infty,$$

therefore

$$L := \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \ell(\tau) \in [0, +\infty).$$

As a consequence,

$$(1+\tau)^p - 1 = \frac{\tau^p}{2} - \ell(\tau) \ge \frac{\tau^p}{2} - L.$$

By taking $\tau := \frac{U_+}{U_{\varepsilon}}$, this implies that

$$g_2(x,U) = (U_{\varepsilon} + U_+)^p - U_{\varepsilon}^p = U_{\varepsilon}^p ((1+\tau)^p - 1)$$

$$\geqslant U_{\varepsilon}^p \left(\frac{\tau^p}{2} - L\right) = \frac{U_+^p}{2} - LU_{\varepsilon}^p.$$

Integrating this formula and using the Young inequality, we obtain

(5.2.7)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g_2(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \ge \frac{\|U_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}}{4} - C_{\varepsilon},$$

for some $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$. On the other hand, by (5.2.6), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g_1(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \right| &\leq C \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)| \left(1 + U_+^{p+1}(x, 0) \right) dx \\ &\leq C + C \varepsilon \|U_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}. \end{aligned}$$

By combining this and (5.2.7), we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) dx$$

= $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g_1(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g_2(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) dx$
$$\geq \frac{\|U_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}}{8} - C_{\varepsilon},$$

if ε is small enough, up to renaming constants. Recalling that $p+1=2_s^*$, the formula above gives the proof of (5.2.4).

Finally, we recall (1.2.15) and (1.2.18) and we show the following:

COROLLARY 5.2.3. Let ε , $\kappa > 0$. There exists M > 0, possibly depending on κ , ε , n and s, such that the following statement holds true. For any $U \in H^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ such that

$$\left|\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}(U)\right| + \sup_{\substack{V \in H_{a}^{a}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}) \\ |V|_{a}=1}} \left| \langle \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U), V \rangle \right| \leqslant \kappa$$

one has that

$$[U]_a \leqslant M.$$

PROOF. If $[U]_a = 0$ we are done, so we suppose that $[U]_a \neq 0$ and we obtain that

$$\left| \langle \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U), \frac{U}{[U]_a} \rangle \right| \leqslant \kappa.$$

This and (1.2.18) give that

(5.2.8)
$$\left| [U]_a^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \right| \leqslant \kappa [U]_a.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{split} \kappa + \frac{\kappa [U]_a}{2} &\geqslant \quad \Im_{\varepsilon}(U) - \frac{1}{2} \left([U]_a^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \right) \\ &= \quad - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G(x, U(x, 0)) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \\ &= \quad \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G(x, U(x, 0)) \, dx \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx. \end{split}$$

61

Consequently, by fixing $\delta \in (0, 1)$, to be taken conveniently small in the sequel, and using (5.2.3) and (5.2.4),

$$\kappa + \frac{\kappa [U]_a}{2} \geq -C(\varepsilon + \delta) \|U_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{2^*_s} - C_{\delta,\varepsilon} + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \left(\frac{\|U_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{2^*_s}}{8} - C_{\varepsilon}\right),$$

for suitable C, $C_{\delta,\varepsilon}$ and $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$. By taking δ and ε appropriately small, we thus obtain that

$$\kappa + \frac{\kappa [U]_a}{2} \ge \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \frac{\|U_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{2^*_s}}{16} - C_{\varepsilon},$$

up to renaming the latter constant (this fixes δ once and for all). That is

(5.2.9)
$$\|U_{+}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2^{*}_{s}} \leq M_{1}([U]_{a}+1),$$

for a suitable M_1 , possibly depending on κ , ε , n and s.

Now we recall (5.2.8) and (5.2.3) (used here with $\delta := 1$), and we see that

$$\begin{split} \kappa + \frac{\kappa [U]_a}{p+1} \\ \geqslant \quad \Im_{\varepsilon}(U) - \frac{1}{p+1} \left([U]_a^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \right) \\ = \quad \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \, [U]_a^2 + \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U(x, 0)) U(x, 0) \, dx \\ \qquad - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G(x, U(x, 0)) \, dx \\ \geqslant \quad \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \, [U]_a^2 - C \| U_+(\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{2^*_s} - C_{\varepsilon}, \end{split}$$

for suitable $C, C_{\varepsilon} > 0$. As a consequence,

$$[U]_a^2 \leqslant M_2 \big([U]_a + \|U_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{2^*}_s(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{2^*} + 1 \big),$$

for a suitable M_2 , possibly depending on κ , ε , n and s. Hence, from (5.2.9),

$$[U]_a^2 \leqslant M_3([U]_a + +1),$$

for some M_3 , possibly depending on κ , ε , n and s. This implies the desired result.

5.3. Some convergence results in view of Theorem 1.2.4

In this section we collect two convergence results that we will need in the sequel.

The first one shows that weak convergence to 0 in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ implies a suitable integral convergence.

LEMMA 5.3.1. Let α , $\beta > 0$ with $\alpha + \beta \leq 2_s^*$. Let $V_k \in \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ be a sequence such that V_k converges to 0 weakly in $\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Let $U_o \in \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, with $U_o(\cdot, 0) \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\psi \in L^a(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^b(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where

$$\mathbf{a} := \begin{cases} \frac{2^*_s}{2^*_s - \alpha - \beta} & \text{ if } \alpha + \beta < 2^*_s, \\ +\infty & \text{ if } \alpha + \beta = 2^*_s, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\mathbf{b} := \begin{cases} \frac{2_s^* + \alpha}{2_s^* - \alpha - \beta} & \text{if } \alpha + \beta < 2_s^*, \\ + \infty & \text{if } \alpha + \beta = 2_s^*, \end{cases}$$

Then, up to a subsequence,

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \psi(x) \right| \left| (V_k)_+(x,0) \right|^{\alpha} \left| U_o(x,0) \right|^{\beta} dx = 0.$$

PROOF. Since weakly convergent sequences are bounded, we have that $[V_k]_a \leq C_o$, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and a suitable $C_o > 0$. Accordingly, by (1.2.6), we obtain that $[v_k]_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C_o$, where $v_k(x) := V_k(x,0)$. As a consequence, by Theorem 7.1 of [21], we know that, up to a subsequence, v_k converges to some v in $L^{\gamma}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for any $\gamma \in [1, 2^*_s)$, and a.e.: we claim that

$$(5.3.1)$$
 $v = 0.$

To prove this, let $\eta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and ψ be the solution of

(5.3.2)
$$(-\Delta)^s \psi = \eta \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n$$

Also, let Ψ be the extension of ψ according to (1.2.3). In particular, div $(y^a \nabla \Psi) = 0$ in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ , therefore

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \operatorname{div}(y^a V_k \nabla \Psi) \, dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla V_k, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX.$$

The latter term is infinitesimal as $k \to +\infty$, thanks to the weak convergence of V_k in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Thus, using the Divergence Theorem in the left hand side of the identity above, we obtain

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k(x) \partial_y \Phi(x) \, dx = 0.$$

That is, recalling (5.3.2) and the convergence of v_k ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v(x)\eta(x) \, dx = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} v_k(x)\eta(x) \, dx = 0.$$

Since η is arbitrary, we have established (5.3.1).

Now we set $u_o(x) := U_o(x, 0)$ and we observe that $u_o \in L^{2^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, thanks to Proposition 1.2.1. Therefore, we can fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and find $R_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{R_{\varepsilon}}} |u_o(x)|^{2^*_s} \, dx \leqslant \varepsilon.$$

In virtue of (1.2.7), $\|v_k\|_{L^{2^*_s(\mathbb{R}^n)}} \leq S^{-1/2}C_o$. Consequently, using the Hölder inequality with exponents a, $2^*_s/\alpha$ and $2^*_s/\beta$, we deduce that

$$(5.3.3) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{R_{\varepsilon}}} |\psi(x)| |(V_k)_+(x,0)|^{\alpha} |U_o(x,0)|^{\beta} dx$$

$$\leq \|\psi\|_{L^{\mathfrak{a}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{R_{\varepsilon}}} |V_k(x,0)|^{2^*_s} dx \right]^{\frac{\alpha}{2^*_s}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{R_{\varepsilon}}} |U_o(x,0)|^{2^*_s} dx \right]^{\frac{\beta}{2^*_s}}$$

$$\leq \|\psi\|_{L^{\mathfrak{a}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \left(S^{-1/2} C_o \right)^{\frac{\alpha}{2^*_s}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\beta}{2^*_s}}.$$

Now we fix $\gamma := \frac{\alpha + 2_s^*}{2}$. Notice that $\gamma \in (1, 2_s^*)$, thus, using the convergence of v_k and (5.3.1), we see that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \|v_k\|_{L^{\gamma}(B_{R_{\varepsilon}})} = 0.$$

In addition,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u_o(x)|^{2^*_s + \alpha} \, dx \leqslant ||u_o||^{\alpha}_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u_o(x)|^{2^*_s} \, dx \leqslant C_*,$$

for some $C_* > 0$. Therefore we use the Hölder inequality with exponents b, $\frac{\gamma}{\alpha} = \frac{\alpha + 2_s^*}{2\alpha}$ and $\frac{2_s^* + \alpha}{\beta}$, and we obtain

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{B_{R_{\varepsilon}}} |\psi(x)| \left| (V_k)_+(x,0) \right|^{\alpha} \left| U_o(x,0) \right|^{\beta} dx$$

$$\leqslant \|\psi\|_{L^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left[\int_{B_{R_{\varepsilon}}} |v_k(x)|^{\gamma} \right]^{\frac{\alpha}{\gamma}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u_o(x)|^{2^*_s + \alpha} dx \right]^{\frac{\beta}{2^*_s + \alpha}}$$

$$= 0.$$

From this and (5.3.3), we see that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\psi(x)| \left| (V_k)_+(x,0) \right|^{\alpha} \left| U_o(x,0) \right|^{\beta} dx \leq \|\psi\|_{L^{\mathfrak{a}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \left(S^{-1/2} C_o \right)^{\frac{\alpha}{2s}} \varepsilon^{\frac{\beta}{2s}}.$$

The desired result then follows by taking ε as small as we wish.

The desired result then follows by taking ε as small as we wish.

As a corollary we have

COROLLARY 5.3.2. Let V_k , U_o and ψ as in Lemma 5.3.1. Then (5.3.4) $\|(U_o + (V_k)_+)(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} = \|U_o\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} + \|(V_k)_+(\cdot, 0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} + o_k(1),$ and

(5.3.5)
$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) \left((U_o + (V_k)_+)^{q+1}(x,0) - U_o^{q+1}(x,0) \right) dx \right| \leq C + o_k(1),$$

for some C > 0.

PROOF. Formula 5.3.4 plainly follows from Lemma 5.3.1, by taking $\psi := 1$ (notice that $p + 1 = 2_s^*$).

To prove (5.3.5), we use Lemma 5.3.1 to see that

$$\begin{aligned} &(5.3.6) \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) \left((U_o + (V_k)_+)^{q+1}(x,0) - U_o^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) (U_o + (V_k)_+)^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) U_o^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) U_o^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx + o_k(1) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) U_o^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx + o_k(1). \end{aligned}$$

By Hölder inequality with exponents $\frac{2^*_s}{2^*_s-q-1}$ and $\frac{2^*_s}{q+1}$ and by Proposition 1.2.1 we have that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\psi(x)|^{\frac{2^*}{2^*_s - q - 1}}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{2^*_s - q - 1}{2^*_s}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{q+1}{2^*_s}} \\ &\leqslant \|\psi\|_{L^{\frac{2^*_s}{2^*_s - q - 1}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{q+1}{2^*_s}} \\ &\leqslant S^{-\frac{q+1}{2}} \|\psi\|_{L^{\frac{2^*_s}{2^*_s - q - 1}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} [V_k]_a. \end{split}$$

Now notice that in this case $\alpha + \beta = q + 1 < 2_s^*$, and so $\psi \in L^a(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $a = \frac{2_s^*}{2_s^* - q - 1}$, by hypothesis. Moreover, since V_k is a weakly convergent sequence in $\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, then V_k is uniformly bounded in $\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Hence

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx \leqslant C$$

for a suitable C > 0. Plugging this information into (5.3.6), we obtain that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi(x) \left((U_o + (V_k)_+)^{q+1} (x, 0) - U_o^{q+1} (x, 0) \right) \, dx \right| \leq C + o_k(1),$$

sired. \Box

as desired.

Now we show that, under an assumption on the positivity of the limit function, weak convergence in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ implies weak convergence of the positive part.

LEMMA 5.3.3. Assume that W_m is a sequence of functions in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ that converges weakly in $\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ to $W \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

Suppose also that for any bounded set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$, we have that

$$\inf_{K} W > 0.$$

Then, up to a subsequence, $(W_m)_+ \in H^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and it also converges weakly in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ to W.

PROOF. Notice that $|\nabla(W_m)_+| = |\nabla W_m|\chi_{\{W_m>0\}} \leq |\nabla W_m|$ a.e., which shows that $(W_m)_+ \in H^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

We also recall that, since weakly convergent sequences are bounded,

(5.3.7)
$$\sup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla W_m|^2 \, dX \leqslant C_o$$

for some $C_o > 0$.

Now we claim that

(5.3.8) for any
$$\Phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$$
,
$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(W_m)_+, \nabla \Phi \rangle \, dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla W, \nabla \Phi \rangle \, dX.$$

For this, we let K be the support of Φ . Up to a subsequence, we know that W_m converges a.e. to W. Therefore, by Egorov Theorem, fixed $\varepsilon >$ 0, there exists $K_{\varepsilon} \subseteq K$ such that W_m converges to W uniformly in K_{ε} and $|K \setminus K_{\varepsilon}| \leq \varepsilon$. Then, for any $X \in K_{\varepsilon}$,

$$W_m(X) \ge W(X) - \|W_m - W\|_{L^{\infty}(K_{\varepsilon})} \ge \inf_K W - \|W_m - W\|_{L^{\infty}(K_{\varepsilon})} \ge \frac{1}{2} \inf_K W > 0,$$

as long as m is large enough, say $m \ge m_{\star}(K, \varepsilon)$.

Accordingly, $\nabla(W_m)_+ = \nabla W_m$ a.e. in K_{ε} if $m \ge m_{\star}(K, \varepsilon)$ and therefore

(5.3.9)
$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{K_{\varepsilon}} y^a \langle \nabla(W_m)_+, \nabla \Phi \rangle \, dX = \int_{K_{\varepsilon}} y^a \langle \nabla W, \nabla \Phi \rangle \, dX$$

Moreover, for any $\eta > 0$, the absolute continuity of the integral gives that

$$\int_{K\setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^a |\nabla W|^2 \, dX + \int_{K\setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^a |\nabla \Phi|^2 \, dX \leqslant \eta$$

provided that ε is small enough, say $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{\star}(\eta))$, for a suitable $\varepsilon_{\star}(\eta)$. As a consequence, recalling (5.3.7),

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{K \setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^{a} \langle \nabla(W_{m})_{+}, \nabla \Phi \rangle \, dX \right| + \left| \int_{K \setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^{a} \langle \nabla W, \nabla \Phi \rangle \, dX \\ \leqslant \quad \sqrt{\int_{K \setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^{a} |\nabla(W_{m})_{+}|^{2} \, dX} \cdot \sqrt{\int_{K \setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^{a} |\nabla \Phi|^{2} \, dX} \\ \quad + \sqrt{\int_{K \setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^{a} |\nabla W|^{2} \, dX} \cdot \sqrt{\int_{K \setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^{a} |\nabla \Phi|^{2} \, dX} \\ \leqslant \quad \sqrt{C_{o} \eta} + \eta. \end{split}$$

65

Using this and (5.3.9), we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^a \langle \nabla(W_m)_+, \nabla\Phi \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^a \langle \nabla W, \nabla\Phi \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &= \left| \lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_K y^a \langle \nabla(W_m)_+, \nabla\Phi \rangle \, dX - \int_K y^a \langle \nabla W, \nabla\Phi \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &\leqslant \left| \lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{K \setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^a \langle \nabla(W_m)_+, \nabla\Phi \rangle \, dX - \int_{K \setminus K_{\varepsilon}} y^a \langle \nabla W, \nabla\Phi \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &\leqslant \left| \sqrt{C_o \eta} + \eta. \right| \end{aligned}$$

By taking η as small as we like, we complete the proof of (5.3.8).

Now we finish the proof of Lemma 5.3.3 by a density argument. Let $\Phi \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. We take $\Phi_{\varepsilon} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla(\Phi - \Phi_{\varepsilon})|^2 \, dX \leqslant \varepsilon.$$

The existence of such Φ_{ε} is guaranteed by (1.2.5). Then, recalling (5.3.7) and (5.3.8) for the function Φ_{ε} , we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(W_m)_+, \nabla\Phi \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla W, \nabla\Phi \rangle \, dX \right| \\ \leqslant & \left| \lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(W_m)_+, \nabla\Phi_{\varepsilon} \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla W, \nabla\Phi_{\varepsilon} \rangle \, dX \right| \\ & + \left(\sqrt{C_o} + \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla W|^2 \, dX} \right) \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla(\Phi - \Phi_{\varepsilon})|^2 \, dX} \\ \leqslant & 0 + \left(\sqrt{C_o} + \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla W|^2 \, dX} \right) \sqrt{\varepsilon}. \end{aligned}$$

Accordingly, by taking ε as small as we please, we obtain that

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(W_m)_+, \nabla \Phi \rangle \, dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla W, \nabla \Phi \rangle \, dX,$$

for any $\Phi \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, thus completing the proof of Lemma 5.3.3.

5.4. Palais-Smale condition for $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$

Once we have found a minimum of J_{ε} , we apply a contradiction procedure to prove the existence of a second critical point.

Roughly speaking, the idea is the following: let us suppose that U = 0 is the only critical point; thus, we prove some compactness and geometric properties of the functional (based on the fact that the critical point is unique), and these facts allow us to apply the Mountain Pass Theorem, that

provides a second critical point. Hence, we reach a contradiction, so U = 0cannot be the only critical point of $\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}$.

As we did in Proposition 3.2.1 for the minimal solution, also to find the second solution we need to prove that a Palais-Smale condition holds true below a certain threshold, as stated in the following result:

PROPOSITION 5.4.1. There exists C > 0, depending on h, q, n and s, such that the following statement holds true. Let $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\subset \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ be a sequence satisfying

(i)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) = c_{\varepsilon}, with$$

(5.4.1)
$$c_{\varepsilon} + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} < \frac{s}{n} S^{\frac{n}{2s}}.$$

where $\gamma = 1 + \frac{2}{n-2s}$ and S is the Sobolev constant appearing in Proposition 1.2.1, (ii) $\lim_{k \to +\infty} \mathfrak{I}'_{\varepsilon}(U_k) = 0.$

Assume also that U = 0 is the only critical point of $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$.

Then $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ contains a subsequence strongly convergent in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

REMARK 5.4.2. The limit in (ii) is intended in the following way

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \|\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+),\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+))} = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \sup_{V \in \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+), [V]_a = 1} \left| \langle \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), V \rangle \right| = 0,$$

where $\mathcal{L}(\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+), \dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+))$ consists of all the linear functionals from $\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ in $\dot{H}_a^s(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

We observe that a sequence that satisfies the assumptions of Proposition 5.4.1 is weakly convergent. The precise statement goes as follows:

LEMMA 5.4.3. Let $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ be a sequence satisfying the hypotheses of Proposition 5.4.1. Assume also that U = 0 is the only critical point of $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$.

Then, up to a subsequence, U_k weakly converges to 0 in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ as $k \to 0$ $+\infty$.

PROOF. Notice that assumptions (i) and (ii) imply that there exists $\kappa >$ 0 such that

$$\left| \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) \right| + \sup_{\substack{V \in H^{\mathfrak{s}}_{a}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}) \\ |V|_a = 1}} \left| \left\langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), V \right\rangle \right| \leqslant \kappa.$$

Hence, by Corollary 5.2.3 we have that there exists a positive constant M(independent of k) such that

$$(5.4.2) [U_k]_a \leqslant M.$$

Therefore, there exists a subsequence (that we still denote by U_k) converging weakly to some function $U_{\infty} \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, that is,

(5.4.3)
$$U_k \rightharpoonup U_\infty \quad \text{in } \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+),$$

as $k \to +\infty$. We now claim that

$$(5.4.4) U_{\infty} = 0$$

For this, we first observe that, thanks to (5.4.2) and Theorem 7.1 in [21], we have that

(5.4.5)
$$U_k(\cdot, 0) \to U_\infty(\cdot, 0)$$
 in $L^{\alpha}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $1 \le \alpha < 2^*_s$,

and so

(5.4.6)
$$U_k(\cdot, 0) \to U_\infty(\cdot, 0)$$
 a. e. \mathbb{R}^n

Let now $\Psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}), \ \psi := \Psi(\cdot, 0)$ and $K := supp(\psi)$. According to (1.2.18),

(5.4.7)
$$\langle \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), \Psi \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_k(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx \\ = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX - \int_K g(x, U_k(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx.$$

Thanks to (5.4.3), we have that

(5.4.8)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_\infty, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX$$

as $k \to +\infty$. Moreover, (5.4.6) implies that

$$g(x, U_k(\cdot, 0)) \to g(x, U_{\infty}(\cdot, 0))$$
 a. e. \mathbb{R}^n ,

as $k \to +\infty$. Also, notice that

$$(1+r)^p - 1 \le C(1+r^p),$$

for any $r \ge 0$ and for some positive constant C > 0. Hence, recalling that $U_{\varepsilon} > 0$, thanks to Proposition 1.2.3, we can use this with $r := t/U_{\varepsilon}$ and we obtain that

$$(U_{\varepsilon}+t)^{p} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p} = U_{\varepsilon}^{p} \left[\left(1 + \frac{t}{U_{\varepsilon}} \right)^{p} - 1 \right] \leqslant C U_{\varepsilon}^{p} \left(1 + \frac{t^{p}}{U_{\varepsilon}^{p}} \right) = C \left(U_{\varepsilon}^{p} + t^{p} \right).$$

This, formulas (3.1.3) and (1.2.16) give that

(5.4.9)
$$|g(x,t)| \leq C \left(U_{\varepsilon}^p + t^p \right) + \varepsilon |h|.$$

Hence, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$(5.4.10) \qquad |g(x, U_k(x, 0))| |\psi| \leq C |\psi| \left(U_{\varepsilon}^p(x, 0) + U_k^p(x, 0) \right) + \varepsilon |h| |\psi|.$$

This means that the sequence $g(\cdot, U_k(\cdot, 0))$ is bounded by a sequence that is strongly convergent in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Moreover, by Theorem 4.9 in [10] we have that there exists a function $f \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that, up to a subsequence,

(5.4.11)
$$C|\psi| \left(U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(\cdot,0) + U_{k}^{p}(\cdot,0) \right) + \varepsilon|\psi||h| \leq |f|.$$

Formulas (5.4.10) and (5.4.11) together with (5.4.6) imply that we can use the Dominated Convergence Theorem (see e.g. Theorem 4.2 in [10]) and we obtain that

$$\int_{K} g(x, U_k(x, 0))\psi(x) \, dx \to \int_{K} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0))\psi(x) \, dx,$$

as $k \to +\infty$. Using this and (5.4.8) into (5.4.7) we have

$$\langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), \Psi \rangle \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_{\infty}, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, 0) \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, 0) \, dX + \int_$$

as $k \to +\infty$. On the other hand, assumption (ii) implies that

$$\langle \mathfrak{I}'_{\varepsilon}(U_k), \Psi \rangle \to 0$$

as $k \to +\infty$. The last two formulas imply that

(5.4.12)
$$\langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle = 0, \text{ for any } \Psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+).$$

Let now $\Psi \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$, with $\psi := \Psi(\cdot, 0)$. Then by (1.2.5) there exists a sequence of functions $\Psi_m \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, with $\psi_m := \Psi_m(\cdot, 0)$, such that

(5.4.13)
$$\Psi_m \to \Psi \text{ in } \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \text{ as } m \to +\infty.$$

By Proposition 1.2.1 this implies also that

(5.4.14)
$$\psi_m \to \psi \text{ in } L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n) \text{ as } m \to +\infty.$$

Therefore, from (5.4.12) we deduce that for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$ (5.4.15)

$$0 = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi_m \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_{\infty}, \nabla \Psi_m \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi_m(x) \, dx.$$

Now, (5.4.13) implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{\infty}, \nabla \Psi_{m} \rangle \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{\infty}, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{\infty}| \left| \nabla (\Psi_{m} - \Psi) \right| \, dX \\ &\leqslant \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{\infty}|^{2} \, dX} \cdot \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla (\Psi_{m} - \Psi)|^{2} \, dX} \to 0, \end{aligned}$$

as $m \to +\infty$. Moreover, by Hölder inequality with exponents 2_s^* and $\frac{2_s^*}{2_s^*-1}$ we get

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi_{m}(x) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx \right| \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0))| \, |\psi_{m}(x) - \psi(x)| \, dx \\ &\leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{\varepsilon}^{p} + U_{\infty}^{p}) \, |\psi_{m}(x) - \psi(x)| \, dx + \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |h| \, |\psi_{m}(x) - \psi(x)| \, dx \\ &\leqslant C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{\varepsilon}^{p} + U_{\infty}^{p})^{\frac{2^{*}_{s}}{2^{*}_{s}-1}} \, dx \right)^{\frac{2^{*}_{s}-1}{2^{*}_{s}}} \, \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\psi_{m}(x) - \psi(x)|^{2^{*}_{s}} \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2^{*}_{s}}} \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |h|^{\frac{2^{*}_{s}}{2^{*}_{s}-1}} \, dx \right)^{\frac{2^{*}_{s}-1}{2^{*}_{s}}} \, \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\psi_{m}(x) - \psi(x)|^{2^{*}_{s}} \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2^{*}_{s}}}, \end{split}$$

where we have used (5.4.9). Furthermore, noticing that $\frac{2_s^*p}{2_s^*-1} = 2_s^*$, we have that

$$(U_{\varepsilon}^{p} + U_{\infty}^{p})^{\frac{2^{*}_{s}}{2^{*}_{s}-1}} \leqslant (U_{\varepsilon} + U_{\infty})^{\frac{2^{*}_{s}p}{2^{*}_{s}-1}} \leqslant (U_{\varepsilon} + U_{\infty})^{2^{*}_{s}},$$

up to renaming constants. Thus, since U_{ε} , $U_{\infty} \in H^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, and $h \in L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for every $1 \leq r \leq +\infty$, by Proposition 1.2.1 we deduce that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi_m(x) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(x, U_{\infty}(x, 0)) \psi(x) \, dx \right|$$

$$\leq C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\psi_m(x) - \psi(x)|^{2^*_s} \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2^*_s}} \to 0$$

as $m \to +\infty$, thanks to (5.4.14). All in all and going back to (5.4.15) we obtain that

$$0 = \lim_{m \to +\infty} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi_m \rangle = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{\infty}), \Psi \rangle,$$

and this shows that (5.4.12) holds true for any $\Psi \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$. Namely, U_{∞} is a critical point for $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$. Since U = 0 is the only critical point of $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$, we obtain the claim in (5.4.4). This concludes the proof of Lemma 5.4.3. \Box

As we did in the first part to obtain the existence of the minimum, (see in particular Lemma 3.2.5), to prove Proposition 5.4.1 we first need to show that the sequence is tight, according to Definition 2.2.1. Then we can prove the following:

LEMMA 5.4.4. Let $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ be a sequence satisfying the hypotheses of Proposition 5.4.1. Assume also that U = 0 is the only critical point of $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$.

Then, for all $\eta > 0$ there exists $\rho > 0$ such that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ there holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_\rho} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_\rho \cap \{y=0\}\}} |U_k(x,0)|^{2^*_s} \, dx < \eta.$$
In particular, the sequence $\{U_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is tight.

PROOF. From Lemma 5.4.3 we have that

(5.4.16)
$$U_k \to 0 \quad \text{in } \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \quad \text{as } k \to +\infty$$

and $U_k(\cdot, 0) \to 0 \quad \text{a.e. in } \mathbb{R}^n \quad \text{as } k \to +\infty.$

Now we proceed by contradiction. That is, we suppose that there exists $\eta_0 > 0$ such that for every $\rho > 0$ there exists $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

(5.4.17)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus (B_{\rho} \cap \{y=0\})} (U_k)^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx \ge \eta_0.$$

Proceeding as in (3.2.7), one can prove that actually $k \to +\infty$ as $\rho \to +\infty$.

Let U_{ε} be the local minimum of the functional $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$ found in Theorem 1.2.2. Since $U_{\varepsilon} \in \dot{H}^{s}_{a}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$, from Propositions 2.1.1 and 1.2.1 we have that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $r := r_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

(5.4.18)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_r} y^a |\nabla U_{\varepsilon}|^2 dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_r} y^a |U_{\varepsilon}|^{2\gamma} dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus (B^+_r \cap \{y=0\})} |U_{\varepsilon}(x,0)|^{2^*_s} dx < \varepsilon,$$

where $\gamma := 1 + \frac{2}{n-2s}$. Moreover, by (5.4.2) and again by Propositions 2.1.1 and 1.2.1 we deduce that

(5.4.19)
$$\begin{aligned} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2\gamma} dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |U_{k}(x,0)|^{2^{*}_{s}} dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla (U_{k} + U_{\varepsilon})|^{2} dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} (|U_{k}| + U_{\varepsilon})^{2\gamma} dX \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (|U_{k}(x,0)| + U_{\varepsilon}(x,0))^{2^{*}_{s}} dx \leqslant \tilde{M}, \end{aligned}$$

for some $\tilde{M} > 0$.

Now let $j_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ be integer part of $\frac{\tilde{M}}{\varepsilon}$, and set, for any $l \in \{0, 1, \dots, j_{\varepsilon}\}$

$$I_{l} := \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+} : r+l \leq |(x, y)| \leq r+l+1 \}.$$

Notice that $j_{\varepsilon} \to +\infty$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Therefore, by (5.4.19) we have that

$$\begin{split} (j_{\varepsilon}+1)\varepsilon &\geqslant \frac{M}{\varepsilon}\varepsilon\\ &\geqslant \sum_{l=0}^{j_{\varepsilon}} \Big(\int_{I_{l}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} \, dX + \int_{I_{l}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2\gamma} \, dX + \int_{I_{l} \cap \{y=0\}} |U_{k}(x,0)|^{2^{*}_{s}} \, dx\\ &+ \int_{I_{l}} y^{a} |\nabla (U_{k}+U_{\varepsilon})|^{2} \, dX + \int_{I_{l}} y^{a} (|U_{k}|+U_{\varepsilon})^{2\gamma} \, dX\\ &+ \int_{I_{l} \cap \{y=0\}} (|U_{k}(x,0)| + U_{\varepsilon}(x,0))^{2^{*}_{s}} \, dx\Big). \end{split}$$

This implies that there exists $\bar{l} \in \{0, 1, \dots, j_{\varepsilon}\}$ such that, up to a subsequence,

$$\int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{k}|^{2} dX + \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2\gamma} dX + \int_{I_{\bar{l}} \cap \{y=0\}} |U_{k}(x,0)|^{2^{*}_{s}} dx$$

$$+ \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^{a} |\nabla (U_{k} + U_{\varepsilon})|^{2} dX + \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^{a} (|U_{k}| + U_{\varepsilon})^{2\gamma} dX$$

$$+ \int_{I_{\bar{l}} \cap \{y=0\}} (|U_{k}(x,0)| + U_{\varepsilon}(x,0))^{2^{*}_{s}} dx \leqslant \varepsilon.$$

Let now $\chi\in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+,[0,1])$ be a cut-off function such that

(5.4.21)
$$\chi(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & |(x,y)| \leq r + \bar{l}, \\ 0, & |(x,y)| \geq r + \bar{l} + 1, \end{cases}$$
 and $|\nabla \chi| \leq 2.$

Define, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

(5.4.22)
$$W_{1,k} := \chi U_k$$
 and $W_{2,k} := (1-\chi)U_k$.

Hence $W_{1,k} + W_{2,k} = U_k$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover,

(5.4.23)
$$W_{1,k}, W_{2,k} \to 0 \quad \text{in } \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+),$$

as $k \to +\infty$. Indeed, for any $\Psi \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ with $[\Psi]_a = 1$ and $\delta > 0$, we have that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \right| \leqslant \frac{\delta}{2},$$

for any k sufficiently large, say $k \ge \bar{k}(\delta)$, thanks to (5.4.16). Moreover, the compactness result in Lemma 2.1.2 implies that

$$\int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^a |U_k|^2 \, dX \leqslant \frac{\delta^2}{16},$$

for k large enough (say $k \ge \bar{k}(\delta)$, up to renaming $\bar{k}(\delta)$). Therefore, recalling (5.4.22) and (5.4.21) and using Hölder inequality, we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla W_{1,k}, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla (\chi \, U_{k}), \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &\leqslant \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \chi \langle \nabla U_{k}, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \right| + \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} U_{k} \langle \nabla \chi, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &\leqslant \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{k}, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \right| + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |U_{k}| \, |\nabla \chi| \, |\nabla \Psi| \, dX \\ &\leqslant \frac{\delta}{2} + 2 \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2} \, dX} \cdot \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla \Psi|^{2} \, dX} \\ &\leqslant \frac{\delta}{2} + 2 \frac{\delta}{4} \\ &= \delta, \end{aligned}$$

which proves (5.4.23) for $W_{1,k}$. The proof for $W_{2,k}$ is similar, and so we omit it.

Furthermore, from (5.4.23) and Theorem 7.1 in [21] we have that (5.4.24)

$$\begin{array}{l} W_{i,k}(\cdot,0) \to 0 \quad \text{ a.e. } \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \text{ and } (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k})(\cdot,0) \to U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,0) \quad \text{in } L^{\alpha}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ \forall \ 1 \leqslant \alpha < 2^*_s, \ i = 1,2 \end{array}$$

as $k\to+\infty.$ Notice also that there exists a positive constant C (independent of k) such that

$$(5.4.25) [U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k}]_a \leqslant C,$$

for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. Let us show (5.4.25) only for $W_{1,k}$, being the proof for $W_{2,k}$ similar. From (5.4.22) we obtain that

$$\begin{split} [W_{i,k}]_a^2 &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla W_{1,k}|^2 \, dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla (\chi U_k)|^2 \, dX \\ &\leqslant 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \chi^2 |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |U_k|^2 |\nabla \chi|^2 \, dX \\ &\leqslant 2M + 8 \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^a |U_k|^2 \, dX \leqslant 2M + 8C, \end{split}$$

for some C > 0 independent of k, thanks to (5.4.2), (5.4.21) and Lemma 2.1.2. This, together with the fact that $U_{\varepsilon} \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, gives (5.4.25).

Therefore, using hypothesis (ii),

(5.4.26)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \langle \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k} \rangle = 0, \qquad i = 1, 2.$$

On the other hand, by (1.2.18),

$$\begin{aligned} (5.4.27) & |\langle \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{k}) - \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle | \\ \leqslant \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla(1-\chi) U_{k}, \nabla(U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}) \rangle \, dX \right| \\ & + \left| \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q} - (U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{q} \right) (x, 0) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}) (x, 0) \, dx \right| \\ & + \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p} - (U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p} \right) (x, 0) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}) (x, 0) \, dx \right| \\ & =: I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3}. \end{aligned}$$

To estimate I_1 , notice that $I_1 \leq I_{1,1} + I_{1,2}$, where

$$I_{1,1} := \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(1-\chi)U_k, \nabla U_\varepsilon \rangle \, dX \right|$$

and
$$I_{1,2} := \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(1-\chi)U_k, \nabla(\chi U_k) \rangle \, dX \right|.$$

We split further $I_{1,1}$ as

$$I_{1,1} \leqslant \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+} \setminus B^{+}_{r+\bar{l}}} y^{a} (1-\chi) \langle \nabla U_{k}, \nabla U_{\varepsilon} \rangle \, dX \right| + \left| \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^{a} U_{k} \langle \nabla (1-\chi), \nabla U_{\varepsilon} \rangle \, dX \right|$$

Since $B_r^+ \subset B_{r+\bar{l}}^+$, by Hölder inequality, (5.4.18) and (5.4.2) we have that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r+\bar{l}}} y^a (1-\chi) \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla U_\varepsilon \rangle \, dX \right| \\ \leqslant \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX} \cdot \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_r} y^a |\nabla U_\varepsilon|^2 \, dX} \leqslant M \varepsilon^{1/2}.$$

Moreover, by (5.4.21) and applying twice the Hölder inequality (first with exponent 1/2 and then with exponents γ and $\frac{\gamma}{\gamma-1}$) we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} U_{k} \langle \nabla(1-\chi), \nabla U_{\varepsilon} \rangle \, dX \right| \\ & \leq 2 \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2} \, dX \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{\varepsilon}|^{2} \, dX \right)^{1/2} \\ & \leq 2 \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2} \, dX \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U_{\varepsilon}|^{2} \, dX \right)^{1/2} \\ & \leq C \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} \, dX \right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{2\gamma}} \left(\int_{I_{\overline{l}}} y^{a} |U_{k}|^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} \leq C \varepsilon^{1/2\gamma}, \end{split}$$

up to renaming constants, where (5.4.20) was used in the last line. Hence,

$$I_{1,1} \leqslant C\varepsilon^{1/2\gamma},$$

for a suitable constant C > 0. Let us estimate $I_{1,2}$:

$$\begin{split} I_{1,2} &\leqslant \left| \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^a |U_k|^2 \langle \nabla(1-\chi), \nabla\chi \rangle \, dX \right| + \left| \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^a U_k \chi \langle \nabla(1-\chi), \nabla U_k \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^a \chi(1-\chi) |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX \right| + \left| \int_{I_{\bar{l}}} y^a (1-\chi) U_k \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla\chi \rangle \, dX \right|. \end{split}$$

Thus, in the same way as before, and using (5.4.20) once more, we obtain that $I_{1,2} \leq C \varepsilon^{1/2\gamma}$ for some C > 0. Therefore

(5.4.28)
$$I_1 \leqslant C\varepsilon^{1/2\gamma},$$

for some positive constant C.

We estimate now I_2 . For this, we first observe that formulas (3.1.3) and (5.4.22) give that

$$\begin{split} |(U_{\varepsilon}+(W_{1,k})_{+})^{q}-(U_{\varepsilon}+(U_{k})_{+})^{q}| &\leq L|(W_{1,k})_{+}-(U_{k})_{+}|^{q}=L(U_{k})^{q}_{+}|1-\chi|^{q},\\ \text{for a suitable constant } L>0. \text{ Consequently, applying Hölder inequality with exponents } \frac{2^{*}_{s}}{2^{*}_{s}-1-q}, \frac{2^{*}_{s}}{q} \text{ and } 2^{*}_{s} \text{ we obtain that } \end{split}$$

$$I_{2} \leqslant \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |h| |(U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q} - (U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{q}| |U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}| dx$$

$$\leqslant \varepsilon L \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |h| (U_{k})^{q}_{+} |U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}| dx$$

$$\leqslant \varepsilon L ||h||_{L^{\frac{2^{*}}{2^{*}-1-q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})^{2^{*}}_{+} dx \right)^{\frac{q}{2^{*}_{s}}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}|^{2^{*}_{s}} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2^{*}_{s}}}$$

$$\leqslant C\varepsilon,$$

for some C > 0, thanks to (1.1.5), (5.4.2) and Proposition 1.2.1.

To estimate I_3 , let us define the auxiliary function

$$f(t) := (U_{\varepsilon} + t\chi(U_k)_+ + (1-t)(U_k)_+)^p, \qquad t \in [0,1].$$

Thus, recalling (5.4.22), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} (U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p} - (U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p}| &= |(U_{\varepsilon} + \chi(U_{k})_{+})^{p} - (U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p}| \\ &= |f(1) - f(0)| = \left| \int_{0}^{1} f'(t) \, dt \right| \\ &\leq p(1 - \chi)(U_{k})_{+} \int_{0}^{1} |U_{\varepsilon} + t\chi(U_{k})_{+} + (1 - t)(U_{k})_{+}|^{p-1} \, dt \\ &\leq p(1 - \chi)(U_{k})_{+} (U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p-1} \leq C(1 - \chi)(U_{k})_{+} U_{\varepsilon}^{p-1} + C(1 - \chi)(U_{k})_{+}^{p} \end{aligned}$$

,

for a suitable positive constant C. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} I_{3} &\leqslant C \Big(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (1 - \chi(x, 0)) (U_{k})_{+}(x, 0) U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (1 - \chi(x, 0)) (U_{k})_{+}^{p}(x, 0) U_{\varepsilon}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &+ \int_{I_{\bar{\ell}}} \chi(x, 0) (1 - \chi(x, 0)) U_{\varepsilon}^{p-1}(x, 0) (U_{k})_{+}^{2}(x, 0) \, dx \\ &+ \int_{I_{\bar{\ell}}} \chi(x, 0) (1 - \chi(x, 0)) (U_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x, 0) \, dx \Big) \\ &=: I_{3,1} + I_{3,2} + I_{3,3} + I_{3,4}. \end{split}$$

Concerning $I_{3,1}$ and $I_{3,2}$ we are in the position to apply Lemma 5.3.1 with $V_k := U_k, U_o := U_{\varepsilon}$ and $\psi := 1 - \chi(\cdot, 0)$ (notice that $\alpha := 1$ and $\beta := p$ and $\alpha := p$ and $\beta := 1$, respectively). So we obtain that both $I_{3,1} = o_k(1)$ and $I_{3,2} = o_k(1)$.

Moreover, using Hölder inequality with exponent $\frac{p+1}{p-1}$ and $\frac{p+1}{2}$, Proposition 1.2.1 and (5.4.20), we have

$$I_{3,3} \leqslant \left(\int_{I_{\bar{l}}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p+1}} \left(\int_{I_{\bar{l}}} (U_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx\right)^{\frac{2}{p+1}} \leqslant C\varepsilon^{\frac{2}{p+1}},$$

for a suitable C > 0. Finally, making use of (5.4.20) once again we obtain that $I_{3,4} \leq C\varepsilon$, for some C > 0. Consequently, putting all these informations together we get

$$I_3 \leqslant C\varepsilon^{\frac{2}{p+1}} + o_k(1).$$

All in all, from (5.4.27) we obtain that

(5.4.29)
$$|\langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k) - \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle| \leq C \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$$

Likewise, it can be checked that

(5.4.30)
$$|\langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k) - \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{2,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \rangle| \leq C \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$$

Therefore, using this and (5.4.26),

(5.4.31)
$$|\langle \mathfrak{I}'_{\varepsilon}(W_{i,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k} \rangle| \leq C \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1), \qquad i = 1, 2.$$

From now on we organize the proof in three steps as follows: in the forthcoming Step 1 and 2 we show lower bounds for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k})$ and $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k})$, respectively. Then, in Step 3 we use these estimates to obtain a lower bound for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(U_k)$ that will give a contradiction with the assumptions on $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$, and so the desired claim in Lemma 5.4.4 follows.

Step 1: Lower bound for $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k})$. From (1.2.15) and (1.2.18) we have

$$(5.4.32)$$

$$J_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{\varepsilon}, \nabla W_{1,k} \rangle dX$$

$$- \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) dx$$

$$+ \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) (W_{1,k})_{+}(x,0) dx$$

$$- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) dx$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) (W_{1,k})_{+}(x,0) dx$$

$$+ \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}) (x,0) dx$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}) (x,0) dx$$

Thanks to (5.4.23), we have that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_{\varepsilon}, \nabla W_{1,k} \rangle \, dX = 0.$$

Moreover, from Lemma 5.3.1 applied here with $V_k := W_{1,k}, U_o := U_{\varepsilon}, \psi := h$, $\alpha := 1$ and $\beta := q$ we have that

(5.4.33)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U^q_{\varepsilon}(x,0) (W_{1,k})_+(x,0) \, dx = 0.$$

Analogously, by taking $V_k := W_{1,k}$, $U_o := U_{\varepsilon}$, $\psi := 1$, $\alpha := 1$ and $\beta := p$ in Lemma 5.3.1 (notice that in this case $\alpha + \beta = p + 1 = 2^*_s$ and $\psi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$) we obtain that

(5.4.34)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U^p_{\varepsilon}(x,0) (W_{1,k})_+(x,0) \, dx = 0.$$

Taking the limit as $k \to +\infty$ in (5.4.32) and using the last three formulas, we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} (5.4.35) \\ \lim_{k \to +\infty} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) &- \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle \\ &= \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left(-\frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^q(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) \right) \left(U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \right) (x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^p(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) \right) \left(U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \right) (x,0) \, dx \end{aligned}$$

Now we observe that if $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is such that $W_{1,k}(x,0) \leq 0$, then

$$(U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) = U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) = 0,$$

and so

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^q(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}) (x,0) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^q(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+) (x,0) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^{q+1} (x,0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} (x,0) \, dx \\ &\quad - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) (W_{1,k})_+ (x,0) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^{q+1} (x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} (x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) (W_{1,k})_+ (x,0) \, dx. \end{split}$$

Analogously

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^p(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k}) (x,0) \, dx$$

=
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) (W_{1,k})_+ (x,0) \, dx.$$

Therefore, using once more (5.4.33) and (5.4.34), from (5.4.35) we obtain that (5, 4, 36)

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{k \to +\infty} \mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbb{J}'_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle \\ &= \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left(-\frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad +\frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad -\frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) (W_{1,k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &\quad +\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) (W_{1,k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad +\frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad +\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad +\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon}$$

Now we claim that

(5.4.37)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx = 0.$$

For this, notice that if $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{r+\bar{l}+1}$, then $W_{1,k}(x,0) = 0$, thanks to (5.4.22) and (5.4.21). Therefore, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{r+\bar{l}+1}$ we have that

 $(U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) = U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) = 0.$ Thus

(5.4.38)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) dx \\ = \int_{B_{r+\bar{l}+1}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) dX.$$

Thanks to (5.4.24), we have that $W_{1,k}(\cdot, 0)$ converges to zero a.e. in \mathbb{R}^n , and so $(W_{1,k})_+(\cdot, 0)$ converges to zero a.e. in \mathbb{R}^n , as $k \to +\infty$. Therefore

$$U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})^{q+1}_+(x,0) \to U^{q+1}_{\varepsilon}(x,0)$$
 for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

as $k \to +\infty$. Moreover the strong convergence of $W_{1,k}(\cdot, 0)$ in $L^{q+1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (due again to (5.4.24)) and Theorem 4.9 in [10] imply that there exists a function $F \in L^{q+1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $|W_{1,k}(x,0)| \leq |F(x)|$ for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. This and the boundedness of U_{ε} (see Corollary 4.1.2) give that

$$h(U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q+1} \leq |h|(|U_{\varepsilon}| + |W_{1,k}|)^{q+1} \leq C|h|(1+|F|^{q+1}) \in L^{1}(B_{r+\bar{l}+1}),$$

for a suitable C > 0. Thus, the Dominated Convergence Theorem applies, and together with (5.4.38) give the convergence in (5.4.37).

Consequently, from (5.4.36) and (5.4.37) we obtain that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \left(\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle \right)$$
$$= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \ge 0$$

(recall that $p + 1 = 2_s^* > 2$). In particular, by (5.4.31) and (5.4.39), there holds

$$\begin{aligned} (5.4.40) \\ \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) &= \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle \\ &\geq \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle - C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1) \\ &\geq -C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1), \end{aligned}$$

where C is a positive constant that may change from line to line.

Formula (5.4.40) provides the desired estimate from below for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k})$. Next step is to obtain an estimate from below for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k})$ as well. Step 2: Lower bound for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k})$. We first observe that formula (3.1.3) implies that there exists a constant L > 0 such that

$$(U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{q}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0)| \leq L(W_{2,k})_{+}^{q}(x,0).$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^q(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \, dx \right| \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)| \left| (U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^q(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) \right| \left| (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \right| \, dx \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon L \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)| (W_{2,k})^q_+(x,0)| (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0)| \, dx \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon L \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)| (W_{2,k})^q_+(x,0) U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)| (W_{2,k})^{q+1}_+(x,0) \, dx \right) \end{aligned}$$

Thanks to Lemma 5.3.1 (applied here with $V_k := W_{2,k}$, $U_o := U_{\varepsilon}$, $\psi := h$, $\alpha := q$ and $\beta := 1$) we have that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)| (W_{2,k})^q_+(x,0) U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \, dx = 0.$$

Moreover, by Hölder inequality with exponents $\frac{2^*_s}{2^*_s-1-q}$ and $\frac{2^*_s}{q+1}$ we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)| (W_{2,k})_+^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)|^{\frac{2^*}{2^*_s - 1 - q}} \, dx \right)^{\frac{2^*_s - 1 - q}{2^*_s}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_{2,k})_+^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{q+1}{2^*_s}} \\ &\leqslant C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_k)_+^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{q+1}{2^*_s}} \leqslant C[U_k]_a^{q+1} \leqslant C, \end{split}$$

for some constant C > 0, where we have also used (1.1.5), Proposition 1.2.1 and Corollary 4.1.2. The last three formulas imply that

$$\left|\varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^q(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) \right) \left(U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \right)(x,0) \, dx \right| \leq C\varepsilon + o_k(1)$$

for a suitable C > 0. This, together with (1.2.18), (5.4.23) and (5.4.31) (with i = 2) gives

$$\begin{split} (5.4.41) & \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla W_{2,k}|^{2} dX \\ &= \langle \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{2,k}, U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k}) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla W_{2,k}, \nabla U_{\varepsilon} \rangle, dX \\ &\quad + \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{q}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) dx \\ &\quad + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) dx \\ &\leqslant C \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_{k}(1) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) dx. \end{split}$$
 Now notice that if $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ is such that $W_{2,k} \leqslant 0$ then

 $(U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) = 0,$

and so

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^p (x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p (x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \, dx$$

=
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^p (x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p (x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)(x,0) \, dx$$

=
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{p+1} (x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} (x,0) \right) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^p (x,0) (W_{2,k})_+ (x,0) \, dx.$$

According to Lemma 5.3.1 (applied here with $V_k := W_{2,k}$, $U_o := U_{\varepsilon}$, $\psi := 1$, $\alpha := 1$ and $\beta := p$) we have that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U^p_{\varepsilon}(x,0)(W_{2,k})_+(x,0) \, dx = 0.$$

Therefore, (5.4.41) becomes

(5.4.42)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla W_{2,k}|^2 dX$$

 $\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) dx + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$

Furthermore, it is not difficult to see that that there exist two constants $0 < c_1 < c_2$ such that

$$c_1 \leqslant \frac{(1+t)^{p+1} - 1 - t^{p+1}}{t^p + t} \leqslant c_2, \qquad t > 0$$

Thus, setting $t := \frac{(W_{2,k})_+}{U_{\varepsilon}}$, one has

$$(U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} = U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} \left[\left(1 + \frac{(W_{2,k})_{+}}{U_{\varepsilon}} \right)^{p+1} - 1 \right]$$

$$\leq U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} \left[c_{2} \left(\frac{(W_{2,k})_{+}^{p}}{U_{\varepsilon}^{p}} + \frac{(W_{2,k})_{+}}{U_{\varepsilon}} \right) + \frac{(W_{2,k})_{+}^{p+1}}{U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}} \right]$$

$$= c_{2} U_{\varepsilon} (W_{2,k})_{+}^{p} + c_{2} U_{\varepsilon}^{p} (W_{2,k})_{+} + (W_{2,k})_{+}^{p+1}.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} ((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0)) \, dx \\ &\leqslant c_2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) (W_{2,k})_+(x,0) \, dx + c_2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_{2,k})_+^p(x,0) U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \, dx \\ &\quad + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_{2,k})_+^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx. \end{split}$$

Applying Lemma 5.3.1 once more, we obtain that

and
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U^p_{\varepsilon}(x,0)(W_{2,k})_+(x,0) \, dx = 0$$
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_{2,k})^p_+(x,0)U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \, dx = 0.$$

Hence, going back to (5.4.42), we get

(5.4.43)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla W_{2,k}|^2 \, dX \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_{2,k})^{p+1}_+(x,0) \, dx + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$$

Now we observe that, thanks to (5.4.22), $W_{2,k} = U_k$ outside $B_{r+\bar{l}+1}$. So, using (5.4.17) with $\rho := r + \bar{l} + 1$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r+\bar{l}+1}} y^a |\nabla W_{2,k}|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \left(B_{r+\bar{l}+1} \cap \{y=0\}\right)} (W_{2,k})^{2^*_s}_+(x,0) \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r+\bar{l}+1}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \left(B_{r+\bar{l}+1} \cap \{y=0\}\right)} (U_k)^{2^*_s}_+(x,0) \, dx \ge \eta_0,$$

for some k that depends on ρ . This implies that either

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r+\bar{\ell}+1}} y^a |\nabla W_{2,k}|^2 \, dX \ge \frac{\eta_0}{2}$$

or

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{B_{r+\bar{l}+1} \cap \{y=0\}\}} (W_{2,k})_+^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx \ge \frac{\eta_0}{2}.$$

In the first case we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla W_{2,k}|^2 \, dX \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{r+\bar{l}+1}} y^a |\nabla W_{2,k}|^2 \, dX \ge \frac{\eta_0}{2}.$$

From this and (5.4.43) it follows

(5.4.44)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (W_{2,k})_+^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx > \frac{\eta_0}{4}.$$

In the second case, this inequality holds trivially. Accordingly, we can define $\psi_{i} := \varphi_{i} W_{i}$, where

Accordingly, we can define $\psi_k := \alpha_k W_{2,k}$, where

(5.4.45)
$$\alpha_k^{p-1} := \frac{[W_{2,k}]_a^2}{\|(W_{2,k})_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}}.$$

We claim that

(5.4.46)
$$[W_{2,k}]_a^2 \leq \|(W_{2,k})_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} + C\varepsilon^{\frac{2}{p+1}} + o_k(1),$$

for a suitable positive constant $C.\,$ For this, notice that (1.2.18), (5.4.23) and (5.4.31) give

$$(5.4.47)$$

$$[W_{2,k}]_{a}^{2} = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{2,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \rangle - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{\varepsilon}, \nabla W_{2,k} \rangle \, dX$$

$$+ \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{q}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \, dx$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \, dx$$

$$\leqslant C \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_{k}(1)$$

$$+ \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{q}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \, dx$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \, dx$$

We can rewrite

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^q (x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q (x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k}) (x,0) \, dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{q+1} (x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} (x,0) \right) \, dx$$

$$- \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^q (x,0) (W_{2,k})_+ (x,0) \, dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{q+1} (x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} (x,0) \right) \, dx + o_k(1),$$

where we have applied once again Lemma 5.3.1. Analogously,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^p (x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p (x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{p+1} (x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} (x,0) \right) \, dx + o_k(1).$$

Plugging these informations into (5.4.47), we obtain that

(5.4.48)
$$[W_{2,k}]_a^2 \leqslant \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) dx + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$$

So using (5.3.5) into (5.4.48) we obtain

(5.4.49)
$$[W_{2,k}]_a^2 \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) dx + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1),$$

up to renaming constants. Now we use (5.3.4) with $V_k := W_{2,k}$ and $U_o := U_{\varepsilon}$ and we get

$$\begin{split} [W_{2,k}]_a^2 &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1) \\ &= \| (U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)(\cdot,0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} - \| U_{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1) \\ &= \| (W_{2,k})_+(\cdot,0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1), \end{split}$$

and this shows (5.4.46).

From (5.4.45), (5.4.46) and (5.4.44) we have that

(5.4.50)
$$\alpha_k^{p-1} = \frac{[W_{2,k}]_a^2}{\|(W_{2,k})_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}} \le 1 + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$$

Notice also that, with the choice of α_k in (5.4.45), it holds

$$[\psi_k]_a^2 = \alpha_k^2 [W_{2,k}]_a^2 = \alpha_k^{p+1} \| (W_{2,k})_+ (\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} = \| (\psi_k)_+ (\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}.$$

Hence, by (1.2.6) and Proposition 1.2.1, we have that

$$S \leq \frac{[\psi_k(\cdot,0)]_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2}{\|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2} = \frac{[\psi_k]_a^2}{\|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2}$$
$$= \frac{\|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1}}{\|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2} = \|(\psi_k)_+(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p-1}.$$

Accordingly,

$$\|(W_{2,k})_{+}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p+1} = \frac{\|(\psi_{k})_{+}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p+1}}{\alpha_{k}^{p+1}} \ge S^{n/2s} \frac{1}{\alpha_{k}^{p+1}},$$

where we have used the fact that $p-1 = 2_s^* - 2 = \frac{4s}{n-2s}$. This, together with (5.4.50), gives that

(5.4.51)
$$S^{n/2s} \leq (1 + C\varepsilon^{\frac{2}{p+1}} + o_k(1))^{\frac{p+1}{p-1}} \| (W_{2,k})_+ (\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} \\ \leq \| (W_{2,k})_+ (\cdot, 0) \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$$

Moreover, by (5.4.23) and Lemma 5.3.1 we have that

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) &= \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbb{J}'_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \rangle \\ = &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla W_{2,k}, \nabla U_{\varepsilon} \rangle \, dX \\ &- \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) (W_{2,k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) (W_{2,k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{q}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &= -\varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx + o_{k}(1). \end{split}$$

We observe that $\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} = \frac{s}{n}$. Thus, using (5.3.5) we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) &- \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{2,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \rangle \\ \geqslant \quad \frac{s}{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx - C\varepsilon + o_k(1), \end{aligned}$$

for some C > 0. Therefore, using (5.3.4) with $V_k := W_{2,k}$ and $U_o := U_{\varepsilon}$, we have that

$$\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{2,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \rangle \ge \frac{s}{n} \| (W_{2,k})_+ \|_{L^{p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p+1} - C\varepsilon + o_k(1).$$

Furthermore, by (5.4.51),

$$\mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbb{J}'_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \rangle \geqslant \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$$

This and (5.4.31) give the desired estimate for $\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k})$, namely

(5.4.52)
$$\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) \geq \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$$

Step 3: Lower bound for $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_k)$. Now, keeping in mind the estimates obtained in (5.4.40) and (5.4.52) for $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k})$ and $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k})$ respectively, we will produce an estimate for $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_k)$. Indeed, notice first that $U_k =$ $\chi U_k + (1-\chi)U_k = W_{1,k} + W_{2,k},$ thanks to (5.4.22). Hence, recalling (1.2.15), we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) &= \mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) + \mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla W_{1,k}, \nabla W_{2,k} \rangle \, dX \\ &- \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) (U_{k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) (U_{k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &- \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) (W_{1,k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) (W_{1,k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &- \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) (W_{2,k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) (W_{2,k})_{+}(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \end{split}$$

\$ EXISTENCE OF A MOUNTAIN PASS SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.4 Thanks to Lemma 5.3.1 we have that

$$\begin{split} \lim_{k \to +\infty} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) (U_k)_+(x,0) \, dx = 0, \\ & \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) (U_k)_+(x,0) \, dx, \\ & \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) (W_{1,k})_+(x,0) \, dx = 0, \\ & \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) (W_{1,k})_+(x,0) \, dx = 0, \\ & \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) (W_{2,k})_+(x,0) \, dx \\ \end{split}$$
and
$$\begin{split} & \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) (W_{2,k})_+(x,0) \, dx = 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) &= \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) + \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla W_{1,k}, \nabla W_{2,k} \rangle \, dX \\ &\quad -\frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad -\frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad +\frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad +\frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad +\frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &\quad +\frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx + o_{k}(1). \end{split}$$

Since the terms with ε in front are bounded (see (5.3.5) and notice that it holds also for U_k and $W_{1,k}$), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} (5.4.53) \\ \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) \geqslant \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) + \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla W_{1,k}, \nabla W_{2,k} \rangle \, dX \\ &- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &- C\varepsilon + o_{k}(1). \end{aligned}$$

Now notice that

(5.4.54)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla W_{1,k}, \nabla W_{2,k} \rangle \, dX$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla (U_{k} - W_{1,k}), \nabla W_{1,k} \rangle \, dX$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla (U_{k} - W_{2,k}), \nabla W_{2,k} \rangle \, dX.$$

Moreover, from (1.2.18) we have that for any $i\in\{1,2\}$

$$\langle \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{k}) - \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{i,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k} \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} y^{a} \langle \nabla(U_{k} - W_{i,k}), \nabla(W_{i,k} + U_{\varepsilon}) \rangle dX$$

$$- \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{q} - U_{\varepsilon}^{q} \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k}) dx$$

$$- \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p} \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k}) dx$$

$$+ \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{i,k})_{+})^{q} - U_{\varepsilon}^{q} \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k}) dx$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{i,k})_{+})^{p} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p} \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k}) dx.$$

We claim that

$$(5.4.56) \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^q(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k})(x,0) \, dx \leqslant C + o_k(1)$$

and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{i,k})_+)^q(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k})(x,0) \, dx \leqslant C + o_k(1),$

for some C > 0. Let us prove the first estimate in (5.4.56). For this, we notice that if $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is such that $U_k(x,0) \ge 0$ then also $W_{i,k}(x,0) \ge 0$, thanks to the definition of $W_{i,k}$ given in (5.4.22). Hence

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^q (x, 0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q (x, 0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k}) (x, 0) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^q (x, 0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q (x, 0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{i,k})_+) (x, 0) \, dx \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^q (x, 0) - U_{\varepsilon}^q (x, 0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+) (x, 0) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^{q+1} (x, 0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1} (x, 0) \right) \, dx \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^q (x, 0) (U_k)_+) (x, 0) \, dx \\ &\leqslant C + o_k(1), \end{split}$$

for a suitable C > 0, thanks to (5.3.5) (that holds true also for U_k) and Lemma 5.3.1. Analogously one can prove also the second estimate in (5.4.56), and this finishes the proof of (5.4.56).

Hence, from (5.4.53), (5.4.54), (5.4.55) and (5.4.56) we get

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) \\ \geqslant & \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) + \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) + \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{k}) - \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{1,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \rangle \\ & \quad + \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_{k}) - \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(W_{2,k}), U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \rangle \\ & \quad - \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ & \quad + \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ & \quad + \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ & \quad + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) \left(U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \right) (x,0) \, dx \\ & \quad - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) \left(U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \right) (x,0) \, dx \\ & \quad + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) \left(U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k} \right) (x,0) \, dx \\ & \quad - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) \left(U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \right) (x,0) \, dx \\ & \quad - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) \left(U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} \right) (x,0) \, dx \\ & \quad - C_{\varepsilon} + o_{k}(1). \end{split}$$

Moreover, the estimates in (5.4.29) and (5.4.30) give

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) &\geqslant \ \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) + \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) \\ &- \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k})(x,0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k})(x,0) \, dx \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \, dx \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k})(x,0) \, dx \\ &- C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_{k}(1). \end{split}$$

Now we use Lemma 5.3.1 once more to see that, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{i,k})_+)^p(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{i,k})(x,0) \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{i,k})_+)^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx + o_k(1).$$

Hence, using this and collecting some terms, we have

$$\begin{aligned} (5.4.57) & \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) \\ \geqslant \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) + \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) \\ & - \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ & + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k})(x,0) \, dx \\ & + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x,0) \, dx \\ & - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ & - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ & - C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_{k}(1). \end{aligned}$$

Now we claim that

(5.4.58)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) \right) U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \, dx = 0.$$

Indeed, we first observe that for any $a \geqslant b \geqslant 0$

$$a^{p} - b^{p} = p \int_{b}^{a} t^{p-1} dt \le p a^{p-1} (a-b).$$

Hence, taking $a := U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+$ and $b := U_{\varepsilon}$, we have that

$$|(U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p - U_{\varepsilon}^p| \leq p(U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^{p-1}(U_k)_+.$$

Accordingly,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) \right) U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \, dx$$
$$\leqslant p \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^{p-1}(x,0) (U_k)_+(x,0) U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \, dx.$$

We now use Hölder inequality with exponents $\frac{2_s^*}{p-1} = \frac{n}{2s}$ and $\frac{n}{n-2s}$ and obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \right) U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \, dx \\ &\leqslant p \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{2^{*}_{s}}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{2s}{n}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{\frac{n}{n-2s}}(x,0) U_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{n}{n-2s}}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{n-2s}{n}} \\ &\leqslant C [U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+}]_{a}^{p-1} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{\frac{n}{n-2s}}(x,0) U_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{n}{n-2s}}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{n-2s}{n}} \\ &\leqslant C \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{\frac{n}{n-2s}}(x,0) U_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{n}{n-2s}}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{n-2s}{n}}, \end{split}$$

for some positive C that may change from line to line, thanks to Proposition 1.2.1 and (5.4.2). Now the desired claim in (5.4.58) simply follows by using Lemma 5.3.1 with $V_k := U_k$, $U_o := U_{\varepsilon}$, $\psi := 1$, $\alpha := \frac{n}{n-2s}$ and $\beta := \frac{n}{n-2s}$ (notice that $\alpha + \beta = 2^*_s$).

From (5.4.58) we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p (x, 0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p (x, 0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k})(x, 0) \, dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p (x, 0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p (x, 0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{2,k})(x, 0) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p (x, 0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p (x, 0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + W_{1,k} + W_{2,k})(x, 0) \, dx + o_k(1) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p (x, 0) - U_{\varepsilon}^p (x, 0) \right) (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)(x, 0) \, dx + o_k(1) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^{p+1} (x, 0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1} (x, 0) \right) (x, 0) \, dx + o_k(1), \end{split}$$

where Lemma 5.3.1 was used once again in the last line. Plugging this information into (5.4.57) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) \\ \geqslant & \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) + \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) \\ & + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ & - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{1,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \\ & - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (W_{2,k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx - C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_{k}(1) \right) \, dx \end{aligned}$$

Now we use (5.3.4) with $U_o := U_{\varepsilon}$ and $V_k := U_k$, $V_k := W_{1,k}$ and $V_k := W_{2,k}$ respectively, and so

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) & \geqslant \quad \mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) + \mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ & - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (W_{1,k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx \\ & - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (W_{2,k})_{+}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx - C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_{k}(1).\end{aligned}$$

Notice now that for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^r$

$$(U_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) - (W_{1,k})_+^{p+1}(x,0) - (W_{2,k})_+^{p+1}(x,0)$$

= $(U_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) - \chi^{p+1}(x,0)(U_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) - (1-\chi(x,0))^{p+1}(U_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0)$
= $(U_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) \left(1 - \chi^{p+1}(x,0) - (1-\chi)^{p+1}(x,0)\right) \ge 0.$

This and the fact that p + 1 > 2 give

$$\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) \geqslant \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{1,k}) + \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(W_{2,k}) - C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1).$$

Finally, this, together with (5.4.40) and (5.4.52), implies that

$$\mathbb{J}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) \geqslant \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}} + o_k(1),$$

up to renaming constants. Therefore, taking the limit as $k \to +\infty$ we have

$$c_{\varepsilon} = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) \geqslant \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s} - C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}}.$$

This gives a contradiction with (5.4.1) and finishes the proof of Lemma 5.4.4. $\hfill \Box$

We are now in the position to show that the functional $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$ introduced in (1.2.15) satisfies a Palais-Smale condition.

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 5.4.1. Thanks to Lemma 5.4.3 we know that the sequence U_k weakly converges to 0 in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ as $k \to +\infty$.

For any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we set $V_k := U_{\varepsilon} + U_k$, where U_{ε} is the local minimum of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$ found Theorem 1.2.2. Since U_{ε} is a critical point of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$, from (1.2.11) we deduce that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_\varepsilon, \nabla U_k \rangle \, dX = \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U^q_\varepsilon(x,0) U_k(x,0) \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U^p_\varepsilon(x,0) U_k(x,0) \, dx.$$

Therefore, recalling (1.2.10) and (1.2.15) we have

$$\begin{split} (5.4.59) \\ \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_{k}) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla(U_{\varepsilon} + U_{k})|^{2} dX \\ &\quad - \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)(U_{\varepsilon} + U_{k})^{q+1}_{+}(x,0) dx - \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (U_{\varepsilon} + U_{k})^{p+1}_{+}(x,0) dx \\ &= \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{\varepsilon}, \nabla U_{k} \rangle dX \\ &\quad + \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_{k})^{q+1}_{+}(x,0) \right) dx \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_{k})^{p+1}_{+}(x,0) \right) dx \\ &\quad - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0)(U_{k})_{+}(x,0) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0)(U_{k})_{+}(x,0) \\ &= \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}) + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}) \\ &\quad + \frac{\varepsilon}{q+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{q+1}(x,0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_{k})^{q+1}_{+}(x,0) \right) dx \\ &\quad + (q+1) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0)(U_{k} - (U_{k})_{+})(x,0) \right) dx \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p+1}(x,0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_{k})^{p+1}_{+}(x,0) \right) dx. \end{split}$$

We now claim that (5.4.60)

 $(U_{\varepsilon}^{(1)}+(U_{k})_{+})^{r+1}(x,0)-(U_{\varepsilon}+U_{k})_{+}^{r+1}(x,0)+(r+1)U_{\varepsilon}^{r}(x,0)(U_{k}-(U_{k})_{+})(x,0) \leq 0,$ for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ and $r \in \{p,q\}$. Indeed, the claim is trivially true if $U_{k}(x,0) \geq 0$. Hence we suppose that $U_{k}(x,0) < 0$, and so (5.4.60) becomes (5.4.61) $U_{\varepsilon}^{r+1}(x,0) = (U_{\varepsilon}+U_{\varepsilon})^{r+1}(x,0) + (v_{\varepsilon}+1)U_{\varepsilon}^{r}(x,0)(U_{\varepsilon}-(U_{\varepsilon}))(v_{\varepsilon}-0) \leq 0$

$$U_{\varepsilon}^{r+1}(x,0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)_{+}^{r+1}(x,0) + (r+1)U_{\varepsilon}^{r}(x,0)(U_k - (U_k)_{+})(x,0) \le 0.$$

Given a > 0, the function $f(t) := (a + t)^{r+1}_+$, for $t \in \mathbb{R}$, is convex, and therefore it satisfies for any b < 0

$$f(b) \ge f(0) + f'(0)b,$$

that is

$$(a+b)_{+}^{r+1} \ge a^{r+1} + (r+1)a^rb.$$

Thus, taking $a := U_{\varepsilon}(x, 0)$ and $b := U_k(x, 0)$ we have

$$(U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)_+^{r+1}(x, 0) \ge U_{\varepsilon}^{r+1}(x, 0) + (r+1)U_{\varepsilon}^r(x, 0)U_k(x, 0),$$

which shows (5.4.61), and in turn (5.4.60).

Accordingly, using (5.4.60) into (5.4.59) we get

(5.4.62)
$$\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k) \leq \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(U_k) + \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}).$$

This and assumption (i) in Proposition 5.4.1 imply that

$$(5.4.63) |\mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k)| \leqslant C,$$

for a suitable C > 0 independent of k.

Now we recall that U_{ε} is a critical point of $\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}$. Hence, from (1.2.11) we deduce that for any $\Psi \in \dot{H}_{a}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$ with $\psi := \Psi(\cdot, 0)$ (5.4.64)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla U_\varepsilon, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX = \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U^q_\varepsilon(x,0) \psi(x) \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U^p_\varepsilon(x,0) \psi(x) \, dx.$$

Moreover, from (1.2.11) and (1.2.18) we have that

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{F}'_{\varepsilon}(V_{k}), \Psi \rangle \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla V_{k}, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) (V_{k})^{q}_{+}(x, 0) \psi(x) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})^{p}_{+}(x, 0) \psi(x) \, dx \\ &= \langle \mathcal{I}'_{\varepsilon}(U_{k}), \Psi \rangle + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla U_{\varepsilon}, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \\ &+ \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{q}(x, 0) - U^{q}_{\varepsilon}(x, 0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_{k})_{+})^{p}(x, 0) - U^{p}_{\varepsilon}(x, 0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx \\ &- \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) (V_{k})^{q}_{+}(x, 0) \psi(x) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (V_{k})^{p}_{+}(x, 0) \psi(x) \, dx. \end{split}$$

Using (5.4.64) in the formula above and recalling that $V_k = U_{\varepsilon} + U_k$, we obtain

$$(5.4.65)$$

$$\langle \mathfrak{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), \Psi \rangle = \langle \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}'(U_k), \Psi \rangle$$

$$+ \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^q (x, 0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)_+^q (x, 0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p (x, 0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)_+^p (x, 0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx.$$

We claim that

(5.4.66)

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^q (x, 0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)^q_+ (x, 0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx = 0$$
and
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p (x, 0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)^p_+ (x, 0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx = 0.$$

Notice that if $U_k(x,0) \ge 0$ then

$$(U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^q (x, 0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)_+^q (x, 0)$$

= $(U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)^q (x, 0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)^q (x, 0) = 0$
and $(U_{\varepsilon} + (U_k)_+)^p (x, 0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)_+^p (x, 0)$
= $(U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)^p (x, 0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)^p (x, 0) = 0.$

Therefore the claim becomes

(5.4.67)

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \cap \{U_k(\cdot,0) < 0\}} h(x) \left(U_{\varepsilon}^q(x,0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)_+^q(x,0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx = 0$$
and
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \cap \{U_k(\cdot,0) < 0\}} \left(U_{\varepsilon}^p(x,0) - (U_{\varepsilon} + U_k)_+^p(x,0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx = 0.$$

Now, we recall that Lemma 5.4.3 here and the compact embedding in Theorem 7.1 in [21] imply that $U_k(\cdot, 0) \to 0$ a.e. in \mathbb{R}^n as $k \to +\infty$. Moreover, we notice that, by the Hölder inequality with exponents $\frac{2_s^*}{2_s^*-1-q}$, $\frac{2_s^*}{q}$ and 2_s^* ,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \cap \{U_{k}(\cdot,0)<0\}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(x,0) \psi(x) \, dx \right| \\ & \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \cap \{U_{k}(\cdot,0)<0\}} |h(x)|^{\frac{2^{*}_{s}}{2^{*}_{s}-1-q}} \, dx \right)^{\frac{2^{*}_{s}-1-q}{2^{*}_{s}}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \cap \{U_{k}(\cdot,0)<0\}} U_{\varepsilon}^{2^{*}_{s}}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{q}{2^{*}_{s}}} \\ & \cdot \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \cap \{U_{k}(\cdot,0)<0\}} |\psi(x)|^{2^{*}_{s}} \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2^{*}_{s}}} \\ & \leq \|h\|_{L^{\frac{2^{*}_{s}}{2^{*}_{s}-1-q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} S^{-q/2} [U_{\varepsilon}]^{q}_{a} S^{-1/2} [\Psi]_{a} \leq C, \end{split}$$

for some C > 0, thanks to (1.1.5) and Proposition 1.2.1. Consequently

$$h\left(U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(\cdot,0)-(U_{\varepsilon}+U_{k})_{+}^{q}(\cdot,0)\right)\psi \leqslant |h|U_{\varepsilon}^{q}(\cdot,0)|\psi| \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n} \cap \{U_{k}(\cdot,0)<0\}).$$

Hence, by the Dominated Convergence Theorem we get the first limit in (5.4.67).

To prove the second limit in (5.4.67), we use the Hölder inequality with exponents $\frac{2^s_s}{p} = \frac{2n}{n+2s}$ and $2^*_s = \frac{2n}{n-2s}$ to see that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \cap \{U_{k}(\cdot,0)<0\}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0)\psi(x) \, dx \right| \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \cap \{U_{k}(\cdot,0)<0\}} U_{\varepsilon}^{2^{*}}(x,0) \, dx \right)^{\frac{n+2s}{2n}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \cap \{U_{k}(\cdot,0)<0\}} |\psi(x)|^{2^{*}_{s}} \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2^{*}_{s}}} \\ &\leqslant S^{-p/2} [U_{\varepsilon}]_{a}^{p} S^{-1/2} [\Psi]_{a} \leqslant C, \end{aligned}$$

for a suitable C > 0, where (1.2.7) was also used. Therefore,

$$\left(U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(\cdot,0)-\left(U_{\varepsilon}+U_{k}\right)_{+}^{p}(\cdot,0)\right)\psi\leqslant U_{\varepsilon}^{p}(\cdot,0)|\psi|\in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n}\cap\{U_{k}(\cdot,0)<0\}).$$

So the second limit in (5.4.67) follows from the Dominated Convergence Theorem. This shows (5.4.67) and so the proof of (5.4.66) is finished.

As a consequence of (5.4.65), (5.4.66) and assumption (ii) in Proposition 5.4.1 we have that

(5.4.68)
$$\mathscr{F}'_{\varepsilon}(V_k) \to 0 \text{ as } k \to +\infty$$

in the sense of Remark 5.4.2. This, together with (5.4.63) and Lemma 3.2.3, implies that the sequence V_k is uniformly bounded in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, namely there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$(5.4.69) [V_k]_a \leq M \text{ for all } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Hence, V_k is weakly convergent in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ to some function V_0 . Since $V_k = U_{\varepsilon} + U_k$ and U_k weakly converges to 0 in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ as $k \to +\infty$ (see Lemma 5.4.3), it turns out that $V_0 = U_{\varepsilon}$. Also, we recall that U_{ε} is positive, thanks to Proposition 1.2.3. Therefore, we are in the position to apply Lemma 5.3.3 with $W_m := V_k$ and $W := U_{\varepsilon}$, and we obtain that

(5.4.70)
$$(V_k)_+$$
 weakly converges to U_{ε} in $H^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ as $k \to +\infty$

We also show that

(5.4.71) the sequence $\{V_k\}_k$ is tight, according to Definition 2.2.1.

For this, we fix $\eta > 0$. Thanks to Lemma 5.4.4, we have that there exists $\rho_1 > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho_1}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX < \frac{\eta}{4},$$

for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, since $U_{\varepsilon} \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, there exists $\rho_2 > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho_2}} y^a |\nabla U_{\varepsilon}|^2 \, dX < \frac{\eta}{4}.$$

We take $\rho := \max\{\rho_1, \rho_2\}$, and so the two formulas above give that

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a |\nabla V_k|^2 \, dX \\ = & \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a |\nabla U_{\varepsilon}|^2 \, dX \\ & + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a \langle \nabla U_k, \nabla U_{\varepsilon} \rangle \, dX \\ \leqslant & \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a |\nabla U_{\varepsilon}|^2 \, dX \\ & + 2 \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a |\nabla U_k|^2 \, dX} \cdot \sqrt{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \setminus B^+_{\rho}} y^a |\nabla U_{\varepsilon}|^2 \, dX} \\ \leqslant & \frac{\eta}{4} + \frac{\eta}{4} + 2 \frac{\sqrt{\eta}}{2} \frac{\sqrt{\eta}}{2} = \eta. \end{split}$$

This shows (5.4.71).

Also, Theorem 1.1.4 in [24] gives the existence of two measures on \mathbb{R}^n and \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ , ν and μ respectively, such that $(V_k)^{2^*}_+(\cdot, 0)$ converges to ν and $y^a |\nabla(V_k)_+|^2$ converges to μ as $k \to +\infty$, according to Definition 1.1.2 in [24] (see also Definition 2.2.2). This, (5.4.70) and (5.4.71) imply that the hypotheses of Proposition 2.2.3 are satisfied, and so there exist an at most countable set Jand three families $\{x_j\}_{j\in J} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\{\nu_j\}_{j\in J}$ and $\{\mu_j\}_{j\in J}$, with $\nu_j, \mu_j \ge 0$ such that

(5.4.72)
$$(V_k)^{2^*_s}_+$$
 converges to $\nu = U_{\varepsilon}^{2^*_s} + \sum_{j \in J} \nu_j \delta_{x_j}$ as $k \to +\infty$,

(5.4.73) $y^a |\nabla(V_k)_+|^2$ converges to $\mu \ge y^a |\nabla U_{\varepsilon}|^2 + \sum_{j \in J} \mu_j \delta_{(x_j,0)}$ as $k \to +\infty$

and

(5.4.74)
$$\mu_j \ge S\nu_j^{2/2_s^*} \quad \text{for all } j \in J.$$

We claim now that $\nu_j = \mu_j = 0$ for every $j \in J$. To prove this, we argue by contradiction and we suppose that there exists $j \in J$ such that $\mu_j = 0$. We denote $X_j := (x_j, 0)$, we fix $\delta > 0$ and we take a cut-off function $\phi_{\delta} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, [0, 1])$ such that

$$\phi_{\delta}(X) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } X \in B^+_{\delta/2}(X_j), \\ 0, & \text{if } X \in (B^+_{\delta}(X_j))^c, \end{cases} \text{ and } |\nabla \phi_{\delta}| \leqslant \frac{C}{\delta}, \end{cases}$$

for some C > 0.

Now, it is not difficult to show that the sequence $\phi_{\delta}(V_k)_+$ is uniformly bounded in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Therefore, from (5.4.68) and (1.2.11) we have that

$$(5.4.75)$$

$$0 = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), \phi_{\delta}(V_k)_+ \rangle$$

$$= \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla V_k, \nabla(\phi_{\delta}(V_k)_+) \rangle dX - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x)(V_k)_+^{q+1}(x, 0)\phi_{\delta}(x, 0) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{p+1}(x, 0)\phi_{\delta}(x, 0) dx \right)$$

$$= \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla(V_k)_+|^2 \phi_{\delta} dX + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(V_k)_+, \nabla \phi_{\delta} \rangle (V_k)_+ dX - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x)(V_k)_+^{q+1}(x, 0)\phi_{\delta}(x, 0) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{p+1}(x, 0)\phi_{\delta}(x, 0) dx \right)$$

We recall that $p + 1 = 2_s^*$ and we use (5.4.72) and (5.4.73) to see that

(5.4.76)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0)\phi_\delta(x,0) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi_\delta(x,0) \, d\nu$$

(5.4.77) and
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a |\nabla(V_k)_+|^2 \phi_\delta \, dX = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \phi_\delta \, d\mu$$

Also, the weak convergence in (5.4.70), (1.2.6) and Theorem 7.1 in [21] imply that $(V_k)_+(\cdot, 0)$ strongly converges to $U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, 0)$ in $L^r_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as $k \to +\infty$, for any $r \in [1, 2^*_s)$. Accordingly,

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, dx \right| \\ \leqslant \|h\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \left| \int_{B_{\delta}^+(X_j) \cap \{y=0\}} \left((V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \right) \, dx \right| \to 0,$$

as $k \to +\infty$, since $1 < q + 1 < 2_s^*$. This implies that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, dx.$$

Taking the limit as $\delta \to 0$ we have

(5.4.78)
$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, dx$$
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{B_{\delta}^+(X_j) \cap \{y=0\}} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, dx = 0$$

Finally, we claim that

(5.4.79)
$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(V_k)_+, \nabla \phi_\delta \rangle(V_k)_+ \, dX = 0.$$

INDEXISTENCE OF A MOUNTAIN PASS SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.4For this, we apply the Hölder inequality and we use (5.4.69) to obtain that (5.4.80)

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(V_k)_+, \nabla\phi_\delta \rangle(V_k)_+ dX \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j)} y^a \langle \nabla(V_k)_+, \nabla\phi_\delta \rangle(V_k)_+ dX \right| \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j)} y^a |\nabla(V_k)_+|^2 dX \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j)} y^a (V_k)^2_+ |\nabla\phi_\delta|^2 dX \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant M \left(\int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j)} y^a (V_k)^2_+ |\nabla\phi_\delta|^2 dX \right)^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$

Again by (5.4.69) and Lemma 2.1.2, we deduce that

$$\left| \int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a}(V_{k})^{2}_{+} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2} dX - \int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} U_{\varepsilon}^{2} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2} dX \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{C^{2}}{\delta^{2}} \left| \int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} (V_{k})^{2}_{+} dX - \int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} U_{\varepsilon}^{2} dX \right| \to 0$$

as $k \to +\infty$. Hence

(5.4.81)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} (V_{k})^{2}_{+} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2} dX = \int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} U_{\varepsilon}^{2} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2} dX.$$

Now by the Hölder inequality with exponents γ and $\frac{\gamma}{\gamma-1}$ we have that

$$\begin{split} & \int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} U_{\varepsilon}^{2} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{2} dX \\ \leqslant & \left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} U_{\varepsilon}^{2\gamma} dX \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} \left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^{\frac{2\gamma}{\gamma-1}} dX \right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma}} \\ \leqslant & \frac{C^{2}}{\delta^{2}} \left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} U_{\varepsilon}^{2\gamma} dX \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}} \left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} dX \right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma}} \\ \leqslant & C \delta^{\frac{(n+a+1)(\gamma-1)}{\gamma}-2} \left(\int_{B_{\delta}^{+}(X_{j})} y^{a} U_{\varepsilon}^{2\gamma} dX \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}}, \end{split}$$

up to renaming constants. Since $\frac{(n+a+1)(\gamma-1)}{\gamma} - 2 = 0$, this implies that

$$\int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j)} y^a U_{\varepsilon}^2 |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^2 \, dX \leqslant C \left(\int_{B^+_{\delta}(X_j)} y^a U_{\varepsilon}^{2\gamma} \, dX \right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma}},$$

for a suitable positive constant C. Hence,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{B_{\delta}^+(X_j)} y^a U_{\varepsilon}^2 |\nabla \phi_{\delta}|^2 \, dX = 0.$$

This, together with (5.4.80) and (5.4.81), proves (5.4.79).

From (5.4.75), (5.4.76), (5.4.77), (5.4.78) and (5.4.79) we obtain that

$$0 = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), \phi_{\delta}(V_k)_+ \rangle$$
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} \phi_{\delta} \, d\mu - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi_{\delta}(x,0) \, d\nu \right) \ge \mu_j - \nu_j.$$

Therefore, this and (5.4.74) give that $\nu_j \ge \mu_j \ge S\nu_j^{2/2_s^*}$. Hence, either $\nu_j = \mu_j = 0$ or $\nu_j^{1-2/2_s^*} \ge S$. Since we are in the case $\mu_j \ne 0$, the first possibility cannot occur. As a consequence,

$$(5.4.82) \nu_j \geqslant S^{n/2s}.$$

Now, taking the limit as $k \to +\infty$ in (5.4.62) and recalling assumption (i) of Proposition 5.4.1, (5.4.68) and (5.4.69), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} c_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}) \\ &\geq \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left(\mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(V_k) - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), V_k \rangle \right) \\ &= \lim_{k \to +\infty} \left[\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{p+1}(x, 0) \, dx - \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x, 0) \, dx \right]. \end{aligned}$$
We claim that

We claim that

(5.4.84)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)^{p+1}_+(x,0) \, dx \ge S^{n/2s} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx$$

For this, we take a sequence $\{\varphi_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}\in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n,[0,1])$ such that $\lim_{m\to+\infty}\varphi_m(x)=$ 1 for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. By (5.4.72) we have that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)^{p+1}_+(x,0) \, dx \ge \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)^{p+1}_+(x,0)\varphi_m(x) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_m(x) \, d\nu.$$
Moreover, thanks to Fatou's lemma and (5.4.82)

Moreover, thanks to Fatou's lemma and (5.4.82),

$$\lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_m(x) \, d\nu \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} d\mu \ge S^{n/2s} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx$$

The last two formulas imply that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx = \lim_{m \to +\infty} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx$$
$$\geqslant \lim_{m \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_m(x) \, d\nu \geqslant S^{n/2s} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \, dx,$$

which gives the desired result in (5.4.84). We now show that

(5.4.85)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (V_k)_+^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) \, dx$$

Indeed, thanks to (5.4.69) we know that $[(V_k)_+]_a \leq M$. Therefore, Proposition 1.2.1 and Theorem 7.1 in [21] imply that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(V_k)_+(\cdot,0) - U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} &\leq 2M \\ \text{and} \qquad (V_k)_+(\cdot,0) \to U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,0) \quad \text{in } L^{q+1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \quad \text{as } k \to +\infty. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, we fix R > 0 and we use (1.1.3), (1.1.5) and the Hölder inequality to obtain that

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((V_{k})_{+}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) \right)^{q+1} dx \right| \\ &\leqslant \int_{B_{R}} |h(x)| |(V_{k})_{+}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}(x,0)|^{q+1} dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B_{R}} |h(x)| |(V_{k})_{+}(x,0) - U_{\varepsilon}(x,0)|^{q+1} dx \\ &\leqslant \|h\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|(V_{k})_{+}(\cdot,0) - U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{q+1}(B_{R})} \\ &+ \|h\|_{L^{\frac{2^{*}}{2^{*}_{s}-q-1}}(\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B_{R})} \|(V_{k})_{+}(\cdot,0) - U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\leqslant C \|(V_{k})_{+}(\cdot,0) - U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot,0)\|_{L^{q+1}(B_{R})} dx + (2M)^{q+1} \|h\|_{L^{\frac{2^{*}}{2^{*}_{s}-q-1}}(\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B_{R})}. \end{split}$$

Hence, letting first $k \to +\infty$ and then $R \to +\infty$, we obtain (5.4.85). Also, we observe that $\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1} = \frac{s}{n}$. Using this and plugging (5.4.84) and (5.4.85) into (5.4.83) we obtain that

$$c_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon})$$

$$\geq \frac{s}{n}S^{n/2s} + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p+1}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) dx$$

$$-\varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{q+1} - \frac{1}{2}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x)U_{\varepsilon}^{q+1}(x,0) dx$$

$$= \frac{s}{n}S^{n/2s} + \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}(U_{\varepsilon}).$$

Hence

$$c_{\varepsilon} \geqslant \frac{s}{n} S^{n/2s},$$

and this is a contradiction with (5.4.1).

As a consequence, necessarily $\mu_j = \nu_j = 0$ for any $j \in J$. Hence, by (5.4.72)

(5.4.86)
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)_+^{2^*_s}(x,0)\varphi(x) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_{\varepsilon}^{2^*_s}(x,0)\varphi(x) \, dx,$$

for any $\varphi \in C_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Furthermore, by Lemma 5.4.4 and the fact that $U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, 0) \in L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (thanks to Proposition 1.2.1), we have that for any $\eta > 0$ there exists $\rho > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_\rho} (V_k)_+^{2^*_s}(x,0) \, dx < \eta.$$

Thus we are in the position to apply Lemma 3.1.2 with $v_k := (V_k)_+(\cdot, 0)$ and $v := U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, 0)$, and we obtain that $(V_k)_+(\cdot, 0) \to U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, 0)$ in $L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as $k \to +\infty$. Then, by Lemma 3.1.1 (again applied with $v_k := (V_k)_+(\cdot, 0)$ and $v := U_{\varepsilon}(\cdot, 0)$) we have that

and
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(V_k)^q_+(x,0) - U^q_{\varepsilon}(x,0)|^{\frac{2^*}{q}} dx = 0$$
$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(V_k)^p_+(x,0) - U^p_{\varepsilon}(x,0)|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} dx = 0.$$

Therefore, we can fix $\delta \in (0,1)$ (that we will take arbitrarily small in the sequel), and say that

(5.4.87)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(V_k)^q_+(x,0) - (V_m)^q_+(x,0)|^{\frac{2s}{q}} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |(V_k)^p_+(x,0) - (V_m)^p_+(x,0)|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} dx \leq \delta$$

for k and m sufficiently large (say bigger that some $k_{\star}(\delta)$).

We now take $\Psi \in \dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ with $\psi := \Psi(\cdot, 0)$ and such that

(5.4.88)
$$[\Psi]_a = 1.$$

From (5.4.68) we have that, for large k (say $k \ge k_{\star}(\delta)$, up to renaming $k_{\star}(\delta)$), we deduce that

$$\left|\langle \mathcal{F}_{\varepsilon}'(V_k), \Psi \rangle\right| \leq \delta.$$

As a consequence of this and (1.2.11),

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla V_k, \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX$$
$$-\varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) (V_k)^q_+(x,0)\psi(x) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V_k)^p_+(x,0)\psi(x) \, dx \bigg| \leq \delta$$

In particular, for $k, m \ge k_{\star}(\delta)$,

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(V_k - V_m), \nabla\Psi \rangle \, dX - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \left((V_k)^q_+(x,0) - (V_m)^q_+(x,0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left((V_k)^p_+(x,0) - (V_m)^p_+(x,0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx \right| \leq 2\delta.$$

Now we use the Hölder inequality with exponents $\frac{2n}{n+2s-q(n-2s)}$, $\frac{2^*_s}{q} = \frac{2n}{q(n-2s)}$ and $2^*_s = \frac{2n}{n-2s}$, and with exponents $\frac{2^*_s}{p} = \frac{2n}{n+2s}$ and 2^*_s , and we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} \langle \nabla(V_{k} - V_{m}), \nabla\Psi \rangle \, dX \right| \\ &\leqslant \quad \varepsilon \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} h(x) \left((V_{k})_{+}^{q}(x,0) - (V_{m})_{+}^{q}(x,0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left((V_{k})_{+}^{p}(x,0) - (V_{m})_{+}^{p}(x,0) \right) \psi(x) \, dx \right| + 2\delta \\ &\leqslant \quad \varepsilon \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |h(x)|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s-q(n-2s)}} \, dx \right]^{\frac{n+2s-q(n-2s)}{2n}} \\ &\cdot \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| (V_{k})_{+}^{q}(x,0) - (V_{m})_{+}^{q}(x,0) \right|^{\frac{2s}{q}} \, dx \right]^{\frac{q(n-2s)}{2n}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\psi(x)|^{2s} \, dx \right]^{\frac{1}{2s}} \\ &+ \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| (V_{k})_{+}^{p}(x,0) - (V_{m})_{+}^{p}(x,0) \right|^{\frac{2n}{n+2s}} \, dx \right]^{\frac{n+2s}{2n}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\psi(x)|^{2s} \, dx \right]^{\frac{1}{2s}} + 2\delta \end{aligned}$$

Hence, from (1.1.5) and (5.4.87) we have that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(V_k - V_m), \nabla\Psi \rangle \, dX \right| \leq C \delta^{\frac{q(n-2s)}{2n}} \|\psi\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} + C \delta^{\frac{n+2s}{2n}} \|\psi\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} + 2\delta,$$

for a suitable positive constant C. Now notice that (1.2.7) and (5.4.88) imply that $\|\psi\|_{L^{2^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq S^{-1/2}[\Psi]_a = S^{-1/2}$, and so

(5.4.89)
$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla(V_k - V_m), \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \right| \leqslant C \delta^a,$$

for some C, a > 0, as long as $k, m \ge k_{\star}(\delta)$. Also,

$$\nabla(V_k - V_m) = \nabla V_k - \nabla V_m = \nabla(U_k + U_{\varepsilon}) - \nabla(U_m + U_{\varepsilon}) = \nabla U_k - \nabla U_m.$$

Hence, plugging this into (5.4.89), we have

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} y^a \langle \nabla (U_k - U_m), \nabla \Psi \rangle \, dX \right| \leqslant C \delta^a.$$

Since this inequality is valid for any Ψ satisfying (5.4.88), we deduce that

$$[U_k - U_m]_a \leqslant C\delta^a,$$

namely U_k is a Cauchy sequence in $\dot{H}^s_a(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Then, the desired result plainly follows.

5.5. Bound on the minimax value

The goal of this section is to show that the minimax value (computed along a suitable path) lies below the critical threshold given by Proposition 5.4.1. The chosen path will be a suitably cut-off rescaling of the fractional Sobolev minimizers introduced in (1.1.6).

To start with, we set

(5.5.1)
$$\tilde{G}(x,U) := \int_0^U \tilde{g}(x,t) dt$$

and

$$\tilde{g}(x,t) := \begin{cases} (U_{\varepsilon} + t)^q - U_{\varepsilon}^q, & \text{if } t \ge 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } t < 0. \end{cases}$$

We observe that

(5.5.2)
$$\tilde{G}(x,0) = 0.$$

Also, we see that $\tilde{g}(x,t) \ge 0$ for any $t \in \mathbb{R}$, and so

(5.5.3)
$$\tilde{G}(x,U) \ge 0$$
 for any $U \ge 0$.

Moreover, recalling (1.1.4), we write the ball B in (1.1.4) as $B_{\mu_0}(\xi)$ for some $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\mu_0 > 0$. We fix a cut-off function $\bar{\phi} \in C_0^{\infty}(B_{\mu_0}(\xi), [0, 1])$ with

(5.5.4)
$$\overline{\phi}(x) = 1 \text{ for any } x \in B_{\mu_0/2}(\xi)$$

The quantities $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\mu_0 > 0$, as well as the cut-off $\overline{\phi}$, are fixed from now on. Also, if z is as in (1.1.6), given $\mu > 0$, we let

(5.5.5)
$$z_{\mu,\xi}(x) := \mu^{-\frac{n-2s}{2}} z\left(\frac{x-\xi}{\mu}\right).$$

Let also $\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}$ be the extension of $\bar{\phi}z_{\mu,\xi}$, according to (1.2.3).

From (1.1.6), we know that

(5.5.6)
$$S = \frac{[z]_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2}{\|z\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2}$$

and $(-\Delta)^s z = z^p$. Thus, by testing this equation against z itself, we obtain that

$$[z]^{2}_{\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = ||z||^{2^{*}_{s}}_{L^{2^{*}_{s}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})},$$

which, together with (5.5.6), gives that

$$||z||_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = S^{\frac{n-2s}{4s}}$$

and so

$$[z]^2_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)} = S^{\frac{n}{2s}}$$

Moreover, by scaling, we have that

(5.5.7)
$$\|z_{\mu,\xi}\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \|z\|_{L^{2^*_s}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = S^{\frac{n-2s}{4s}}$$

and

$$[z_{\mu,\xi}]^2_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)} = [z]^2_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)} = S^{\frac{n}{2s}}.$$

From the equivalence of norms in (1.2.6) and Proposition 21 in [36], we have that

(5.5.8)
$$[\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}]_a^2 = [\bar{\phi} z_{\mu,\xi}]_{\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \leqslant S^{\frac{n}{2s}} + C\mu^{n-2s},$$

for some C > 0.

This setting is fixed from now on, together with the minimum $u_{\varepsilon}(x) = U_{\varepsilon}(x,0)$ given in Theorem 1.2.2. Now we show that the effect of the cutoff on the Lebesgue norm of the rescaled Sobolev minimizers is negligible when μ is small. The quantitative statement is the following:

LEMMA 5.5.1. We have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\bar{\phi}^{2^*_s} - 1| \, z^{2^*_s}_{\mu,\xi} \, dx \leqslant C\mu^n,$$

for some C > 0.

PROOF. We observe that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{\frac{\mu_0}{2}}(\xi)} z_{\mu,\xi}^{2^*_s}(x) \, dx = \mu^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{\frac{\mu_0}{2}}(\xi)} z^{2^*_s}\left(\frac{x-\xi}{\mu}\right) \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{\frac{\mu_0}{2\mu}}} z^{2^*_s}(y) \, dy \leqslant C \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{\frac{\mu_0}{2\mu}}} |y|^{-2n} \, dy \leqslant C\mu^n,$$

for some C > 0 (that may vary from line to line and may also depend on μ_0). As a consequence, recalling (5.5.4), we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\bar{\phi}^{2^*_s} - 1| \, z^{2^*_s}_{\mu,\xi} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{\frac{\mu_0}{2}}(\xi)} |\bar{\phi}^{2^*_s} - 1| \, z^{2^*_s}_{\mu,\xi} \, dx \leqslant C\mu^n. \qquad \Box$$

The next result states that we can always "concentrate the mass near the positivity set of h", in order to detect a positive integral out of it.

LEMMA 5.5.2. We have that

(5.5.9)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \, \tilde{G}\left(x, t\bar{\phi}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}(x)\right) \, dx \ge 0,$$

for any $\mu > 0$ and any $t \ge 0$.

PROOF. We have that $\bar{\phi}(x) = 0$ if $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{\mu_0}(\xi)$. Thus, using (5.5.2), we have that

$$\tilde{G}(x,t\bar{\phi}(x)\,z_{\mu,\xi}(x)) = 0$$

for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{\mu_0}(\xi)$. Therefore

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) \,\tilde{G}\big(x, t\bar{\phi}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}(x)\big) \, dx = \int_{B_{\mu_0}(\xi)} h(x) \,\tilde{G}\big(x, t\bar{\phi}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}(x)\big) \, dx.$$

Then, the desired result follows from (1.1.4) and (5.5.3).
Now we check that the geometry of the mountain pass is satisfied by the functional $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$. Indeed, we first observe that Proposition 5.1.1 gives that 0 is a local minimum for the functional $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$. The next result shows that the path induced by the function $\overline{Z}_{\mu,\xi}$ attains negative values, in a somehow uniform way (the uniform estimates in μ in Lemma 5.5.3 will be needed in the subsequent Corollary 5.5.8 and, from these facts, we will be able to deduce the mountain pass geometry, check that the minimax values stays below the critical threshold and complete the proof of Theorem 1.2.4 in the forthcoming Section 5.6). To this goal, it is useful to introduce the auxiliary functional

(5.5.10)
$$\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(U) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} y^{a} |\nabla U|^{2} \, dX - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} G^{\star}(x, U(x, 0)) \, dx,$$

where

$$G^{\star}(x,U) := \int_0^U g^{\star}(x,t) \, dt$$

and

$$g^{\star}(x,t) := \begin{cases} (U_{\varepsilon} + t)^p - U_{\varepsilon}^p, & \text{if } t \ge 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } t < 0. \end{cases}$$

By (1.2.15) and (5.5.1), we see that $G = G^* + \varepsilon h \tilde{G}$. Thus, as a consequence of Lemma 5.5.2, we have that

(5.5.11)
$$\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) = \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) - \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x)\,\tilde{G}(x,t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}(x))\,dx \leqslant \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}).$$

Then we have:

LEMMA 5.5.3. There exists $\mu_1 \in (0, \mu_0)$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sup_{\mu \in (0,\mu_1)} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) = -\infty.$$

In particular, there exists $T_1 > 0$ such that

(5.5.12)
$$\sup_{\mu \in (0,\mu_1)} \mathcal{J}^{\star}_{\varepsilon}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) \leqslant 0$$

for any $t \ge T_1$.

PROOF. We observe that, if $U \ge 0$,

(5.5.13)
$$G^{\star}(x,U) = \int_{0}^{U} (U_{\varepsilon}+t)^{p} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p} dt = \frac{(U_{\varepsilon}+U)^{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}}{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p} U.$$

Moreover,

$$U^p_{\varepsilon}(x,0)\,\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}(x,0)\leqslant u^{p+1}_{\varepsilon}(x)+z^{p+1}_{\mu,\xi}(x).$$

1308EXISTENCE OF A MOUNTAIN PASS SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.4

Using this and (5.5.13), we obtain that

$$G^{\star}(x, t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}(x,0)) = \frac{1}{p+1} \left((U_{\varepsilon}(x,0) + t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}(x,0))^{p+1} - U_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x,0) \right) - tU_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x,0) \bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}(x,0)$$

$$\geqslant \frac{1}{p+1} \left((t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x))^{p+1} - u_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x) \right) - tu_{\varepsilon}^{p+1}(x) - tz_{\mu,\xi}^{p+1}(x).$$

Thus, integrating over \mathbb{R}^n and recalling (1.1.5), (5.5.7) and the fact that $2_s^* = p + 1$, we get

(5.5.14)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G^{\star}(x, t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) dx \\ \geqslant \frac{t^{p+1}}{p+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \bar{\phi}^{p+1}(x) z_{\mu,\xi}^{p+1}(x) dx - C - Ct,$$

for some C > 0 (up to renaming constants).

Now we deduce from Lemma 5.5.1 that there exists $\mu_1 \in (0, 1)$ such that if $\mu \in (0, \mu_1)$ then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \bar{\phi}^{p+1}(x) z_{\mu,\xi}^{p+1}(x) \, dx \geqslant \frac{S^{\frac{n}{2s}}}{2}$$

Now, by inserting this into (5.5.14), we obtain that, if $\mu \in (0, \mu_1)$, then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G^{\star}(x, t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) \, dx \geqslant \frac{S^{\frac{n}{2s}} t^{p+1}}{2(p+1)} - C - Ct.$$

This and (5.5.10) give that

$$\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) \leqslant \frac{t^{2}[\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}]_{a}^{2}}{2} + C(1+t) - \frac{S^{\frac{n}{2s}}t^{p+1}}{2(p+1)}.$$

Hence, recalling (5.5.8),

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) \leqslant C(1+t+t^2) - \frac{S^{\frac{n}{2s}}t^{p+1}}{2(p+1)},$$

up to renaming constants, for any $\mu \in (0, \mu_1)$. Since p + 1 > 2, the desired claim easily follows.

Now we introduce a series of purely elementary, but useful, estimates.

LEMMA 5.5.4. For any $a, b \ge 0$ and any p > 1, we have that

$$(5.5.15) (a+b)^p \ge a^p + b^p$$

Also, if a, b > 0, we have that

$$(5.5.16) (a+b)^p > a^p + b^p.$$

PROOF. If either a = 0 or b = 0, then (5.5.15) is obvious. So we can suppose that $a \neq 0$ and $b \neq 0$. We let $f(b) := (a + b)^p - a^p - b^p$. Notice that $f'(b) = p((a + b)^{p-1} - b^{p-1}) > 0$, since a > 0. Hence

$$(a+b)^p - a^p - b^p = f(b) > f(0) = 0,$$

since b > 0, as desired.

The result in Lemma 5.5.4 can be made more precise when $p \ge 2$, as follows:

LEMMA 5.5.5. Let $p \ge 2$. Then, there exists $c_p > 0$ such that, for any a and $b \ge 0$,

$$(a+b)^p \ge a^p + b^p + c_p a^{p-1}b.$$

PROOF. If a = 0, then we are done, so we suppose $a \neq 0$ and we set $t_o := b/a$. For any t > 0, we let

$$f(t) := \frac{(1+t)^p - 1 - t^p}{t}.$$

From (5.5.16) (used here with a := 1 and b := t), we know that f(t) > 0 for any t > 0. Moreover

$$\lim_{t \to 0} f(t) = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1 + pt + o(t) - 1 - t^p}{t} = p,$$

hence f can be continuously extended over $[0, +\infty)$ by setting f(0) := p. Furthermore,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} f(t) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} t^{p-1} \left(\left(\frac{1}{t} + 1 \right)^p - \frac{1}{t^p} - 1 \right)$$
$$= \lim_{t \to +\infty} t^{p-1} \left(1 + \frac{p}{t} + o\left(\frac{1}{t} \right) - \frac{1}{t^p} - 1 \right)$$
$$= \lim_{t \to +\infty} t^{p-2} \left(p + \frac{o\left(\frac{1}{t} \right)}{\frac{1}{t}} \right) - \frac{1}{t} = \begin{cases} p & \text{if } p = 2, \\ +\infty & \text{if } p > 2. \end{cases}$$

In any case,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} f(t) \ge f(0) = p,$$

hence

$$c_p := \inf_{[0,+\infty)} f = \min_{[0,+\infty)} f > 0.$$

As a consequence,

$$(a+b)^{p} - a^{p} - b^{p} - c_{p} a^{p-1}b$$

= $a^{p} ((1+t_{o})^{p} - 1 - t_{o}^{p} - c_{p} t_{o})$
= $a^{p} t_{o} (f(t_{o}) - c_{p})$
 $\geqslant 0,$

as desired.

It is worth to stress that the result in Lemma 5.5.5 does not hold when $p \in (1, 2)$, differently than what is often stated in the literature: as a

109

counterexample, one can take b = 1 and observe that

$$\lim_{a \to 0} \frac{(a+b)^p - a^p - b^p}{a^{p-1}b} = \lim_{a \to 0} \frac{(a+1)^p - a^p - 1}{a^{p-1}}$$
$$= \lim_{a \to 0} \frac{1 + pa + o(a) - a^p - 1}{a^{p-1}} = \lim_{a \to 0} pa^{2-p} + a^{1-p}o(a) - a = 0$$

when $p \in (1, 2)$. In spite of this additional difficulty, when $p \in (1, 2)$ one can obtain a variant of Lemma 5.5.5 under an additional assumption on the size of b. The precise statement goes as follows:

LEMMA 5.5.6. Let $p \in (1, 2)$ and $\kappa > 0$. Then, there exists $c_{p,\kappa} > 0$ such that, for any a > 0, $b \ge 0$, with $\frac{b}{a} \in [0, \kappa]$, we have

$$(a+b)^p \ge a^p + b^p + c_{p,\kappa} a^{p-1} b.$$

PROOF. The proof is a variation of the one of Lemma 5.5.5. Full details are provided for the facility of the reader. We set $t_o := \frac{b}{a} \in [0, \kappa]$. For any t > 0, we let

$$f(t) := \frac{(1+t)^p - 1 - t^p}{t}$$

From (5.5.16) (used here with a := 1 and b := t), we know that f(t) > 0 for any t > 0. Moreover, f can be continuously extended over $[0, +\infty)$ by setting f(0) := p. Therefore

$$c_{p,\kappa} := \min_{[0,\kappa]} f > 0.$$

As a consequence,

$$(a+b)^{p} - a^{p} - b^{p} - c_{p,\kappa} a^{p-1}b$$

= $a^{p} ((1+t_{o})^{p} - 1 - t_{o}^{p} - c_{p,\kappa} t_{o})$
= $a^{p} t_{o} (f(t_{o}) - c_{p,\kappa})$
 $\geqslant 0,$

as desired.

Now we consider the functional introduced in (5.5.10), deal with the path induced by the function z in (1.1.6) (suitably scaled and cut-off) and show that the associated mountain pass level for $\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}$ lies below the critical threshold $\frac{s}{n}S^{\frac{n}{2s}}$ (see Proposition 5.4.1). The precise result goes as follows:

LEMMA 5.5.7. There exists $\mu_{\star} \in (0, \mu_0)$ such that if $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$ then we have

(5.5.17)
$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \mathcal{J}^{\star}_{\varepsilon}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) < \frac{s}{n} S^{\frac{n}{2s}}.$$

PROOF. We will take $\mu_* \leq \mu_1$, where $\mu_1 > 0$ was introduced in Lemma 5.5.3. We also take T_1 as in Lemma 5.5.3. Then, by (5.5.12),

(5.5.18)
$$\sup_{t \ge T_1} \sup_{\mu \in (0,\mu_\star)} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) \leqslant \sup_{t \ge T_1} \sup_{\mu \in (0,\mu_1)} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) \leqslant 0 < \frac{s}{n} S^{\frac{n}{2s}}.$$

Consequently, we have that the claim in (5.5.17) holds true if we prove that, for any $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$,

(5.5.19)
$$\sup_{t\in[0,T_1]} \mathfrak{I}^{\star}_{\varepsilon}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) < \frac{s}{n} S^{\frac{n}{2s}}.$$

To this goal, we set

(5.5.20)
$$m := \begin{cases} 2 & \text{if } n > 4s, \\ 2_s^* - 1 & \text{if } n \in (2s, 4s], \end{cases}$$

and

(5.5.21)
$$\Omega := \begin{cases} B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi) \setminus B_{\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi) & \text{if } n > 4s, \\ \mathbb{R}^n & \text{if } n \in (2s, 4s]. \end{cases}$$

For further reference, we point out that, if $n \in (2s, 4s]$, then $m-2 = \frac{6s-n}{n-2s} > 0$, and so

$$(5.5.22) m-2 \ge 0 \text{ for every } n > 2s.$$

We claim that, for any $t \in [0, T_1]$, any $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$ and any $x \in \Omega$, we have (5.5.23)

$$G^{\star}(x,t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)) \geqslant \frac{t^{2^{*}_{s}}\bar{\phi}^{2^{*}_{s}}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}^{2^{*}_{s}}(x)}{2^{*}_{s}} + \frac{c\,u_{\varepsilon}^{2^{*}_{s}-m}(x)\,t^{m}\bar{\phi}^{m}(x)\,z_{\mu,\xi}^{m}(x)}{m},$$

for some c > 0.

To prove it, we distinguish two cases, according to whether n > 4s or $n \in (2s, 4s]$. If n > 4s, we take $a := u_{\varepsilon}(x)$ and $b \ge 0$, with $b \le t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)$, and $x \in \Omega = B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi) \setminus B_{\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi)$. Notice that, in this case,

(5.5.24)
$$a \ge \inf_{B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi) \setminus B_{\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi)} u_{\varepsilon} \ge \inf_{B_{2}(\xi)} u_{\varepsilon} \ge a_{0},$$

for some $a_0 > 0$. Moreover, from (1.1.6),

$$b \leqslant t z_{\mu,\xi}(x) = t \mu^{-\frac{n-2s}{2}} z\left(\frac{x-\xi}{\mu}\right) = \frac{c_{\star} t \mu^{-\frac{n-2s}{2}}}{\left(1+\left|\frac{x-\xi}{\mu}\right|^2\right)^{\frac{n-2s}{2}}} = \frac{c_{\star} t \mu^{\frac{n-2s}{2}}}{\left(\mu^2+|x-\xi|^2\right)^{\frac{n-2s}{2}}}.$$

Since $x \in B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi) \setminus B_{\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi)$, we obtain that $|x - \xi| \ge \sqrt{\mu}$ and so

$$b \leqslant \frac{c_{\star} t \mu^{\frac{n-2s}{2}}}{(\mu^2 + \mu)^{\frac{n-2s}{2}}} \leqslant \frac{c_{\star} t \mu^{\frac{n-2s}{2}}}{\mu^{\frac{n-2s}{2}}} \leqslant c_{\star} T_1.$$

From this and (5.5.24) we obtain that $b/a \leq \kappa$, for some $\kappa > 0$, hence we can apply Lemma 5.5.6 and obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} G^{\star}(x,t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)) &= \int_{0}^{t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)} \left[(u_{\varepsilon}(x)+b)^{p} - u_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x) \right] db \\ &= \int_{0}^{t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)} \left[(a+b)^{p} - a^{p} \right] db \\ &\geqslant \int_{0}^{t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)} \left[b^{p} + c_{p,\kappa}a^{p-1}b \right] db \\ &= \frac{\left(t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x) \right)^{p+1}}{p+1} + c_{p,\kappa}u_{\varepsilon}^{p-1}(x) \frac{\left(t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x) \right)^{2}}{2}. \end{aligned}$$

This and (5.5.20) complete the proof of (5.5.23) when n > 4s (recall that $p + 1 = 2^*_s$).

Now we prove (5.5.23) when $n \in (2s, 4s]$. In this case, we observe that

$$p = \frac{n+2s}{n-2s} \ge 2.$$

So we choose $a \ge 0$, with $a \le t\overline{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)$, and $b := u_{\varepsilon}(x)$, and we can use Lemma 5.5.5 to obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} G^{\star}(x,t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)) &= \int_{0}^{t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)} \left[(u_{\varepsilon}(x)+a)^{p} - u_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x) \right] da \\ &= \int_{0}^{t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)} \left[(a+b)^{p} - b^{p} \right] da \\ &\geqslant \int_{0}^{t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)} \left[a^{p} + c_{p}a^{p-1}b \right] da \\ &= \frac{\left(t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x) \right)^{p+1}}{p+1} + c_{p} \frac{\left(t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x) \right)^{p}}{p} u_{\varepsilon}(x). \end{aligned}$$

This and (5.5.20) imply (5.5.23) when $n \in (2s, 4s]$. With this, we have completed the proof of (5.5.23).

Now we claim that, for any $t \in [0, T_1]$, any $\mu \in (0, \mu_*)$ and any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

(5.5.25)
$$G^{\star}(x, t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)) \geqslant \frac{t^{2^*_s}\bar{\phi}^{2^*_s}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}^{2^*_s}(x)}{2^*_s}.$$

We remark that (5.5.23) is a stronger inequality than (5.5.25), but (5.5.23) only holds in Ω , while (5.5.25) holds in the whole of \mathbb{R}^n (this is an advantadge in the case n > 4s, according to (5.5.21)). To prove (5.5.25), we use

Lemma 5.5.4, with $a := u_{\varepsilon}(x)$ and $b \ge 0$, to see that

$$G^{\star}(x, t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)) = \int_{0}^{t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)} \left[(u_{\varepsilon}(x)+b)^{p} - u_{\varepsilon}^{p}(x) \right] db$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)} \left[(a+b)^{p} - a^{p} \right] db$$
$$\geqslant \int_{0}^{t\bar{\phi}(x)z_{\mu,\xi}(x)} b^{p} db$$
$$= \frac{\left(t\bar{\phi}(x) z_{\mu,\xi}(x) \right)^{p+1}}{p+1},$$

and this establishes (5.5.25).

By combining (5.5.23) and (5.5.25), we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} (5.5.26) \\ & \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G^{\star} \big(x, t \bar{\phi}(x) z_{\mu,\xi}(x) \big) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega} G^{\star} \big(x, t \bar{\phi}(x) z_{\mu,\xi}(x) \big) \, dx + \int_{\Omega} G^{\star} \big(x, t \bar{\phi}(x) z_{\mu,\xi}(x) \big) \, dx \\ & \geqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega} \frac{t^{2^*_s} \bar{\phi}^{2^*_s}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^{2^*_s}(x)}{2^*_s} \, dx \\ & \quad + \int_{\Omega} \frac{t^{2^*_s} \bar{\phi}^{2^*_s}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^{2^*_s}(x)}{2^*_s} + \frac{c \, u_{\varepsilon}^{2^*_s - m}(x) \, t^m \bar{\phi}^m(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^m(x)}{m} \, dx \\ & \geqslant \frac{t^{2^*_s}}{2^*_s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \bar{\phi}^{2^*_s}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^{2^*_s}(x) \, dx + \frac{c \, t^m}{m} \int_{\Omega} u_{\varepsilon}^{2^*_s - m}(x) \, \bar{\phi}^m(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^m(x) \, dx. \end{aligned}$$

Now we claim that

(5.5.27)
$$\int_{\Omega} u_{\varepsilon}^{2^*-m}(x) \,\bar{\phi}^m(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^m(x) \, dx \ge c' \mu^{\beta},$$

for some c' > 0, where

(5.5.28)
$$\beta := \begin{cases} \frac{n}{2} & \text{if } n > 4s, \\ \\ \frac{n-2s}{2} & \text{if } n \in (2s, 4s], \end{cases}$$

To prove this, when n > 4s we remark that, for small μ , we have $B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi) \subseteq B_{\mu_0/2}(\xi)$, and $\bar{\phi} = 1$ in this set, due to (5.5.4). So, we use (5.5.20) and (5.5.21)

13.4 EXISTENCE OF A MOUNTAIN PASS SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.4

and we have that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} u_{\varepsilon}^{2^{*}_{s}-m}(x) \,\bar{\phi}^{m}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^{m}(x) \, dx &= \int_{B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi) \setminus B_{\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi)} u_{\varepsilon}^{2^{*}_{s}-2}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^{2}(x) \, dx \\ &\geqslant \inf_{B_{2}(\xi)} u_{\varepsilon}^{2^{*}_{s}-2} \, \int_{B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi) \setminus B_{\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi)} z_{\mu,\xi}^{2}(x) \, dx \\ &= \inf_{B_{2}(\xi)} u_{\varepsilon}^{2^{*}_{s}-2} \, \mu^{-(n-2s)} \, \int_{B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi) \setminus B_{\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi)} z^{2} \left(\frac{x-\xi}{\mu}\right) \, dx \\ &= \inf_{B_{2}(\xi)} u_{\varepsilon}^{2^{*}_{s}-2} \, \mu^{2s} \, \int_{B_{\frac{2}{\sqrt{\mu}}} \setminus B_{\frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu}}}} z^{2}(y) \, dy. \end{split}$$

Thus, recalling (1.1.6) and taking μ suitably small, we have that

$$\int_{\Omega} u_{\varepsilon}^{2^*_s - m}(x) \,\bar{\phi}^m(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^m(x) \, dx \ge c_1 \mu^{2s} \int_{1/\sqrt{\mu}}^{2/\sqrt{\mu}} \frac{\rho^{n-1} d\rho}{(1+\rho^2)^{n-2s}}$$
$$\ge c_1 \mu^{2s} \int_{1/\sqrt{\mu}}^{2/\sqrt{\mu}} \frac{\rho^{n-1} d\rho}{(2\rho^2)^{n-2s}} = c_2 \mu^{\frac{n}{2}},$$

for some $c_1, c_2 > 0$. This proves (5.5.27) when n > 4s.

Now we prove (5.5.27) when $n \in (2s, 4s]$. For this, we exploit (5.5.20) and (5.5.21) and we observe that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} u_{\varepsilon}^{2^{*}_{s}-m}(x) \,\bar{\phi}^{m}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^{m}(x) \, dx &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} u_{\varepsilon}(x) \,\bar{\phi}^{2^{*}_{s}-1}(x) \, z_{\mu,\xi}^{2^{*}_{s}-1}(x) \, dx \\ &\geqslant \mu^{-\frac{n+2s}{2}} \int_{B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi)} u_{\varepsilon}(x) \, z^{p}\left(\frac{x-\xi}{\mu}\right) \, dx \\ &\geqslant \mu^{-\frac{n+2s}{2}} \, \inf_{B_{1}(\xi)} u_{\varepsilon} \, \int_{B_{2\sqrt{\mu}}(\xi)} z^{p}\left(\frac{x-\xi}{\mu}\right) \, dx \\ &= \mu^{\frac{n-2s}{2}} \, \inf_{B_{1}(\xi)} u_{\varepsilon} \, \int_{B_{1}} z^{p}(y) \, dy \\ &\geqslant c' \mu^{\frac{n-2s}{2}}, \end{split}$$

for some c' > 0, which establishes (5.5.27) when $n \in (2s, 4s]$. The proof of (5.5.27) is thus complete.

Now, by inserting (5.5.27) into (5.5.26), we obtain that

(5.5.29)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G^{\star}(x, t\bar{\phi}(x) z_{\mu,\xi}(x)) \, dx \ge \frac{t^{2^*_s}}{2^*_s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \bar{\phi}^{2^*_s}(x) \, z^{2^*_s}_{\mu,\xi}(x) \, dx + \frac{c \, t^m \, \mu^\beta}{m},$$

for some c > 0, up to renaming constants.

By Lemma 5.5.1 and (5.5.29), we conclude that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G^{\star} \left(x, t \bar{\phi}(x) z_{\mu,\xi}(x) \right) dx \geqslant \frac{t^{2^*_s}}{2^*_s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} z_{\mu,\xi}^{2^*_s}(x) \, dx + \frac{c \, \mu^{\beta} \, t^m}{m} - \frac{C \mu^n \, t^{2^*_s}}{2^*_s}.$$

This and (5.5.7) give that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G^{\star}(x, t\bar{\phi}z_{\mu,\xi}) \, dx \ge \frac{t^{2^*_s} S^{\frac{n}{2s}}}{2^*_s} + \frac{c \, \mu^{\beta} \, t^m}{m} - \frac{C \mu^n \, t^{2^*_s}}{2^*_s},$$

for some c, C > 0. As a consequence, recalling (5.5.8), we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) &\leqslant \quad \frac{t^{2}\,[\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}]_{a}^{2}}{2} - \frac{t^{2_{s}^{*}}S^{\frac{n}{2_{s}}}}{2_{s}^{*}} - \frac{c\,\mu^{\beta}\,t^{m}}{m} + \frac{C\mu^{n}\,t^{2_{s}^{*}}}{2_{s}^{*}} \\ &\leqslant \quad \frac{t^{2}\,S^{\frac{n}{2_{s}}}}{2} - \frac{t^{2_{s}^{*}}S^{\frac{n}{2_{s}}}}{2_{s}^{*}} - \frac{c\,\mu^{\beta}\,t^{m}}{m} + \frac{C\mu^{n}\,t^{2_{s}^{*}}}{2_{s}^{*}} + \frac{C\mu^{n-2s}\,t^{2}}{2} \end{aligned}$$

and so, up to renaming constants,

(5.5.30)
$$\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) \leqslant S^{\frac{n}{2s}}\Psi(t)$$

with

$$\Psi(t) := \frac{t^2}{2} - \frac{t^{2^*_s}}{2^*_s} - \frac{c\,\mu^\beta\,t^m}{m} + \frac{C\mu^n\,t^{2^*_s}}{2^*_s} + \frac{C\mu^{n-2s}\,t^2}{2}$$

for some C, c > 0.

Now we claim that

(5.5.31)
$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \Psi(t) < \frac{s}{n},$$

provided that $\mu > 0$ is suitably small. To check this, we notice that $\Psi(0) = 0$ and

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \Psi(t) = -\infty,$$

since $2_s^* > \max\{2, m\}$ (recall (5.5.20)). As a consequence, Ψ attains its maximum at some point $T \in [0, +\infty)$. If T = 0, then $\Psi(T) = 0$ and (5.5.31) is obvious, so we can assume that $T \in (0, +\infty)$. Accordingly, we have that $\Psi'(T) = 0$. Therefore

$$0 = \frac{\Psi'(T)}{T} = 1 - T^{2^*_s - 2} - c\,\mu^\beta \,T^{m-2} + C\mu^n \,T^{2^*_s - 2} + C\mu^{n-2s}.$$

So we set

$$\Phi_{\mu}(t) := 1 - t^{2^*_s - 2} - c \, \mu^{\beta} \, t^{m-2} + C \mu^n \, t^{2^*_s - 2} + C \mu^{n-2s}$$

and we have that $T = T(\mu)$ is a solution of $\Phi_{\mu}(T) = 0$. We remark that

$$\Phi_{\mu}'(t) = -(2_s^* - 2)(1 - C\mu^n)t^{2_s^* - 3} - c\,\mu^\beta\,(m - 2)t^{m - 3} < 0,$$

since $m-2 \ge 0$ and $(2_s^*-2)(1-C\mu^n) \ge 0$ for small μ (recall (5.5.22)). This says that Φ_{μ} is strictly decreasing, hence $T = T(\mu)$ is the unique solution of $\Phi_{\mu}(T(\mu)) = 0$. It is now convenient to write $\tau(\mu) := T(\mu^{\frac{1}{\beta}})$ and $\eta := \mu^{\beta}$, so that our equation becomes

$$0 = \Phi_{\mu}(T(\mu)) = \Phi_{\mu}(\tau(\mu^{\beta})) = \Phi_{\mu}(\tau(\eta))$$

= 1 - (1 - C\eta^{\frac{n}{\beta}})(\tau(\eta))^{2^{*}_{s}-2} - c \eta(\tau(\eta))^{m-2} + C\eta^{\frac{n-2s}{\beta}}.

13.6 EXISTENCE OF A MOUNTAIN PASS SOLUTION AND PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2.4

Accordingly, if we differentiate in $\eta,$ we have that

$$(5.5.32)
0 = \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \left(1 - (1 - C\eta^{\frac{n}{\beta}})(\tau(\eta))^{2^*_s - 2} - c \eta (\tau(\eta))^{m-2} + C\eta^{\frac{n-2s}{\beta}} \right)
= -(2^*_s - 2)(1 - C\eta^{\frac{n}{\beta}})(\tau(\eta))^{2^*_s - 3}\tau'(\eta) + C\frac{n}{\beta}\eta^{\frac{n}{\beta} - 1}(\tau(\eta))^{2^*_s - 2}
- c (\tau(\eta))^{m-2} - c(m-2) \eta (\tau(\eta))^{m-3}\tau'(\eta) + \frac{C(n-2s)}{\beta}\eta^{\frac{n-2s}{\beta} - 1}.$$

Now we claim that

(5.5.33)
$$\frac{n-2s}{\beta} - 1 > 0.$$

Indeed, using (5.5.28), we see that

$$\frac{n-2s}{\beta} - 1 = \begin{cases} \frac{2(n-2s)}{n} - 1 & \text{if } n > 4s, \\ 2 - 1 & \text{if } n \in (2s, 4s], \end{cases}$$
$$= \begin{cases} \frac{n-4s}{n} & \text{if } n > 4s, \\ 1 & \text{if } n \in (2s, 4s], \end{cases}$$

which proves (5.5.33).

Now we observe that when $\mu = 0$, we have that T = 1 is a solution of $\Phi_0(t) = 0$, i.e. T(0) = 1 and so $\tau(0) = 1$. Hence, we evaluate (5.5.32) at $\eta = 0$ and we conclude that

$$0 = -(2_s^* - 2)\tau'(0) - c.$$

We remark that (5.5.33) was used here. Then, we obtain

$$\tau'(0) = -\frac{c}{2_s^* - 2},$$

which gives that

$$\tau(\eta) = 1 - \frac{c\eta}{2^*_s - 2} + o(\eta)$$

and so

$$T(\mu) = \tau(\mu^{\beta}) = 1 - \frac{c\mu^{\beta}}{2_s^* - 2} + o(\mu^{\beta}) = 1 - c_o \mu^{\beta} + o(\mu^{\beta}),$$

for some $c_o > 0$. Therefore

$$\begin{split} \sup_{t \ge 0} \Psi(t) &= \Psi(T(\mu)) \\ &= (1 + C\mu^{n-2s}) \frac{(T(\mu))^2}{2} - (1 - C\mu^n) \frac{(T(\mu))^{2s}}{2s} - \frac{c \,\mu^\beta \, (T(\mu))^m}{m} \\ &= (1 + C\mu^{n-2s}) \frac{(1 - c_o \mu^\beta + o(\mu^\beta))^2}{2} - (1 - C\mu^n) \frac{(1 - c_o \mu^\beta + o(\mu^\beta))^{2s}}{2s} \\ &- \frac{c \,\mu^\beta \, (1 - c_o \mu^\beta + o(\mu^\beta))^m}{m} \\ &= (1 + C\mu^{n-2s}) \frac{1 - 2c_o \mu^\beta}{2} - (1 - C\mu^n) \frac{1 - 2s^*_s c_o \mu^\beta}{2s} - \frac{c \,\mu^\beta}{m} + o(\mu^\beta) \\ &= \frac{1 - 2c_o \mu^\beta}{2} - \frac{1 - 2s^*_s c_o \mu^\beta}{2s} - \frac{c \,\mu^\beta}{m} + o(\mu^\beta) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2s} - \frac{c \,\mu^\beta}{m} + o(\mu^\beta) \\ &< \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2s} \\ &= \frac{s}{n}, \end{split}$$

and this proves (5.5.31).

Using (5.5.30) and (5.5.31), we obtain that

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T_1]} \mathfrak{I}^{\star}_{\varepsilon}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) \leqslant S^{\frac{n}{2s}} \sup_{t \geqslant 0} \Psi(t) < S^{\frac{n}{2s}} \cdot \frac{s}{n},$$

which proves (5.5.19) and so it completes the proof of Lemma 5.5.7.

By combining (5.5.11) with Lemmata 5.5.3 and 5.5.7, we obtain:

COROLLARY 5.5.8. There exists $\mu_{\star} > 0$ such that if $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$ we have that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) = -\infty$$

and
$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}(t\bar{Z}_{\mu,\xi}) < \frac{s}{n} S^{\frac{n}{2s}}.$$

The result in Corollary 5.5.8 says that the path induced by the function $\overline{Z}_{\mu,\xi}$ is a mountain pass path which lies below the critical threshold given in Proposition 5.4.1 (so, from now on, the value of $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$ will be fixed so that Corollary 5.5.8 holds true).

5.6. Proof of Theorem 1.2.4

In this section we establish Theorem 1.2.4. For this, we argue by contradiction and we suppose that U = 0 is the only critical point of $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$. As a consequence, the functional $\mathcal{I}_{\varepsilon}$ verifies the Palais-Smale condition below the critical level given in (5.4.1), according to Proposition 5.4.1.

In addition, $\mathfrak{I}_{\varepsilon}$ fulfills the mountain pass geometry, and the minimax level c_{ε} stays strictly below the level $\frac{s}{n}S^{\frac{n}{2s}}$, as shown in Proposition 5.1.1 and Corollary 5.5.8.

Hence, for small ε , we have that $c_{\varepsilon} + C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2\gamma}}$ remains strictly below $\frac{s}{n}S^{\frac{n}{2s}}$, thus satisfying (5.4.1).

Then, exploiting Proposition 5.4.1 and the Mountain Pass Theorem in [7, 27], we obtain the existence of another critical point, in contradiction with the assumption. This ends the proof of Theorem 1.2.4.

Bibliography

- A. AMBROSETTI, H. BREZIS, G. CERAMI: Combined effects of concave and convex nonlinearities in some elliptic problems. J. Funct. Anal. 122 (2) (1994), 519–543.
- [2] A. AMBROSETTI, J. GARCIA AZORERO, I. PERAL: Perturbation of $\Delta u + u^{(N+2)/(N-2)} = 0$, the Scalar Curvature Problem in \mathbb{R}^N , and related Topics. J. Funct. Anal. 165 (1998), 112–149.
- [3] A. AMBROSETTI, J. GARCIA AZORERO, I. PERAL: Elliptic variational problems in ℝⁿ with critical growth. J. Differential Equations 168 (2000), 10–32.
- [4] A. AMBROSETTI, Y.Y. LI, A. MALCHIODI: On the Yamabe problem and the scalar curvature problems under boundary conditions. *Math. Ann.* **322** (2002), no. 4, 667– 699.
- [5] A. AMBROSETTI, A. MALCHIODI: A multiplicity result for the Yamabe problem on Sⁿ.
 J. Funct. Anal. 168 (1999), no. 2, 529–561.
- [6] A. AMBROSETTI, A. MALCHIODI: On the symmetric scalar curvature problem on Sⁿ. J. Differential Equations 170 (2001), no. 1, 228–245.
- [7] A. AMBROSETTI, P. RABINOWITZ: Dual variational methods in critical point theory and applications. J. Funct. Anal. 14 (1973), 349–381.
- [8] B. BARRIOS, E. COLORADO, R. SERVADEI, F. SORIA: A critical fractional equation with concave-convex nonlinearities. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire. DOI: 10.1016/j.anihpc.2014.04.003
- [9] M. BERTI, A. MALCHIODI: Non-compactness and multiplicity results for the Yamabe problem on Sⁿ. J. Funct. Anal. 180 (2001), no. 1, 210–241.
- [10] H. BREZIS: Analyse fonctionnelle. Théorie et applications. Masson, Paris, 1983.
- [11] H. BREZIS, E. LIEB: A relation between pointwise convergence of functions and convergence of functionals. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 88 (1983), no. 3, 486–490.
- [12] H. BREZIS, L. NIRENBERG: Positive solutions of nonlinear elliptic equations involving critical Sobolev exponents. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 36 (1983), no. 4, 437–477.
- [13] C. D. BUCUR, E. VALDINOCI: Nonlocal diffusion and applications. Preprint (2015).
- [14] X. CABRÉ, X. ROS-OTON: Sobolev and isoperimetric inequalities with monomial weights. J. Differential Equations 255 (2013), no. 11, 4312–4336.
- [15] X. CABRÉ, Y. SIRE: Nonlinear equations for fractional Laplacians, I: Regularity, maximum principles, and Hamiltonian estimates. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 31 (2014), no. 1, 23–53.
- [16] L. CAFFARELLI, L. SILVESTRE: An extension problem related to the fractional Laplacian. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 32 (2007), 1245–1260.
- [17] F. CATRINA, Z.-Q. WANG: Symmetric solutions for the prescribed scalar curvature problem. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 49 (2000), no. 2, 779–813.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [18] S. CINGOLANI: Positive solutions to perturbed elliptic problems in ℝ^N involving critical Sobolev exponent. Nonlinear Anal. 48 (2002), no. 8, Ser. A: Theory Methods, 1165–1178.
- [19] A. COTSIOLIS, N. TAVOULARIS: Best constants for Sobolev inequalities for higher order fractional derivatives. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 295 (2004), 225–236.
- [20] E. DANCER: New solutions of equations on ℝⁿ. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci.
 (4) 30 (2001), no. 3–4, 535–563.
- [21] E. DI NEZZA, G. PALATUCCI, E. VALDINOCI: Hitchhiker's guide to the fractional Sobolev spaces. Bull. Sci. Math. 136 (2012), no. 5, 521–573.
- [22] S. DIPIERRO, M. MEDINA, I. PERAL, E. VALDINOCI: Bifurcation results for a fractional elliptic equation with critical exponent in \mathbb{R}^n . Preprint (2014), http://arxiv.org/pdf/1410.3076.pdf
- [23] S. DIPIERRO, E. VALDINOCI: A density property for fractional weighted Sobolev spaces. *Preprint* (2015), http://arxiv.org/pdf/1501.04918.pdf
- [24] L.C. EVANS: Weak convergence methods for nonlinear partial differential equations. CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, 74. Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC; by the American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1990. viii+80 pp.
- [25] E. G. FABES, C. E. KENIG, R. SERAPIONI: The local regularity of solutions of degenerate elliptic equations. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations* 7(1) (1982), 77–116.
- [26] J. GARCÍA AZORERO, E. MONTEFUSCO, I. PERAL: Bifurcation for the p-laplacian in \mathbb{R}^N . Adv. Differential Equations 5 (2000), no. 4–6, 435–464.
- [27] N. GHOUSSOUB, D. PREISS: A general mountain pass principle for locating and classifying critical points. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 6 (1989), no. 5, 321–330.
- [28] P. L. LIONS: The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The limit case. I. Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 1 (1985), no. 1, 145–201.
- [29] P. L. LIONS: The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The limit case. II. Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 1 (1985), no. 2, 45–121.
- [30] A. MALCHIODI: Multiple positive solutions of some elliptic equations in ℝⁿ. Nonlinear Anal. 43 (2001), no. 2, 159–172.
- [31] A. MALCHIODI: The scalar curvature problem on Sⁿ: an approach via Morse theory. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 14 (2002), no. 4, 429–445.
- [32] G. PALATUCCI, A. PISANTE: Improved Sobolev embeddings, profile decomposition and concentration-compactness for fractional Sobolev spaces. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations* 50 (2014), no. 3-4, 799–829.
- [33] R. SERVADEI, E. VALDINOCI: Mountain pass solutions for non-local elliptic operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 389 (2012), no. 2, 887–898.
- [34] R. SERVADEI, E. VALDINOCI: A Brezis-Nirenberg result for non-local critical equations in low dimension. *Commun. Pure Appl. Anal.* 12 (2013), no. 6, 2445–2464.
- [35] R. SERVADEI, E. VALDINOCI: Weak and viscosity solutions of the fractional Laplace equation. Publ. Mat. 58 (2014), no. 1, 133–154.
- [36] R. SERVADEI, E. VALDINOCI The Brezis-Nirenberg result for the fractional Laplacian. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 367 (2015), no. 1, 66–102.
- [37] L. E. SILVESTRE: Regularity of the obstacle problem for a fractional power of the Laplace operator. Thesis (Ph.D.)–The University of Texas at Austin. 2005. 95 pp.